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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Net revenues
Cost of net revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest income and other income (expense), net:
Interest income
Other income (expense), net
Total interest income and other income (expense), net
Net income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

1,010,808
252,270
758,538

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

352,314
127,986
224,328

$

2020

1,905,579
469,943
1,435,636

$

903,277
284,593
618,684

431,921
57,715
489,636
268,902

256,967
40,361
297,328
(73,000)

829,036
112,252
941,288
494,348

539,873
81,893
621,766
(3,082)

$

383
(483)
(100)
268,802
69,088
199,714 $

473
(966)
(493)
(73,493)
(32,891)
(40,602) $

2,026
34,049
36,075
530,423
130,333
400,090

$

2,459
(19,515)
(17,056)
(20,138)
(1,497,667)
1,477,529

$

2.53

$

(0.52) $

5.06

$

18.78

$

2.51

$

(0.52) $

5.02

$

18.70

Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:
Basic
Diluted

79,008

78,769

79,004

78,681

79,638

78,769

79,737

79,016

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Net income (loss)
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments, net of tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)

$

$

199,714
586
—
586
200,300

$

$

(40,602) $
9,294
—
9,294
(31,308) $

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

400,090 $
(13,865)
(20)
(13,885)
386,205 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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1,477,529
9,983
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)
(unaudited)
June 30,
2021

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $9,427 and $10,239, respectively
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Deferred tax assets
Other assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenues
Total current liabilities
Income tax payable
Operating lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 6 and 7)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value (5,000 shares authorized; none issued)
Common stock, $0.0001 par value (200,000 shares authorized; 78,948 and 78,860 issued and outstanding,
respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

$

$

December 31,
2020

1,086,357
808,079
178,751
158,638
2,231,825
960,852
93,425
432,179
117,721
1,512,285
47,281
5,395,568

$

225,079
495,572
975,930
1,696,581
113,306
74,184
127,087
2,011,158

$

142,132
405,582
777,887
1,325,601
105,748
64,445
100,024
1,595,818

—

—

8
895,831
29,616
2,458,955
3,384,410
5,395,568

8
974,556
43,501
2,215,800
3,233,865
4,829,683

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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960,843
657,704
139,237
91,754
1,849,538
734,721
82,553
444,817
130,072
1,552,831
35,151
4,829,683

$
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Common Stock
Three Months Ended June 30, 2021

Balance as of March 31, 2021
Net income
Net change in foreign currency translation
adjustment
Issuance of common stock relating to employee
equity compensation plans
Tax withholdings related to net share settlements
of equity awards
Common stock repurchased and retired
Equity forward contract related to accelerated
stock repurchase
Stock-based compensation
Balance as of June 30, 2021

Shares

Amount

79,136
—

$

8
—

Balance as of December 31, 2020
Net income
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) from
investments
Net change in foreign currency translation
adjustment
Issuance of common stock relating to employee
equity compensation plans
Tax withholdings related to net share settlements
of equity awards
Common stock repurchased and retired
Equity forward contract related to accelerated
stock repurchase
Stock-based compensation
Balance as of June 30, 2021

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Net

Retained Earnings

$

$

$

948,362
—

29,030
—

2,416,176
199,714

Total

$

3,393,576
199,714

—

—

—

586

—

586

89

—

—

—

—

—

—
(277)

—
—

(38,321)
(3,065)

—
—

—
(156,935)

(38,321)
(160,000)

—
—
78,948

—
—
8

(40,000)
28,855
895,831 $

—
—
29,616

—
—
2,458,955

(40,000)
28,855
3,384,410

$

Common Stock
Six Months Ended June 30, 2021

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Shares

Amount

78,860
—

$

8
—

$

$

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Net

Retained Earnings

$

$

$

974,556
—

43,501
—

2,215,800
400,090

$

Total

$

3,233,865
400,090

—

—

—

(20)

—

(20)

—

—

—

(13,865)

—

(13,865)

365

—

13,133

—

—

13,133

—
(277)

—
—

(104,889)
(3,065)

—
—

—
(156,935)

(104,889)
(160,000)

—
—
78,948

—
—
8

—
—
29,616

—
—
2,458,955

(40,000)
56,096
3,384,410

$

$

(40,000)
56,096
895,831 $

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (CONTINUED)
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Common Stock
Three Months Ended June 30, 2020

Balance as of March 31, 2020
Net loss
Net change in foreign currency translation
adjustment
Issuance of common stock relating to employee
equity compensation plans
Tax withholdings related to net share settlements
of equity awards
Stock-based compensation
Balance as of June 30, 2020

Shares

Amount

78,759
—

$

8
—

Additional
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Net

$

$

Balance as of December 31, 2019
Net income
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) from
investments
Net change in foreign currency translation
adjustment
Issuance of common stock relating to employee
equity compensation plans
Tax withholdings related to net share settlements
of equity awards
Stock-based compensation
Balance as of June 30, 2020

Retained Earnings

(193) $
—

Total

1,958,043 $
(40,602)

2,852,989
(40,602)

—

—

—

9,294

—

9,294

22

—

—

—

—

—

—
—
78,781

—
—
8

—
—
9,101

—
—
1,917,441

(1,643)
25,007
2,845,045

$

$

Shares

Amount

78,433
—

$

(1,643)
25,007
918,495 $

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

895,131
—

8
—

$

906,937
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss), Net

$

$

$

Retained Earnings

(688) $
—

439,912
1,477,529

Total

$

1,346,169
1,477,529

—

—

—

(194)

—

(194)

—

—

—

9,983

—

9,983

348

—

10,662

—

—

10,662

—
—
78,781

—
—
8

—
—
9,101

—
—
1,917,441

(47,038)
47,934
2,845,045

$

$

(47,038)
47,934
918,495 $

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Deferred taxes
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Non-cash operating lease cost
Allowance for doubtful accounts provisions
Arbitration award gain
Impairments on equity investments
Other non-cash operating activities
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued and other long-term liabilities
Long-term income tax payable
Deferred revenues
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition, net of cash acquired
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
Repayment on unsecured promissory note
Proceeds from arbitration award
Other investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Common stock repurchases
Payments for equity forward contracts related to accelerated stock repurchase agreements
Payroll taxes paid upon the vesting of equity awards
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of the period
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of the period

$

$

400,090

$

1,477,529

39,961
51,527
56,096
12,413
829
(43,403)
—
12,345

(1,504,251)
44,283
47,934
11,148
12,578
—
3,787
11,542

(164,822)
(49,070)
(70,132)
(5,736)
65,650
7,535
231,408
544,691

64,645
(21,398)
(31,058)
11,918
(106,572)
6,707
40,892
69,684

—
(167,668)
—
—
—
4,594
43,403
(4,249)
(123,920)

(420,788)
(80,502)
(5,341)
42,641
278,817
11,087
—
1,760
(172,326)

13,133
(160,000)
(40,000)
(104,889)
(291,756)
(3,511)
125,504
961,474
1,086,978 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared by Align Technology, Inc. (“we”, “our”, or “Align”)
in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and contains all adjustments, including normal recurring
adjustments, necessary to state fairly our results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, our comprehensive income for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, our financial position as of June 30, 2021, our stockholders’ equity for the three and six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and our cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. The Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2020 was derived from the December 31, 2020 audited financial statements. It does not include all disclosures required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.”).
The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the
year ending December 31, 2021 or any other future period, and we make no representations related thereto. The information included in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included in Item 8 of our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the U.S. requires our management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ materially from those estimates. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to revenue recognition, useful lives of
intangible assets and property and equipment, long-lived assets and goodwill, income taxes and contingent liabilities, the fair values of financial
instruments, stock-based compensation, among others. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to
be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities.
Certain Risks and Uncertainties
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we are subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than normal in making the judgments and estimates needed to
apply our significant accounting policies. The full extent to which the pandemic, including as a result of any new strains, business restrictions or
lockdowns, and the impact of vaccinations, will directly or indirectly impact our business, results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition will
depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be accurately determined.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
(i) New Accounting Updates Recently Adopted
In December 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2019-12, “Income Taxes
(Topic 740) Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes,” to enhance and simplify various aspects of the income tax accounting guidance. The amendment
removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. The
amendments are effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Adoption of this standard in the
first quarter of fiscal year 2021 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements or related disclosures.
(ii) Recent Accounting Updates Not Yet Effective
We continue to monitor new accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB and do not believe any of the recently issued accounting
pronouncements will have an impact on our consolidated financial statements or related disclosures.
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Note 2. Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. We use the GAAP fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. This hierarchy requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when
measuring fair value. The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset or liability. We obtain fair values for our Level 2 investments. Our custody bank and asset
managers independently use professional pricing services to gather pricing data which may include quoted market prices for identical or comparable
financial instruments, or inputs other than quoted prices that are observable either directly or indirectly, and we are ultimately responsible for these
underlying estimates.
Level 3 — Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the
measurement of the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities include those whose fair value measurements are determined using
pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies or similar valuation techniques, as well as significant management judgment or estimation.
The following tables summarize our financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (in
thousands):
Balance as of
June 30, 2021

Description

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds
Prepaid expenses and other current assets:
Israeli funds

Description

Cash equivalents:
Money market funds
Prepaid expenses and other current assets:
Israeli funds
Current unsecured promissory note 1

1

519,228

$

3,500
5,408
528,136

Level 2

$

531,207

$

531,207

$

—

$

3,999
535,206

$

—
531,207

$

3,999
3,999

Balance as of December
31, 2020

$

Level 1

Level 1

$

519,228

$

—
—
519,228

Level 2

Level 3

$

—

$

3,500
—
3,500

$

—

$

—
5,408
5,408

The unsecured promissory note was paid in full by SmileDirectClub, LLC (“SDC”) during the six months ended June 30, 2021. Besides the repayment on the note, on
March 12, 2021, the Arbitrator ruled in favor of us on the SDC dispute and issued an award of $43.4 million along with interest. The gain of $43.4 million is
recognized as a part of our other income (expense), net in our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operation during the six months ended June 30, 2021. Refer to
Note 6 “Legal Proceedings” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included for more information on the arbitration.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments
Recurring foreign currency forward contracts
We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to minimize the short-term impact of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations on certain trade
and intercompany receivables and payables. These forward contracts are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. As a result of the settlement
of foreign currency forward contracts, during the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized net losses of $13.0 million and $3.0 million,
respectively, and during the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized a net loss of $0.6 million and a net gain of $12.7 million,
respectively. As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding was not material.
10
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The following table presents the gross notional value of all our foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and December 31,
2020 (in thousands):
June 30, 2021
Local Currency
Notional Contract
Amount
Amount (USD)

Euro
Chinese Yuan
Canadian Dollar
British Pound
Japanese Yen
Brazilian Real
Polish Zloty
Israeli Shekel
Mexican Peso
Australian Dollar

€202,350 $
¥1,170,000
C$96,300
£45,810
¥5,245,758
R$224,600
PLN161,000
ILS54,600
M$307,740
A$7,700
$

240,334
180,638
77,707
63,331
47,408
44,673
42,280
16,759
15,481
5,775
734,386

December 31, 2020
Local Currency
Notional Contract
Amount
Amount (USD)

Euro
Chinese Yuan
Canadian Dollar
British Pound
Japanese Yen
Brazilian Real
Israeli Shekel
Mexican Peso
Australian Dollar
Swiss Franc

€126,300 $
¥936,000
C$65,000
£32,300
¥4,249,000
R$142,000
ILS74,000
M$140,000
A$5,800
CHF3,700
$

155,125
143,393
50,791
43,879
41,222
27,264
23,094
7,002
4,447
4,191
500,408

Other foreign currency forward contract
Prior to the closing of the exocad Global Holdings GmbH (“exocad”) acquisition on April 1, 2020, we entered into a Euro foreign currency forward
contract with a notional contract amount of €376.0 million. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, we recognized losses of $1.0 million and
$10.2 million, respectively, within other income (expense), net in our Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations.
Note 3. Balance Sheet Components
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2021

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Total inventories

$

$

11

90,018
37,505
51,228
178,751

December 31,
2020

$

$

76,404
31,393
31,440
139,237
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Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2021

Accrued payroll and benefits
Accrued sales and marketing expenses
Accrued expenses
Accrued property, plant and equipment
Accrued professional fees
Current operating lease liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Total accrued liabilities

$

$

212,886
67,820
52,608
33,756
28,844
22,547
77,111
495,572

December 31,
2020

$

$

170,106
34,488
42,536
27,692
20,617
21,735
88,408
405,582

Accrued warranty, which is included in the "Other accrued liabilities" category of the accrued liabilities table above, consists of the following activity
(in thousands):
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Balance at beginning of period
Charged to cost of net revenues
Actual warranty expenditures
Balance at end of period

$

$

12,615 $
8,936
(7,105)
14,446 $

11,205
5,820
(5,396)
11,629

Deferred revenues consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2021

Deferred revenues - current
Deferred revenues - long-term 1
1

$
$

975,930
91,379

December 31,
2020

$
$

777,887
62,551

Included in Other long-term liabilities within our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

During the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized $1.0 billion and $352.3 million of net revenues, respectively, of which $134.4
million and $72.4 million was included in the deferred revenues balance at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
During the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, we recognized $1.9 billion and $903.3 million of net revenues, respectively, of which $260.2
million and $167.9 million was included in the deferred revenues balance at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Our unfulfilled performance obligations, including deferred revenues and backlog, as of June 30, 2021 were $1.1 billion. These performance
obligations are expected to be recognized over the next one to five years.
Note 4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The change in the carrying value of goodwill for the six months ended June 30, 2021, categorized by reportable segments, is as follows (in
thousands):
Clear Aligner

Balance as of December 31, 2020
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Balance as of June 30, 2021

$
$

12

112,691 $
(1,679)
111,012 $

Systems and
Services

332,126 $
(10,959)
321,167 $

Total

444,817
(12,638)
432,179
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Intangible Long-Lived Assets
Acquired intangible long-lived assets were as follows, excluding intangibles that were fully amortized (in thousands):
Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(in years)

Existing technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks and tradenames
Patents and other

10
11
10
8

Gross Carrying Amount
as of
June 30, 2021

$

99,400
55,000
16,600
6,610
177,610

$

Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

(17,351) $
(23,885)
(3,702)
(4,192)
(49,130) $

(4,328) $
(10,751)
(4,179)
—
(19,258)

Foreign currency translation
Total intangible assets

77,721
20,364
8,719
2,418
109,222
8,499
117,721

$
Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(in years)

Existing technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks and tradenames
Patents and other

Net Carrying
Value as of
June 30, 2021

Accumulated
Impairment Loss

10
11
10
8

Gross Carrying
Amount as of December
31, 2020

$

99,400
55,000
16,600
6,610
177,610

Foreign currency translation
Total intangible assets

Accumulated
Amortization

$

(12,719) $
(21,879)
(2,934)
(3,785)
(41,317)

Net Carrying
Value as of
December 31, 2020

Accumulated
Impairment Loss

(4,328) $
(10,751)
(4,179)
—
(19,258)

82,353
22,370
9,487
2,825
117,035
13,037
130,072

$

The total estimated annual future amortization expense for these acquired intangible assets as of June 30, 2021 is as follows (in thousands):
Fiscal Year Ending December 31,

Amortization

Remainder of 2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

$

7,809
14,366
13,745
12,805
12,428
48,069
109,222

Amortization expense for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $3.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively, and amortization expense
for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $7.8 million and $5.4 million, respectively.
Note 5. Credit Facility
On July 21, 2020 we entered into a credit facility for a $300.0 million unsecured revolving line of credit, with a $50.0 million letter of credit sublimit,
and a maturity date of July 21, 2023 (“2020 Credit Facility”), replacing our previous credit facility which provided for a $200.0 million revolving line of
credit with a $50.0 million letter of credit. The 2020 Credit Facility requires us to comply with specific financial conditions and performance requirements.
Loans under the 2020 Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at either a rate based on the reserve adjusted LIBOR for the applicable interest period or a
base rate, in each case plus a margin. The base rate is the highest of the credit facility's publicly announced prime rate, the federal funds rate plus 0.50%
and one-month LIBOR plus 1.0%. The margin ranges from 1.50% to 2.25% for LIBOR loans and 0.50% to 1.25% for base rate loans. The 2020 Credit
Facility allows for an alternative rate to be identified if LIBOR is no longer available. Interest on the loans is payable quarterly in arrears with respect to
base rate loans and at the end of an interest period (and at three month intervals if the interest period exceeds three months) in the case of LIBOR loans.
The outstanding
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principal, together with accrued and unpaid interest, is due on the maturity date. As of June 30, 2021, we had no outstanding borrowings under the 2020
Credit Facility and were in compliance with the conditions and performance requirements.
Note 6. Legal Proceedings
2018 Securities Class Action Lawsuit
On November 5, 2018, a class action lawsuit against Align and three of our executive officers was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of California on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of our common stock. The complaint generally alleged claims under the federal securities
laws and sought monetary damages in an unspecified amount and costs and expenses incurred in the litigation. On December 12, 2018, a similar lawsuit
was filed in the same court on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of our common stock. On November 29, 2019, the lead plaintiff filed an amended
consolidated complaint against Align and two of our executive officers alleging similar claims as the initial complaints on behalf of a purported class of
purchasers of our common stock from May 23, 2018 and October 24, 2018. On September 9, 2020, Defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended
consolidated complaint was granted in part and denied in part. On June 30, 2021, counsel for the parties signed a Stipulation and Agreement of Settlement
to resolve all claims for $16 million. The settlement amount will be funded by insurance proceeds and consequently, we recorded a short term liability and
a receivable for this amount in our condensed consolidated financial statements. Lead Plaintiff filed a motion seeking preliminary approval of the
settlement on July 15, 2021. A hearing on that motion is currently scheduled for December 9, 2021. The settlement is subject to notice to class members
and approval by the Court.
2019 Shareholder Derivative Lawsuit
In January 2019, three derivative lawsuits were filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California which were later consolidated,
purportedly on behalf of Align, naming as defendants the then current members of our Board of Directors along with certain of our executive officers. The
allegations in the complaints are similar to those asserted in the 2018 Securities Class Action Lawsuit, but the complaints assert various state law causes of
action, including for breaches of fiduciary duty, insider trading, and unjust enrichment. The complaints seek unspecified monetary damages on behalf of
Align, which is named solely as a nominal defendant against whom no recovery is sought, as well as disgorgement and the costs and expenses associated
with the litigation, including attorneys’ fees. The consolidated action has been stayed pending final disposition of the 2018 Securities Class Action Lawsuit.
On April 12, 2019, a derivative lawsuit was also filed in California Superior Court for Santa Clara County, purportedly on behalf of Align, naming as
defendants the members of our Board of Directors along with certain of our executive officers. The allegations in the complaint are similar to those in the
derivative suits described above. The matter has been similarly stayed pending final disposition of the 2018 Securities Class Action Lawsuit.
Align is currently unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits and therefore cannot determine the likelihood of loss nor estimate a range of
possible loss.
2020 Securities Class Action Lawsuit
On March 2, 2020, a class action lawsuit against Align and two of our executive officers was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of New York (later transferred to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California) on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of our common
stock. The complaint alleged claims under the federal securities laws and sought monetary damages in an unspecified amount and costs and expenses
incurred in the litigation. The lead plaintiff filed an amended complaint on August 4, 2020 against Align and three of our executive officers alleging similar
claims as in the initial complaint on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of our common stock from April 25, 2019 to July 24, 2019. On March 29,
2021, defendants’ motion to dismiss the amended complaint was granted with leave for the lead plaintiff to file a further amended complaint. On April 22,
2021, lead plaintiff filed a notice stating it would not file a further amended complaint. On April 23, 2021, the Court dismissed the action with prejudice
and judgment was entered. Lead plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on April 28, 2021. Lead plaintiff’s opening brief is currently due September 1, 2021.
Align believes these claims are without merit and intends to vigorously defend itself. Align is currently unable to predict the outcome of this lawsuit and
therefore cannot determine the likelihood of loss nor estimate a range of possible loss.
2020 Shareholder Derivative Lawsuit
On May 4, 2020, a derivative lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California, purportedly on behalf of Align,
naming as defendants the members of our Board of Directors along with certain of our executive officers. The allegations in the complaint are similar to
those presented in the 2020 Securities Class Action Lawsuit,
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but this complaint asserts state law claims for breach of fiduciary duty and insider trading. The complaint seeks unspecified monetary damages on behalf of
Align, which is named solely as a nominal defendant against whom no recovery is sought, as well as disgorgement and the costs and expenses associated
with the litigation, including attorneys’ fees. This action is stayed pending resolution of the appeal in the 2020 Securities Class Action Lawsuit. Align is
currently unable to predict the outcome of this lawsuit and therefore cannot determine the likelihood of loss nor estimate a range of possible loss.
3Shape Litigation
On November 14, 2017, Align filed several patent infringement lawsuits asserting patents against 3Shape, a Danish corporation, and a related U.S.
corporate entity, asserting that 3Shape’s Trios intraoral scanning system and Dental System software infringe Align patents.
These lawsuits were filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware alleging patent infringement by 3Shape’s Trios intraoral scanning
system and Dental System software. Three of the cases are active and 3Shape filed counterclaims for breach of contract and business torts. Align’s motions
to dismiss these 3Shape counterclaims were granted.
In 2018, 3Shape filed two separate complaints in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware alleging patent infringement by Align’s iTero
Element scanner of 3Shape patents. On August 19, 2019, the Court consolidated the two actions, and on August 30, 2019, 3Shape filed an amended
complaint.
On December 11, 2018, Align filed an additional complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware alleging patent infringement by
3Shape’s Trios intraoral scanning system, Lab Scanners and Dental and Ortho System Software. 3Shape filed business tort counterclaims. The Court
granted Align’s motion to dismiss 3Shape’s business tort counterclaims. The case is currently stayed.
On October 19, 2020, Align filed a complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Texas alleging patent infringement by 3Shape’s
intraoral scanners and associated software products. In response, 3Shape filed a motion to dismiss as well as business tort and patent infringement
counterclaims. 3Shape’s motion to dismiss was denied. Align has moved to dismiss the business tort counterclaims.
Each of 3Shape and Align’s District Court patent infringement complaints and all of 3Shape’s business tort counterclaims seek monetary damages
and/or injunctive relief. One of Align’s Delaware District Court cases against 3Shape is scheduled for a jury trial beginning on May 31, 2022. The case
pending in the Western District of Texas has been given an estimated trial date of October 3, 2022. No trial dates have been set in the remaining cases.
On August 28, 2018, 3Shape filed a complaint against Align in the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware alleging antitrust violations and
seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief relating to Align’s alleged market activities, including Align’s assertion of its patent portfolio, in alleged
clear aligner and intraoral scanner markets. After the Court dismissed 3Shape’s complaint, 3Shape filed an amended complaint on October 28, 2019. The
Court denied Align’s motion to dismiss the amended complaint on November 25, 2020. No trial date has been set.
Align is currently unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits and therefore cannot determine the likelihood of loss, if any, nor estimate a range of
possible loss.
Antitrust Class Actions
On June 5, 2020, a dental practice named Simon and Simon, PC doing business as City Smiles brought an antitrust action in the U.S. District Court
for the Northern District of California on behalf of itself and a putative class of similarly situated practices seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief
relating to Align’s alleged market activities in alleged clear aligner and intraoral scanner markets. Plaintiff filed an amended complaint and added VIP
Dental Spas as a plaintiff on August 14, 2020. On September 9, 2020, Align moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ amended complaint. On April 8, 2021, the Judge
denied Align’s motion to dismiss. A jury trial is scheduled to begin November 20, 2023. Align believes the plaintiffs’ claims are without merit and intends
to vigorously defend itself.
On May 3, 2021, an individual named Misty Snow brought an antitrust action in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California on
behalf of herself and a putative class of similarly situated individuals seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief relating to Align’s alleged market
activities in alleged clear aligner and intraoral scanner markets. Plaintiff filed an amended complaint on July 30, 2021 adding new plaintiffs and various
state law claims. Align has not yet responded to the amended complaint. Align believes the plaintiffs’ claims are without merit and intends to vigorously
defend itself.
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Align is currently unable to predict the outcome of these lawsuits and therefore cannot determine the likelihood of loss, if any, nor estimate a range of
possible loss.
SDC Dispute
In April 2018, SDC Financial LLC, SmileDirectClub LLC, and the Members of SDC Financial LLC other than the Company (collectively, the “SDC
Entities”) initiated confidential arbitration proceedings against Align. In an award dated March 4, 2019, (“Award”) an arbitrator found that Align breached
a restrictive covenant and that Align misused the SDC Entities’ confidential information and violated fiduciary duties to SDC Financial LLC. As part of the
Award, Align was enjoined from opening new Invisalign stores or providing certain services in physical retail establishments in connection with the
marketing and sale of clear aligners in the U.S., and enjoined from using the SDC Entities’ confidential information. The arbitrator extended the expiration
date of specified aspects of the restrictive covenant to August 18, 2022. The arbitrator also ordered Align to tender its SDC Financial LLC membership
interests to the SDC Entities for a purchase price equal to the “capital account” balance as of October 31, 2017, to be determined in accordance with the
applicable provisions of the SDC Operating Agreements. No financial damages were awarded to the SDC Entities. The Circuit Court for Cook County,
Illinois confirmed the Award on April 29, 2019.
As required by the Award, Align tendered its membership interests for a purchase price that SDC claimed to be Align’s “capital account” balance.
Align disputed that the SDC Entities properly determined the value of Align’s “capital account” balance as of October 31, 2017. Consequently, on July 3,
2019, Align filed a confidential demand for arbitration challenging the propriety of the SDC Entities’ determination. On March 12, 2021 the Arbitrator
issued a final award in favor of Align and against SDC finding that the SDC entities owed Align an additional $43.4 million plus interest. SDC paid the
amount due to Align on March 17, 2021.
On August 27, 2020, Align initiated a confidential arbitration proceeding against the SDC entities before the American Arbitration Association in San
Jose, California. This arbitration relates to the Strategic Supply Agreement (“Supply Agreement”) entered into between the parties in 2016. The complaint
alleges that the SDC Entities breached the Supply Agreement’s terms, causing damages to Align in an amount to be determined. On January 19, 2021, SDC
filed a counterclaim alleging that Align breached the Supply Agreement. Align denies the SDC Entities’ allegations in the counterclaim and will vigorously
defend itself against them.
Align is currently unable to predict the outcome of these disputes and therefore cannot determine the likelihood of loss or success nor estimate a range
of possible loss or success, if any.
In addition to the above, in the ordinary course of Align’s operations, Align is involved in a variety of claims, suits, investigations, and proceedings,
including actions with respect to intellectual property claims, patent infringement claims, government investigations, labor and employment claims, breach
of contract claims, tax, and other matters. Regardless of the outcome, these proceedings can have an adverse impact on us because of defense costs,
diversion of management resources, and other factors. Although the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict and Align’s view of these
matters may change in the future as litigation and events related thereto unfold; Align currently does not believe that these matters, individually or in the
aggregate, will materially affect Align’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies
Other Commitments
In 2018, we entered into a purchase agreement, as amended, with an existing single source supplier which requires us to purchase aligner material for a
minimum amount of approximately $425.9 million over a five year period through 2022. On June 24, 2021, we amended the agreement which requires an
additional minimum aligner material purchase of approximately $348.0 million from 2023 through 2026.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2021, we had no material off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect
on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources other than certain items disclosed in Note
11 “Commitments and Contingencies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Indemnification Provisions
In the normal course of business to facilitate transactions in our services and products, we indemnify certain parties: customers, vendors, lessors, and
other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to, services to be provided by us and intellectual property infringement claims made
by third parties. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with our directors and our executive officers that will require us, among other
things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors or officers. Several of these agreements
limit the time within which an indemnification claim can be made and the amount of the claim.
It is not possible to make a reasonable estimate of the maximum potential amount under these indemnification agreements due to the unique facts and
circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Additionally, we have a limited history of prior indemnification claims and the payments we have
made under such agreements have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows or financial position. However, to the extent
that valid indemnification claims arise in the future, future payments by us could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations or cash flows in a particular period. As of June 30, 2021, we did not have any material indemnification claims that were probable or reasonably
possible.
Note 8. Stockholders’ Equity
As of June 30, 2021, the 2005 Incentive Plan (as amended) has a total reserve of 27,783,379 shares of which 4,227,993 shares are available for
issuance.
Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Expense
Stock-based compensation is based on the estimated fair value of awards, net of estimated forfeitures, and recognized over the requisite service
period. Estimated forfeitures are based on historical experience at the time of grant and may be revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The stock-based compensation related to our stock-based awards and employee stock purchase plans for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Cost of net revenues
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total stock-based compensation

$

1,418
23,058
4,379
28,855

$

$

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

891
20,203
3,913
25,007

$

$

2020

2,724
44,902
8,470
56,096

$

2,238
38,333
7,363
47,934

$

Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)
The fair value of RSUs is based on our closing stock price on the date of grant. RSUs granted generally vest over a period of four years.
A summary for the six months ended June 30, 2021 is as follows:
Number of Shares
Underlying RSUs
(in thousands)

Unvested as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested and released
Forfeited
Unvested as of June 30, 2021

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

632 $
158
(241)
(24)
525 $

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Term (in
years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

243.55
597.20
214.71
333.07
358.92

1.6 $

320,663

As of June 30, 2021, we expect to recognize $147.5 million of total unamortized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to RSUs over
a weighted average period of 2.5 years.
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Market-performance Based Restricted Stock Units (“MSUs”)
We grant MSUs to our executive officers. Each MSU represents the right to one share of Align’s common stock. The actual number of MSUs which
will be eligible to vest will be based on the performance of Align’s stock price relative to the performance of a stock market index over the vesting period.
MSUs vest over a period of three years and the maximum number eligible to vest in the future is 250% of the MSUs initially granted.
A summary for the six months ended June 30, 2021 is as follows:
Number of Shares
Underlying MSUs
(in thousands)

Unvested as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested and released
Unvested as of June 30, 2021

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair Value

227 $
177
(230)
174 $

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Term (in
years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

430.50
658.02
513.73
551.57

1.5 $

106,374

As of June 30, 2021, we expect to recognize $52.2 million of total unamortized compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to MSUs over
a weighted average period of 1.5 years.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
In May 2010, our stockholders approved the 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2010 Purchase Plan”) which will continue until terminated by
either the Board of Directors or its administrator. In May 2021, the 2010 Purchase Plan was amended and restated to increase the maximum number of
shares available for purchase to 4,400,000 shares. As of June 30, 2021, we have 2,253,444 shares available for future issuance.
The fair value of the option component of the 2010 Purchase Plan shares was estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model with the following weighted average assumptions:
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividends
Weighted average fair value at grant date

$

1.0
58.8 %
0.1 %
—
202.74
$

2020

1.0
41.7 %
1.5 %
—
80.54

As of June 30, 2021, there was $2.2 million of total unamortized compensation costs related to employee stock purchases which we expect to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 0.2 year.
Note 9. Common Stock Repurchase Programs
In May 2018, our Board of Directors authorized a plan to repurchase up to $600.0 million of our common stock (“May 2018 Repurchase Program”).
As of June 30, 2021, the authorization under the May 2018 Repurchase Program had been fully utilized and the May 2018 Repurchase Program was
completed.
In May 2021, our Board of Directors authorized a plan to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of our common stock (“May 2021 Repurchase Program”). As
of June 30, 2021, we have $900.0 million available for repurchase under the May 2021 Repurchase Program.
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Accelerated Stock Repurchase Agreements ("ASRs")
During the three months ended June 30, 2021, we entered into the following ASRs:
Initial Share Delivery
Effective Date

Repurchase Program

April 30, 2021
May 17, 2021

May 2018 Repurchase Program
May 2021 Repurchase Program

Amount Paid
(in millions)

$
$

100.0
100.0

Initial Shares Delivered

134,334 $
142,980 $

Price Per Share

595.53
559.52

Value Of Shares As A
Percent Of Contract
Value

80 %
80 %

Under the terms of the ASRs, the financial institution may be required to deliver additional shares of common stock to Align at final settlement or,
under certain circumstances, we may be required at our election, to either deliver shares or make a cash payment to the financial institution. The ASRs limit
the number of shares that Align would be required to deliver. As of June 30, 2021, we recorded the remaining $40.0 million contract value from the ASRs
as equity forward contracts indexed to our own common stock which was included in additional paid-in capital in stockholders' equity in our Condensed
Consolidated Balance Sheet. The final number of shares to be repurchased will be based on our volume-weighted average stock price under the terms of the
ASRs, less an agreed upon discount.
Subsequent to the second quarter, on July 30, 2021, we entered into an ASR to repurchase $75.0 million of our common stock. We paid $75.0 million
on August 2, 2021 and received an initial delivery of approximately 0.1 million shares based on current market prices. The final number of shares to be
repurchased will be based on our volume-weighted average stock price under the terms of the ASR, less an agreed upon discount.
Note 10. Accounting for Income Taxes
Our provision for income taxes was $69.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2021 and our benefit from income taxes was $32.9 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2020, representing effective tax rates of 25.7% and 44.8%, respectively. Our provision for income taxes was $130.3
million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and our benefit from income taxes was $1,497.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020,
representing effective tax rates of 24.6% and 7,437.0%, respectively. Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2021 primarily due to state income taxes, non-deductible expenses in the U.S. and foreign income taxed at different
rates, partially offset by the recognition of excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation. Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal
income tax rate of 21% for the three months ended June 30, 2020 primarily due to foreign income taxed at different rates. Our effective tax rate differs from
the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% for the six months ended June 30, 2020 mainly as a result of the recognition of a deferred tax asset and related
one-time tax benefit associated with the intra-entity transfer of certain intellectual property rights completed last year and the recognition of excess tax
benefits related to stock-based compensation, partially offset by foreign income taxed at different rates.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we completed an intra-entity transfer of certain intellectual property rights and fixed assets to our Swiss
entity. The transfer of intellectual property rights did not result in a taxable gain; however, it did result in a step-up of the Swiss tax deductible basis in the
transferred assets, and accordingly, created a temporary difference between the book basis and the tax basis of such intellectual property rights.
Consequently, this transaction resulted in the recognition of a deferred tax asset and related one-time tax benefit of approximately $1,493.5 million during
the six months ended June 30, 2020, which is the net impact of the deferred tax asset recognized as a result of the additional Swiss tax deductible basis in
the transferred assets and certain costs related to the transfer of fixed assets and inventory.
We exercise significant judgment in regards to estimates of future market growth, forecasted earnings and projected taxable income in determining
the provision for income taxes and for purposes of assessing our ability to utilize any future benefit from deferred tax assets. We continue to assess the
realizability of the deferred tax assets as we take into account new information.
We file U.S. federal, U.S. state, and non-U.S. income tax returns. Our major tax jurisdictions include U.S. federal, the State of California and
Switzerland. We are no longer subject to U.S. federal tax examination for years before 2017 and U.S. state tax examination for years before 2016. Our
subsidiary in Israel is under audit by the local tax authorities for years 2015 through 2018. With few exceptions, we are no longer subject to examination by
foreign tax authorities for years before 2014.
Our total gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, were $53.2 million and $46.3 million as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, respectively, a material amount of which would impact our effective tax rate if recognized. Total interest and penalties accrued as of
June 30, 2021 was not material. We have elected to recognize interest and
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penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income taxes. The timing and resolution of income tax examinations is uncertain, and the
amounts ultimately paid, if any, upon resolution of issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued for each year.
Although it is possible that our balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits could materially change in the next 12 months, given uncertainty in the
development of ongoing income tax examinations, we are unable to estimate the full range of possible adjustments to this balance.
Our total deferred tax liabilities were $34.0 million and $35.7 million as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which primarily
related to the intangible assets from our exocad acquisition.
Note 11. Net Income (Loss) per Share
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share attributable to common stock (in thousands, except per
share amounts):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

2020

Numerator:
Net income (loss)

$

199,714

$

(40,602) $

400,090

$

1,477,529

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic

79,008

78,769

79,004

78,681

Dilutive effect of potential common stock

630
79,638

—
78,769

733
79,737

335
79,016

Total shares, diluted
Net income (loss) per share, basic

$

2.53

$

(0.52) $

5.06

$

18.78

Net income (loss) per share, diluted

$

2.51

$

(0.52) $

5.02

$

18.70

Anti-dilutive potential common shares 1
1

49

733

38

231

Represents RSUs, MSUs and ESPP not included in the calculation of diluted net income per share as the effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Note 12. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
The supplemental cash flow information consists of the following (in thousands):
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases

2020

$

133,530

$

13,199

$

14,030

$

12,817

$

24,338

$

25,545

Note 13. Segments and Geographical Information
Segment Information
We report segment information based on the management approach. The management approach designates the internal reporting used by our Chief
Operating Decision Maker for decision making and performance assessment as the basis for determining our reportable segments. The performance
measures of our reportable segments include net revenues, gross profit and income from operations. Income from operations for each segment includes all
geographic revenues, related cost of net revenues and operating expenses directly attributable to the segment. Certain operating expenses are attributable to
operating segments and each allocation is measured differently based on the specific facts and circumstances of the costs being allocated. Costs not
specifically allocated to segment income from operations include various corporate expenses such as stock-based compensation and costs related to IT,
facilities, human resources, accounting and finance, legal and regulatory, and other
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separately managed general and administrative costs outside the operating segments. We group our operations into two reportable segments: Clear Aligner
segment and Imaging Systems and CAD/CAM services (“Systems and Services”) segment.
Summarized financial information by segment is as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Net revenues
Clear Aligner
Systems and Services
Total net revenues
Gross profit
Clear Aligner
Systems and Services
Total gross profit
Income (loss) from operations
Clear Aligner
Systems and Services
Unallocated corporate expenses
Total income (loss) from operations
Stock-based compensation
Clear Aligner
Systems and Services
Unallocated corporate expenses
Total stock-based compensation
Depreciation and amortization
Clear Aligner
Systems and Services
Unallocated corporate expenses
Total depreciation and amortization

$
$
$
$
$

$
$

$
$

$

840,959
169,849
1,010,808

$

646,665
111,873
758,538

$

$

$

347,626 $
64,675
(143,399)
268,902 $
2,632
174
26,049
28,855

$

12,170
4,622
9,100
25,892

$

$

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

298,341
53,973
352,314

$

192,366
31,962
224,328

$

$

$

38,916 $
2,893
(114,809)
(73,000) $
2,096
153
22,758
25,007

$

9,697
5,005
8,843
23,545

$

$

$

1,594,228
311,351
1,905,579

$

1,231,199
204,437
1,435,636

$

$

779,952
123,325
903,277

$

543,858
74,826
618,684

675,091 $
111,903
(292,646)
494,348 $

205,304
17,282
(225,668)
(3,082)

4,926
345
50,825
56,096

$

23,290
9,167
19,070
51,527

$

$

$

4,625
231
43,078
47,934
19,818
6,790
17,675
44,283

The following table reconciles total segment income from operations in the table above to net income (loss) before provision for (benefit from)
income taxes (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Total segment income from operations
Unallocated corporate expenses
Total income (loss) from operations
Interest income
Other income (expense), net
Net income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes

$

$

21

412,301 $
(143,399)
268,902
383
(483)
268,802 $

41,809 $
(114,809)
(73,000)
473
(966)
(73,493) $

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

786,994 $
(292,646)
494,348
2,026
34,049
530,423 $

2020

222,586
(225,668)
(3,082)
2,459
(19,515)
(20,138)
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Geographical Information
Net revenues are presented below by geographic area (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021
2020

Net revenues 1:
U.S.
Switzerland
China
Other International
Total net revenues
1

$

$

434,398
366,334
66,440
143,636
1,010,808

$

$

140,859
105,495
46,377
59,583
352,314

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

$

$

817,400
681,784
127,652
278,743
1,905,579

2020

$

$

412,564
292,771
66,102
131,840
903,277

Net revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of where revenues are recognized by our legal entities.

Tangible long-lived assets, which includes Property, plant and equipment, net, and Operating lease right-of-use assets, net, are presented below by
geographic area (in thousands):
June 30,
2021

Long-lived assets 1:
Switzerland
U.S.
China
Costa Rica
Other International
Total long-lived assets
1

$

$

Long-lived assets are attributed to countries based on the location of our entity that owns or leases the assets.

22

416,871
193,814
126,033
95,860
221,699
1,054,277

December 31, 2020

$

$

257,337
180,539
113,918
97,804
167,676
817,274

Table of Contents
ITEM 2.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements
In addition to historical information, this quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”). These statements include, among other things, our
expectations and intentions regarding our strategic objectives and the means to achieve them, our beliefs regarding digital dentistry and its potential to
impact our business, our intentions regarding expanding our business, our expectations regarding the utilization rates for our products, including the
impact of marketing on those rates and causes for periodic fluctuations of the rates, our expectation regarding customer and consumer purchasing
behavior, including expectations related to consumer demand for digital solutions, our expectations for future investments in and benefits from consumer
demand sales and marketing activities, our expectations regarding the near and long-term implications of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global economy,
the businesses of our customers and us, including our preparedness to react to changing circumstances and demand, results of operations and financial
condition, our expectations for our expenses and capital obligations and expenditures in particular, the actions we will take to control spending and for
investments, our intentions regarding the investment of our international earnings from operations, our belief regarding the sufficiency of our cash
balances and borrowing capacity, our judgments regarding the estimates used in our revenue recognition, and assessment of goodwill and intangible
assets, our expectations regarding our tax positions and the judgments we make related to our tax obligations, the level of our operating expenses and
gross margins and other factors beyond our control, as well as other statements regarding our future operations, financial condition and prospects and
business strategies. These statements may contain words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,” or other words
indicating future results. These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those reflected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those
discussed in Item 2 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and in particular, the risks discussed
below in Part II, Item 1A “Risk Factors.” We undertake no obligation to revise or update these forward-looking statements. Given these risks and
uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with our audited consolidated financial statements
included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
Executive Overview of Results
COVID-19 Update
Since the first quarter of fiscal year 2020, our sales and results of operations have been impacted first by the preventative measures implemented to
slow the spread of COVID-19, including the complete closure or significantly reduced operations of dental practices and, more recently, the inconsistent
pace and scale of recovery in various markets. In 2021, the pandemic continues to cause general business and societal disruptions and uncertainties
worldwide, with variants of the COVID-19 virus appearing to drive regional increases in infections that has led to localized preventative measures of
varying degrees to curtail further spread of the virus. Notwithstanding these setbacks, in general the scale and time during which these additional measures
are implemented are less impactful on our customers and their patients than the most drastic measures imposed in 2020. For instance, globally both public
and private dental practices largely remain open, although many continue to operate at less than pre-pandemic capacities.
Conversely, as a result of the restrictive measures imposed to contain the spread of the virus, the demand for digital solutions has increased as society
and businesses have adapted to practices such as social distancing and remote working. Our efforts to promote the digital transformation of dental practices
with our clear aligners, intraoral scanners, clinical treatment planning and other offerings has allowed us to quickly respond to increased demand in the
dental field. We expect the number of customers that realize the efficiencies and benefits of our digital solutions for their practices and patients to continue
to grow even as the pandemic-related restrictions continue to ease generally.
To address the increasing demand for digital solutions, we intend to continue targeting our investment plans in sales, marketing and innovation as
well as our capital expenditures, particularly as we expand our manufacturing operations in locations such as Europe, in order to meet the anticipated
demand for our solutions.
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Nevertheless, the continuing evolution of the pandemic, including the setbacks occurring as a result of new virus strains and the continuing business
restrictions and lockdowns, the positive impacts of vaccinations, the uncertainties regarding consumer spending as demand for entertainment, dining, and
travel returns and remote working diminishes, remains highly fluid and unpredictable. Consequently, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused, and is expected
to continue causing for an unknown period of time, disruptions to many of the norms we have historically experienced in the cadence of our quarterly
results of operations. As such, our recent operating results and levels of growth may not be indicative of our future performance. Ultimately, however, we
believe the digital transition to dentistry that began before the pandemic will continue to be positive for our business, results of operations, cash flows, and
financial condition and we intend to adjust spending to coincide with the pace of recovery and changes in demand.
Further discussion of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business may be found in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
under the heading “Risk Factors.”
Key financial and operating metrics
Our business strategic priorities remain focused on four principal pillars of growth: (i) international expansion; (ii) general practitioners (“GP”)
adoption; (iii) patient demand & conversion; and (iv) orthodontic utilization. We measure our performance against these strategic priorities by the
achievement of key financial and operating metrics.
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, we achieved the following, taking into consideration that percentage changes from prior year financial
results are unusual due to the significant impact of COVID-19 and do not necessarily reflect our future growth rates:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Revenues of $1.0 billion, an increase of 186.9% year-over-year;
Clear Aligner revenues of $841.0 million, an increase of 181.9% year-over-year;
Imaging Systems and CAD/CAM Services revenues of $169.8 million, an increase of 214.7% year-over-year;
International Invisalign Revenues of $389.7 million, an increase of 151.0% year-over-year;
Clear Aligner volume increased 200.0% year-over-year and Clear Aligner volume for teenage patients increased 156.3% year-over-year;
Income from operations $268.9 million and operating margin 26.6%;
Effective tax rate was 25.7%;
Net income of $199.7 million with diluted net income per share of $2.51;
Cash and cash equivalents were $1.1 billion as of June 30, 2021;
Operating cash flow was $317.5 million;
Capital expenditures were $124.2 million and predominantly relate to increases to our manufacturing capacity and facilities; and
Number of employees was 20,395 as of June 30, 2021, an increase of 31.5% year-over-year

Other Statistical Data and Trends
• Digital Scanner Case Submissions. For the second quarter of 2021, total Invisalign cases submitted with a digital scanner in the Americas
increased to 86.6%, up from 85.7% in the second quarter of 2020 and international scans increased to 76.2%, up from 72.0% in the second quarter
of 2020. For the second quarter of 2021, 95.8% of Invisalign cases submitted by North American orthodontists were submitted digitally. Our
quarterly utilization rates for the last five quarters are as follows:
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*

•

Invisalign utilization rates are calculated by the number of cases shipped divided by the number of doctors to whom cases were shipped. Our International region includes
Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) and Asia Pacific (“APAC”). Latin America (“LATAM”) is excluded from the International region based on its immateriality to the
quarter, however is included in the Total utilization.

Total utilization rate in the second quarter of 2021 increased to 8.0 cases per doctor compared to 4.6 cases per doctor in the second quarter of
2020.
▪

▪

North America: Utilization rate among our North American orthodontist customers increased to 29.4 cases per doctor in the second
quarter of 2021 compared to 11.0 cases per doctor in the second quarter of 2020 and the utilization rate among our North American
GP customers increased to 5.3 cases per doctor in the second quarter of 2021 compared to 2.5 cases per doctor in the second quarter
of 2020.
International: International doctor utilization rate was 7.1 cases per doctor in the second quarter of 2021 compared to 4.7 cases in the
second quarter of 2020.

Results of Operations
Net Revenues by Reportable Segment
We group our operations into two reportable segments: Clear Aligner segment and Systems and Services segment.
• Our Clear Aligner segment consists of Comprehensive Products, Non-Comprehensive Products and Non-Case revenues as defined below:
▪

Comprehensive Products include, but are not limited to, Invisalign Comprehensive and Invisalign First.

▪

Non-Comprehensive Products include, but are not limited to, Invisalign Moderate, Lite and Express packages and Invisalign Go.

▪

Non-Case includes, but is not limited to, Vivera retainers along with our training and ancillary products for treating malocclusion.

• Our Systems and Services segment consists of our iTero intraoral scanning systems, which includes a single hardware platform and restorative or
orthodontic software options, OrthoCAD services and ancillary products, as well as exocad’s CAD/CAM software solution that integrates
workflows to dental labs and dental practices.
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Net revenues for our Clear Aligner and Systems and Services segments by region for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as
follows (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,

Net Revenues
Clear Aligner net revenues:
Americas
International
Non-case
Total Clear Aligner net revenues
Systems and Services net revenues
Total net revenues

2021

$

$
$

400.5
389.7
50.8
841.0
169.8
1,010.8

2020

$

$
$

123.3
155.2
19.8
298.3
54.0
352.3

Six Months Ended
June 30,
Change

$

$
$

277.2
234.5
31.0
542.6
115.9
658.5

2021

224.9 % $
151.0 %
156.1 %
181.9 % $
214.7 %
186.9 % $

757.9
743.0
93.3
1,594.2
311.4
1,905.6

2020

$

$
$

378.9
351.1
50.0
780.0
123.3
903.3

Change

$

$
$

379.1
391.9
43.3
814.3
188.0
1,002.3

100.1 %
111.6 %
86.5 %
104.4 %
152.5 %
111.0 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Clear Aligner Case Volume
Case volume data which represents Clear Aligner case shipments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 is as follows (in
thousands):
2021

Total case volume

665.6

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020
Change

221.9

443.7

2021

200.0 %

1,261.4

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020

581.3

Change

680.1

117.0 %

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, total net revenues increased by $658.5 million and $1.0 billion, respectively, as compared to the
same periods in 2020 primarily as a result of increases in Clear Aligner volume of 200.0% and 117.0%, respectively, and an increase in the number of
scanners recognized across all regions.
Clear Aligner - Americas
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, Americas net revenues increased by $277.2 million as compared to the same period in 2020 primarily due
to a 260.7% increase in Clear Aligner volume which resulted in higher net revenues of $321.4 million, partially offset by lower Clear Aligner ASP that
decreased net revenues by $44.2 million. Lower ASP was mostly due to higher net deferrals which decreased net revenues by $33.8 million and higher
promotional discounts which decreased net revenues by $13.1 million.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, Americas net revenues increased by $379.1 million as compared to the same period in 2020 primarily due to
a 120.3% increase in Clear Aligner volume which resulted in higher net revenues of $455.7 million, partially offset by lower Clear Aligner ASP that
decreased net revenues by $76.6 million. Lower ASP was mostly due to higher net deferrals which decreased revenues by $46.3 million and higher
promotional discounts which decreased net revenues by $34.8 million.
Clear Aligner - International
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, International net revenues increased by $234.5 million as compared to the same period in 2020 primarily
due to a 149.2% increase in Clear Aligner volume which resulted in higher net revenues of $231.7 million.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, International net revenues increased by $391.9 million as compared to the same period in 2020 primarily due
to a 113.1% increase in Clear Aligner volume which resulted in higher net revenues of $397.1 million, partially offset by lower Clear Aligner ASP. Lower
ASP was the result of higher net revenue deferrals partially offset by favorable foreign exchange rates.
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Clear Aligner - Non-Case
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, non-case net revenues increased by $31.0 million and $43.3 million as compared to the same
periods in 2020 due to increased Vivera volume across all regions.
Systems and Services
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, Systems and Services net revenues increased by $115.9 million as compared to the same period in 2020
due to a higher number of scanners recognized which increased net revenues by $63.8 million. Higher scanner ASP increased net revenues by $21.6 million
mostly due to favorable product mix shift towards higher priced scanners. Additionally, net revenues increased by $30.5 million primarily as a result of
higher iTero service revenues mostly due to a larger scanner install base.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, Systems and Services net revenues increased by $188.0 million as compared to the same period in 2020 due
to a higher number of scanners recognized which increased net revenues by $113.2 million. Additionally, net revenues increased by $54.0 million as a
result of higher iTero service revenues mostly due to a larger scanner install base and additional exocad CAD/CAM revenues.
Cost of net revenues and gross profit (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

Clear
Aligner
Cost of
net revenues
% of net
segment
revenues
Gross
profit
Gross
margin %
Systems
and Services
Cost of
net revenues
% of net
segment
revenues
Gross
profit
Gross
margin %
Total
cost of net
revenues
% of net
revenues
Gross
profit
Gross
margin %

$

194.3
23.1

$

65.9
$

%

%
$
%

758.5
75.0

$
%

363.0

$

36.0

$

%
79.9

$

%
124.3

$

%
534.2

%

$

%
$
%
$
%

1,435.6
75.3

$
%

$

58.4

$

129.6

$

185.4

$

817.0

%

618.7
68.5

687.3

%

284.6
31.5

$

%

74.8
60.7

126.9

%

48.5
39.3

$
%

543.9
69.7

$

469.9
24.7

$

%

Change

236.1
30.3

$

204.4
65.7

$

%

106.9
34.3

$

$

1,231.2
77.2

$

224.3
63.7

454.3

%

128.0
36.3

$

22.8
$

32.0
59.2

88.3

2021

%

22.0
40.8

$

$

192.4
64.5

$

252.3
25.0

$

%

111.9

106.0
35.5

$

58.0
34.1

$

%

646.7
76.9

$

$

Change

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020

%

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Cost of net revenues includes personnel-related costs including payroll and stock-based compensation for staff involved in the production process, the
cost of materials, packaging, shipping costs, depreciation on capital equipment and facilities used in the production process, amortization of acquired
intangible assets and training costs.
Clear Aligner
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, our gross margin percentage increased as compared to the same periods in 2020 primarily due to
manufacturing efficiencies driven by higher production volumes, which was partially offset by lower ASP.
Systems and Services
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, our gross margin percentage increased as compared to the same period in 2020 as a result of higher ASP
from a product mix shift, an increase in iTero service revenues and manufacturing efficiencies driven by higher production volumes which was partially
offset by higher freight costs.
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For the six months ended June 30, 2021, our gross margin percentage increased as compared to the same period in 2020 primarily driven by higher
ASP from a product mix shift and manufacturing efficiencies driven by higher production volumes.
Selling, general and administrative (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

Selling,
general and
administrative
% of net
revenues

$

431.9
42.7

$

Change

257.0

%

72.9

$

175.0

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

$

829.0

%

43.5

$

Change

539.9

%

59.8

$

289.2

%

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Selling, general and administrative expense generally includes personnel-related costs including payroll, stock-based compensation and commissions
for our sales force, marketing and advertising expenses including media, public relations, marketing materials, clinical education, trade shows and industry
events, legal and outside service costs, equipment, software and maintenance costs, depreciation and amortization expense and allocations of corporate
overhead expenses including facilities and Information Technology (“IT”).
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, selling, general and administrative expense increased compared to the same period in 2020 primarily due
to higher compensation related costs of $86.9 million mainly from higher salaries, fringe benefits, commissions, incentive bonuses and stock-based
compensation. Higher salaries were driven by an increase in headcount as we continue to invest in sales and marketing to penetrate into new markets.
Additionally, we also incurred higher advertising and marketing costs of $64.2 million during the three months ended June 30, 2021.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, selling, general and administrative expense increased compared to the same period in 2020 primarily due to
higher compensation related costs of $150.2 million mainly from higher salaries, fringe benefits, commissions, incentive bonuses and stock-based
compensation driven by an increase in headcount. We also incurred higher advertising and marketing costs of $93.8 million during the six months ended
June 30, 2021.
Research and development (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

Research and
development
% of net
revenues

$

57.7
5.7

$
%

Change

40.4
11.5

$

17.4

%

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

$

112.3
5.9

$
%

Change

81.9
9.1

$

30.4

%

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Research and development expense generally includes personnel-related costs including payroll and stock-based compensation, outside service costs
associated with the research and development of new products and enhancements to existing products, software, equipment, material and maintenance
costs, depreciation and amortization expense and allocations of corporate overhead expenses including facilities and IT.
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, research and development expense increased compared to the same periods in 2020 primarily due
to higher compensation costs including higher salaries, fringe benefits, and incentive bonuses mainly from an increased headcount as we continue to focus
our investments in innovation and research.
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Income (loss) from operations (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2021

Clear
Aligner
Income
from operations
Operating
margin %
Systems
and Services
Income
from operations
Operating
margin %
Total
income (loss)
from
operations 1
Operating
margin %

$

2020

347.6

$

41.3

$

$

$

61.8

$

35.9

(20.7)

341.9

$

$

%

25.9

26.3

$

14.0

$

(0.3)

469.8

$

94.6

$

497.4

%

(3.1)

%

$
%

17.3

%

494.3

Change

205.3

%

111.9

%

$

2020

675.1
42.3

(73.0)

%

308.7

$

5.4

268.9

2021

%

2.9

%

26.6

$

13.0

$

38.1

Change

38.9

%

64.7

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,

%

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.
1

Refer to Note 13 “Segments and Geographical Information” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for details on unallocated corporate expenses
and the reconciliation to Condensed Consolidated Income from Operations.

Clear Aligner
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, our operating margin percentage increased compared to the same periods in 2020 due to operating
leverage on higher net revenues and higher gross margins.
Systems and Services
For the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, our operating margin percentage increased compared to the same periods in 2020 due to operating
leverage on higher net revenues and higher gross margins.
Interest income (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

Interest income
% of net
revenues

$

0.4
—

$
%

Change

0.5
0.1

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

(0.1)

$

%

2.0
0.1

$
%

Change

2.5
0.3

$

(0.4)

%

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Interest income generally includes interest earned on cash, cash equivalents and investment balances.
For the three months ended June 30, 2021, there was no significant change to interest income compared to the same period in 2020.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, interest income decreased compared to the same period in 2020 mainly due to the divestiture of our
marketable securities portfolio during the first quarter of 2020 offset by interest income recognized during the six months ended June 30, 2021 from the
SDC arbitration award regarding the value of Align’s capital account balance.
Other income (expense), net (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

Other income
(expense), net
% of net
revenues

$

(0.5)
—

$
%

Change

(1.0)
(0.3)

$

0.5

%

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

$

34.0
1.8

$
%

Change

(19.5)
(2.2)

$

53.6

%

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Other income (expense), net, generally includes foreign exchange gains and losses, gains and losses on foreign currency forward contracts, interest
expense, gains and losses on equity investments and other miscellaneous charges.
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For the three months ended June 30, 2021, there was no significant change to other income (expense), net compared to the same period in 2020.
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, other income (expense), net increased compared to the same period in 2020 primarily due to a $43.4 million
gain related to the SDC arbitration award recognized in the first quarter of 2021 in addition to a $10.2 million loss on a foreign currency forward contract
related to the exocad acquisition recognized in 2020.
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes (in millions):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

Provision
for (benefit
from) income
taxes
Effective
tax rates

$

69.1
25.7

$
%

Change

(32.9)
44.8

$

102.0

%

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020

2021

$

130.3
24.6

$
%

Change

(1,497.7)
7,437.0

$

1,628.0

%

Changes and percentages are based on actual values. Certain tables may not sum or recalculate due to rounding.

Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 primarily due to state
income taxes, non-deductible expenses in the U.S. and foreign income taxed at different rates, partially offset by the recognition of excess tax benefits
related to stock-based compensation. Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% for the three months ended June 30,
2020 primarily due to foreign income taxed at different rates. Our effective tax rate differs from the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% for the six
months ended June 30, 2020 mainly as a result of the recognition of a deferred tax asset and related one-time tax benefit associated with the intra-entity
transfer of certain intellectual property rights completed last year and the recognition of excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation, partially
offset by foreign income taxed at different rates.
The decrease in our effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020 is primarily attributable to
foreign income taxed at lower rates. The decrease in our effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2021 compared to the same period in 2020 is
primarily attributable to the recognition of a deferred tax asset and related one-time tax benefit associated with the intra-entity transfer of certain intellectual
property rights during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we completed an intra-entity transfer of certain intellectual property rights and fixed assets to our Swiss
entity. The transfer of intellectual property rights did not result in a taxable gain; however, it did result in a step-up of the Swiss tax deductible basis in the
transferred assets, and accordingly, created a temporary difference between the book basis and the tax basis of such intellectual property rights.
Consequently, this transaction resulted in the recognition of a deferred tax asset and related one-time tax benefit of approximately $1,493.5 million during
the six months ended June 30, 2020, which is the net impact of the deferred tax asset recognized as a result of the additional Swiss tax deductible basis in
the transferred assets and certain costs related to the transfer of fixed assets and inventory. The amortization of this deferred tax asset depends on the
profitability of our Swiss headquarters and the recognition of this tax benefit is allowed for a maximum recovery period of 15 years.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity and Trends
We fund our operations from product sales. As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents, which are comprised of
money market funds, of $1.1 billion and $960.8 million, respectively.
As of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, approximately $535.3 million and $412.5 million of cash and cash equivalents was held by our foreign
subsidiaries, respectively. Our intent is to permanently reinvest our earnings from our international operations going forward, and our current plans do not
require us to repatriate them to fund our U.S. operations as we generate sufficient domestic operating cash flow and have access to external funding under
our $300.0 million revolving line of credit. We believe that our current cash balances and the borrowing capacity under our credit facility, if necessary, will
be sufficient to fund our business for at least the next 12 months.
For 2021, we expect our investments in capital expenditures to be approximately $500.0 million. Capital expenditures primarily relate to building
construction and improvements as well as additional manufacturing capacity to support our international expansion. This includes our planned investment
in a new manufacturing facility in Wroclaw, Poland, our first one
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in the EMEA region. As we expand our manufacturing operations and penetrate into newer markets, we also expect to invest significantly in sales,
marketing and innovation to meet the growing demand for our solutions.
As of June 30, 2021, we have $900.0 million available for repurchase under the stock repurchase program authorized by our Board of Directors in
May 2021. Subsequent to the second quarter, on July 30, 2021, we entered into an accelerated stock repurchase agreement to repurchase $75.0 million
under the program.

Additional information regarding the impact of COVID-19 on our liquidity and capital resources may be found in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q under the heading “Risk Factors”.
Sources and Uses of Cash
The following table summarizes our condensed consolidated cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2021

Net cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$

$

544,691 $
(123,920)
(291,756)
(3,511)
125,504 $

2020

69,684
(172,326)
(36,376)
(7,172)
(146,190)

Operating Activities
For the six months ended June 30, 2021, cash flows from operations of $544.7 million resulted primarily from our net income of approximately
$400.1 million as well as the following:
Adjustments to net income
•
•
•
•

Stock-based compensation of $56.1 million related to equity awards granted to employees and directors;
Depreciation and amortization of $51.5 million related to our investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets;
Gain related to our SDC arbitration award of $43.4 million; and
Changes in deferred taxes of $40.0 million primarily related to current year amortization and adjustments to our deferred tax assets of our Swiss
entity.

Significant changes in working capital
• Increase of $231.4 million in deferred revenues primarily related to increased sales volume in both our Clear Aligner and Systems and Services
segments and timing of revenue recognition;
• Increase of $164.8 million in accounts receivable which is primarily a result of the increase in sales; and
• Increase of $70.1 million in prepaid expenses and other assets and an increase of $65.7 million in accrued and other long-term liabilities due to the
timing of payment and activities.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $123.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 primarily consisted of purchases of property and plant
and equipment of $167.7 million which was partially offset by $43.4 million of proceeds from our SDC arbitration award in addition to $4.6 million
received on an unsecured promissory note.
Financing Activities
Net cash used in financing activities was $291.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2021 which consisted of payments related to our
accelerated stock repurchase agreements of $200.0 million and payroll taxes paid for equity awards
31

Table of Contents
through share withholdings of $104.9 million which were partially offset by $13.1 million of proceeds from the issuance of common stock.
Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations have not significantly changed since December 31, 2020 as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, other than
obligations described in the Form 10-Q herein, including items disclosed in Note 7 “Commitments and Contingencies” of the Notes to Condensed
Consolidated Financial Statements. We believe that our current cash balances and the borrowing capacity under our credit facility, if necessary, will be
sufficient to fund our business for at least the next 12 months. If we are unable to generate adequate operating cash flows and need more funds beyond our
available liquid investments and those available under our credit facility, we may need to suspend our stock repurchase programs or seek additional sources
of capital through equity or debt financing, collaborative or other arrangements with other companies, bank financing and other sources in order to realize
our objectives and to continue our operations. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. If adequate funds are not available, we may need to make business decisions that could adversely affect our operating results
such as modifications to our pricing policy, business structure or operations. Accordingly, the failure to obtain sufficient funds on acceptable terms when
needed could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of June 30, 2021, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future material effect on our
consolidated financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources other than certain items disclosed in Note 11
“Commitments and Contingencies” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The preparation of
financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses
and disclosures at the date of the financial statements. We evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis, including those related to revenue recognition,
goodwill and finite-lived assets, business combination, income taxes and legal proceedings and litigations. We use authoritative pronouncements, historical
experience and other assumptions as the basis for making estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates from the information provided in the “Critical Accounting
Policies and Estimates” section of our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 1 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of recent
accounting pronouncements.
ITEM 3.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes in our market risk during the six months ended June 30, 2021, compared to the disclosures in Part II, Item 7A of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.
ITEM 4.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we have
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our
Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of June 30, 2021, to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
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decisions regarding required disclosure, and that such information is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the
SEC rules and forms.
Changes in internal control over financial reporting.
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended June 30, 2021 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For a discussion of legal proceedings, refer to Note 6 “Legal Proceedings” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I,
Item 1 of this Form 10-Q.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

The following discussion is divided into two sections. The first, entitled “Risks Relating to our Business,” discusses some of the risks that may affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition. The second, captioned “General Risk Factors,” discusses some of the risks that apply generally
to companies and to owning our common stock, in particular. You should carefully review both sections, as well as our condensed consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto and other information appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for important information regarding these and other
risks that may affect us. The order we have chosen to list the risks below or the sections in which we have identified them should not be interpreted to mean
we deem any risks to be more or less important or likely to occur or, if any do occur, that their impact may be any less significant than others. These risk
factors should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in this report because they could cause our actual
results and conditions to differ materially from those statements. Before you invest in Align, you should know that investing involves risks, including those
described below. The risks below are not the only ones we face. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be negatively affected, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.
Summary of Risk Factors
The following is a summary of the risks that are more fully described below in this “Risk Factors” section:
Risks Relating to our Business Operations and Strategy
• Our results of operations have been materially adversely affected by global and regional efforts to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 and we expect
this will continue in as yet unknown ways and to varying degrees in the future.
• Our net revenues are dependent primarily on our Invisalign System and iTero Scanners and any decline in sales or average selling price of these
products for any reason, may adversely affect net revenues, gross margin and net income.
• Competition in the markets for our products is increasing and we expect aggressive competition from existing competitors, other companies that
may introduce new technologies in the future and customers who alone or with others create aligners or retainers or other products or services that
compete with us.
• An increasingly larger portion of our total revenues are derived from international sales and we are dependent on our international operations,
which exposes us to foreign operational, political and other risks that may harm our business.
• Demand for our products may not increase as rapidly as we anticipate or may decrease due to a variety of factors, including a weakness in general
economic conditions and resistance to non-traditional treatment methods.
• Our success depends on our ability to develop, successfully introduce and achieve market acceptance of new products and services.
• We may not achieve the anticipated benefits from our acquisition of exocad in the timeframe expected, or at all, which may have an adverse effect
on our business and our financial results.
• As we continue to grow, we are subject to growth related risks, including risks related to excess or constrained capacity and operational
inefficiencies at our manufacturing and treat facilities.
• Our products and information technology systems are critical to our business. Issues with product development or enhancements, IT system
integration, implementation, updates and upgrades along with security and data protection risks have previously and could again in the future
disrupt our operations, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and operating results.
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• If we are unable to protect our customer or patient information or if we are unable to comply with applicable privacy, security and data protection
laws, our operations may be severely adversely impacted, patient care could suffer, we could be liable for related damages, and our business,
operations and reputation could be harmed.
• If we fail to sustain or increase revenue growth while controlling expenses, our profitability may decline.
• Our operating results have and will fluctuate in the future, which makes predicting the timing and amount of our revenues, costs and expenditures
difficult.
• A disruption in the operations of a primary freight carrier or higher shipping costs could cause a decline in our net revenues or a reduction in our
earnings.
• If we fail to accurately predict our volume growth and hire too many or too few technicians, the delivery time of our products could be delayed or
our costs may exceed our revenues, each of which could adversely affect our results of operations.
• We are dependent on our marketing activities to deepen our market penetration and raise awareness of our brand and products, which may not
prove successful or may become less effective or more costly to maintain in the long term.
• Our success depends in part on our proprietary technology, and if we fail to successfully obtain or enforce our intellectual property rights, our
competitive position may be harmed. Litigating claims of this type is costly and could distract our management and cause a decline in our results
of operations and stock price.
• Obtaining approvals and complying with governmental regulations, particularly those related to personal healthcare information, financial
information and data privacy, is expensive and time-consuming, and any failure to obtain or maintain approvals or comply with regulations
regarding our products or services or the products and services of our suppliers or customers could materially harm our sales, result in substantial
penalties and cause harm to our reputation.
• If we or any vendors on whose products or services we rely for our products and services infringe the patents or IP rights of other parties or are
subject to a patent infringement claim, our ability to grow our business may be severely limited.
• We maintain single supply relationships for certain key machines and materials, and our business and operating results could be harmed if supply
is restricted or ends or the price of raw materials used in our manufacturing process increases.
• We primarily rely on our direct sales force to sell our products, and any failure to train and maintain our key sales force personnel could harm our
business.
• We use distributors for a portion of the importation, marketing and sales efforts related to our products and services, which exposes us to risks that
may be harmful to our sales and operations.
• Our business exposes us to potential liability for the quality and safety of our products and services, how we advertise and market those products
and services and how and to whom we sell them, and we may incur substantial expenses or be found liable for substantial damages or penalties if
we are subject to claims or litigation.
• We are subject to risks associated with our strategic investments. Impairments in the value of our investments could negatively impact our
financial results.
General Risk Factors

• We rely on highly skilled personnel and, if we fail to attract, motivate or retain personnel, or if our growth harms our corporate culture, it may be
more difficult to grow effectively and pursue our strategic priorities.
• Business disruptions could seriously harm our financial condition.
• Changes in, or interpretations of, accounting rules and regulations, could result in unfavorable accounting charges.
• We are required to annually assess our internal control over financial reporting and any adverse results from such assessment may result in a loss
of investor confidence in our financial reports and have an adverse effect on our stock price.
• We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.
• If we fail to manage our exposure to global financial and securities market risk successfully, our operating results and financial statements could
be materially impacted.
• If our goodwill or long-lived assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.
• Our effective tax rate may vary significantly from period to period.
• Changes in tax laws or tax rulings could negatively impact our income tax provision and net income.
• We have in the past and may again in the future acquire other businesses, products or technologies which could require significant management
attention, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and adversely affect our results of operations.
• Historically, the market price for our common stock has been volatile.
• We cannot guarantee we will repurchase our common stock again in the future, and any repurchases may not achieve our objectives.
• Future sales of significant amounts of our common stock may depress our stock price.
34

Table of Contents
• Increased scrutiny of our environmental, social or governance responsibilities have and will likely continue to result in additional costs and risks,
and may adversely impact our reputation, employee retention, and willingness of customers and suppliers to do business with us.
Risks Relating to our Business Operations and Strategy
Our results of operations have been materially adversely affected by global and regional efforts to mitigate the spread of COVID-19 and we expect
this will continue in as yet unknown ways and to varying degrees in the future.
The broad and extensive impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on virtually all aspects of our business and society generally has exacerbated many of the
pre-existing risks to our business by making them more likely to occur or more impactful when they do occur. Accordingly, you should consider the risks
set forth in this risk factor in addition to, and not in lieu of, the risks identified elsewhere in these risk factors.
Moreover, any comparisons of our financial results for the reporting periods of 2021 to the same reporting periods of 2020 may not be a useful means
by which to evaluate the health of our business and our results of operations because of the broad and significant global impact to our business and the
businesses of our customers from the pandemic followed by variances and inconsistencies in regional and local economies as they recover.
COVID-19 has created significant, widespread and unprecedented volatility, uncertainty, and economic instability, disrupting broad aspects of the
global economy, our operations and the businesses of our customers and suppliers. Many of these effects continue to varying degrees and further outbreaks
of COVID-19 globally or regionally may harm recovering consumer confidence or renew implementation of harsh preventative measures. Because
COVID-19 spreads readily through airways in nasal passages and the mouth, our principal customers, dental and orthodontic practices, were an initial
focus of efforts to prevent the spread of the virus leading to the complete or substantial closures of their operations; materially harming our sales and sales
efforts. In particular, these preventative measures in the first and second quarters of 2020 materially adversely impacted our business and financial results.
In the quarters that have followed, practices across all regions have largely reopened, although many continue to operate at less than pre-pandemic
capacities.
The pandemic also increased demand for digital solutions such as the products and solutions we offer in the dental field. As restrictions continue to
ease or are removed entirely, employees return to office work environments, and the availability of travel, dining, entertainment and other similar purchases
and activities rebound, it is uncertain whether increased demand for our products will continue or continue at the pace seen in recent quarters.
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, in 2020 we implemented measures aimed at limiting its spread for the health and safety of our employees,
customers, patients and the communities in which we live and work as well as in accordance with orders and decrees of governmental agencies. These
measures included diagnostic screenings at our facilities, increased social distancing mandates, closures of physical offices, manufacturing and treatment
planning facilities, including our U.S. corporate headquarters and regional facilities worldwide, implementing remote working where feasible, prohibiting
non-essential travel, and converting underutilized manufacturing capacity to produce personal protective equipment. Many of these actions remain in effect
to varying degrees although we may implement new or revise existing requirements as circumstances require. The actions and reactions to voluntary and
involuntary requirements have been highly disruptive to our business and may continue to be disruptive. As physical offices are allowed to reopen, the
rules and regulations for reopening will likely increase in complexity, making compliance more difficult. Furthermore, if employees perceive the protocols
and requirements we implement to create a safe and effective work environment to be inadequate, overly burdensome or no longer necessary, employees
may choose to leave, productivity may decline or we may experience employee unrest, slowdowns, stoppages or other demands, we may fail to timely meet
customer demand or fulfill orders, the costs to maintain or implement protective measures or deliver our products may increase, and we may be subject to
increased litigation, including product liability and occupational safety and condition claims.
As the economic and societal impact of the pandemic continues to unfold, we are continually evaluating macroeconomic as well as industry-specific
factors, including the extent our business and financial results are or may be impacted as well as those of our customers and suppliers, and the financial
health and stability of businesses and consumers overall depends on numerous evolving factors, many of which we cannot control nor accurately predict.
Examples include:
• the duration, scope, and severity of governmental, business and societal actions in response to the pandemic;
• the impact on worldwide economic activity, employment rates and actions taken by central banks and governments;
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• customer and consumer purchasing behavior changes as pandemic-related restrictions are curtailed or lifted, remote working declines and travel
and discretionary spending patterns shift and our ability to timely and effectively respond to any resulting decreases or increases in demand;
• the response of employees, customers and suppliers to the easing of social distancing mandates and returning to in office or facility working,
including anxieties regarding the continuing risks of the spread of the virus or any of its variants, vaccination requirements, and other mandates
that may impact employee productivity and engagement, retention or require additional costly protective measures;
• the liquidity and financial stability of consumers, customers, and patients, including their willingness to purchase our products and services, delays
paying for products or services, requests for extended payment terms, or payment defaults;
• travel and gathering restrictions, including those that adversely impair or prohibit our sales personnel from interacting with customers or that limit
patients from visiting their doctors or the number of patients doctors can see in their offices;
• actions by us or our competitors such as price reductions, aggressive product promotions, changes in or the launch or termination of products or
product lines, and mergers, consolidations and liquidations;
• the confidence of our customers and patients that our products and solutions are sanitary and safe to use;
• data privacy and cybersecurity risks from new or expanded use of remote working and/or teledentistry by our suppliers, customers, and us,
including new or expanded use of online service platforms, products and solutions such as video conferencing applications, doctor, consumer and
patient apps, inadequately secured computing networks, servers, software or software applications, overheard telephone conversations, viewable
computer screens, stolen passwords or access information, increased phishing and other cyber threats;
• the impact of remote working arrangements on our financial reporting systems and internal control over financial reporting, including our ability
to ensure information required to be disclosed is timely and accurately recorded, processed, summarized, reported, and communicated to
management, including our Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officers, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required
disclosure; and
• diversion of management as they focus on the short- and long-term ramifications of the pandemic.
The impact of the pandemic continues to evolve and we cannot predict the future impact on our business or results of operations; although it may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and stock price as well as the businesses of our
customers, and economic activity generally.
Our net revenues are dependent primarily on our Invisalign System and iTero Scanners and any decline in sales or average selling price of these
products for any reason, may adversely affect net revenues, gross margin and net income.
Our net revenues are largely dependent on sales of our Invisalign System of clear aligners and iTero intraoral scanners. Of the two, we expect net
revenues from the sale of the Invisalign System, primarily our comprehensive products, will continue to account for the majority of our net revenues;
making the continued and widespread acceptance of the Invisalign System by orthodontists, GPs and consumers critical to our future success. Sales of our
iTero scanners are becoming a larger percentage of our overall revenues and we expect the acquisition of exocad to complement the adoption of digital
dentistry. If orthodontists and GPs experience a reduction in consumer demand for orthodontic services, if consumers prove unwilling to adopt Invisalign
System treatment as rapidly or in the volumes we anticipate and at the prices offered, if orthodontists or GPs choose to continue using wires and brackets or
competitive products rather than the Invisalign System or the rates at which they utilize the Invisalign System fail to increase, if sales of our iTero scanners
decline or fail to grow sufficiently or as expected, if the acquisition of exocad does not produce the results expected, or if the average selling price of our
products declines for any reason, our operating results could be harmed.
The average selling prices of our products, particularly our Invisalign System, are influenced by numerous factors, including the type and timing of
products sold, price increases and reductions, product mix, product and services bundling, promotions, and foreign exchange rates. We provide volumebased discount programs to our customers. In addition, we sell a number of products at different list prices which may differ based on country and season.
If we change volume-based discount programs that affect our average selling prices; if we introduce price reductions or consumer rebate programs; if we
implement new or expand existing discount programs or participation in these programs increases; if we introduce new or change existing products or
services, or modify how we market or sell any of our new or existing products or services; if our critical accounting estimates materially differ from actual
behavior or results; or if our geographic, channel, or product mix shifts to lower priced products or to products that have a higher percentage of deferred
revenue, our average selling prices would be adversely affected. Moreover, some programs, products and services may be unsuccessful or may drive
demand in unexpected ways. If any of the foregoing to occur, our net revenues, gross profit, gross margin and net income may decline.
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Competition in the markets for our products is increasing and we expect aggressive competition from existing competitors, other companies that
may introduce new technologies in the future and customers who alone or with others create aligners, or retainers or other products or services that
compete with us.
The dental industry is in a period of immense and rapid digital transformation involving products, technologies, distribution channels and business
models. While solutions such as our clear aligner and iTero scanners facilitate this transition, whether our technologies will achieve market acceptance and,
if adopted, whether and when they may become obsolete as new offerings become available remains unclear.
Currently, our clear aligner system competes directly against traditional metal wires and brackets and increasingly against clear aligners manufactured
and distributed by new market entrants and traditional manufacturers of wires and brackets, both within and outside the U.S., and from traditional medical
device companies, laboratories, startups and, in some cases, doctors and dental service organizations ("DSOs") themselves. Due in part to market
opportunities and the expiration of certain of our key patents beginning in 2017, competition in the clear aligner market is increasing. The number and
types of competitors are diverse and vary by segment, geography and customers, including new and well-established regional competitors, as well as larger
companies or divisions of larger companies with substantial sales, marketing, research and financial capabilities, including the ability to leverage existing
dental market channels to compete directly with us. Our competitors also include direct-to-consumer (“DTC”) companies that provide clear aligners using a
remote teledentistry model requiring little or no in-office care from trained and licensed doctors, doctors and DSOs who can manufacture custom aligners
in their offices using modern 3D printing technology. Large consumer product companies may also enter the orthodontic supply market.
The manipulation and movement of teeth and bone is a delicate process with potentially painful and debilitating results if improperly performed or
monitored. Accordingly, we are committed to delivering our Invisalign System solutions primarily through trained and skilled doctors. Invisalign System
treatment requires a doctor's prescription and an in person physical examination of the patient’s dentition before beginning treatment; however, with the
advent of DTC providers accompanied by significant advertising campaigns, there has been a shift away from traditional practices that may impact our
primary selling channels. We also believe doctors and DSOs are sampling alternative products and/or taking advantage of competitive promotions and sale
opportunities. In addition, we may face competition from companies that introduce new technologies and we may be unable to compete with these
competitors or they may render our technology obsolete or economically unattractive. If we are unable to compete effectively with existing products or
respond effectively to any new technologies, our business could be harmed. To stimulate product and services demand, we have a history of offering
volume discounts, price reductions and other promotions to targeted customers and consumers. Whether or not successful, these promotional campaigns
can have unexpected and unintended consequences, including reduced gross margins, profitability and average selling prices, loss of market share, and may
discourage dental professionals’ efforts and commitment to use our products, any of which could materially adversely affect our net revenues, volume
growth, net income and stock price. We cannot assure that we will be able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors or that
competitive pressures will not have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
An increasingly larger portion of our total revenues are derived from international sales and we are dependent on our international operations,
which exposes us to foreign operational, political and other risks that may harm our business.
We earn an increasingly larger portion of our total revenues from international sales generated through our foreign direct and indirect operations and
we expect to increase our sales and presence outside the U.S., particularly in markets we believe have high-growth potential. Moreover, many of our key
production steps are performed in locations outside of the U.S. For instance, technicians use a sophisticated, internally developed computer-modeling
program to prepare digital treatment plans (“ClinCheck”), which are approved by licensed doctors before being transmitted electronically to our aligner
fabrication facilities. These digital files form the basis of the ClinCheck treatment plan and are used to manufacture our aligners. Our digital treatment
planning and aligner fabrication are performed in multiple international locations, including large-scale operations in Mexico, Costa Rica and China and we
continue to establish additional sites closer to our international customers such as our recently announced facility in Poland. Also, we maintain significant
regional sales and marketing operations in Switzerland, Singapore and China along with research and development operations globally, including in the
U.S., Russia, Israel, and Germany. Our reliance on international operations exposes us to risks and uncertainties that may affect our business or results of
operations, including:
•
•
•
•

difficulties managing international operations, including any travel restrictions on us or our customers;
fluctuations in currency exchange rates;
import and export risks, penalties, controls, license requirements and restrictions;
controlling production volume and quality of the manufacturing process;
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• difficulties hiring and retaining employees, particularly employees with software and technological design and development backgrounds
necessary to create, develop and perform the more technical aspects of our operations as well as to service, market and sell complex medical
devices and technologies;
• the engagement in activities by our employees, contractors, partners and agents prohibited by international and local trade, labor and other laws
such as those prohibiting corrupt payments to government officials, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act of
2010 and export control laws, in spite of our policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these laws;
• increased expense of developing, testing, manufacturing and marketing localized versions of our products;
• political, military, social, economic, or business instability, acts of terrorism and acts of war, including increased levels of violence and military
hostilities and protests in various regions of the world, including regions in which we operate such as the U.S., Mexico, Hong Kong, the Middle
East, Eastern Europe and Africa. In addition, some of our employees in Israel are obligated to perform annual reserve duty in the Israeli military
and may be called for additional active duty under emergency circumstances which may materially impair all or a portion of our business
operations critical to our iTero operations. If any of these events or conditions to occur, the impact to us, our employees and customers is
uncertain, particularly if emergency circumstances, armed conflicts or an escalation in political instability or violence were to occur;
• general geopolitical instability and the responses to it, such as the possibility, threat of, imposition of, or changes in sanctions, trade restrictions
and tariffs, particularly involving key customer, development or manufacturing markets such as China, Mexico, Russia, Eastern Europe or other
countries;
• interruptions and limitations in telecommunication services or critical systems or applications reliant on a stable and uninterrupted
communications infrastructure;
• production or material transportation delays or disruption, including as a result of customs clearance, workforce unrest, slowdowns or stoppages,
unionization efforts, or as a result of disasters, whether as a natural forces or human caused;
• burdens of complying with a wide variety of regional and local laws, including anti-trust, and competition laws;
• the impact of government-led initiatives to encourage the purchase or support of domestic vendors, which can affect the willingness of customers
to purchase products from, or collaborate to promote interoperability of products with, companies whose headquarters or primary operations are
not domestic;
• reduced intellectual property rights protections as compared to the protections afforded under the laws of the U.S.;
• longer payment cycles and greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection; and
• potential adverse tax consequences.
The potential impacts of the United Kingdom’s (“UK”) withdrawal from the European Union ("EU") is still unfolding and could, among other
potential outcomes, adversely affect the tax, tax treaty, currency, operational, legal and regulatory regimes to which our businesses are subject, including
those involving data privacy and the regulation of medical devices. The withdrawal could also, among other potential outcomes, disrupt the free movement
of goods, services, people, data and information and significantly disrupt trade. Further, uncertainty around these and related issues could lead to adverse
effects on the economies and political stability of the UK, EU and the other economies in which we operate.
Should any of these factors, either individually or in combination, occur they could materially impact our international operations and adversely affect
our business as a whole.
Demand for our products may not increase as rapidly as we anticipate or may decrease due to a variety of factors, including a weakness in general
economic conditions and resistance to non-traditional treatment methods.
Consumer spending habits are affected by, among other things, pandemics, prevailing economic conditions, levels of employment, salaries and wage
rates, debt obligations, discretionary income, consumer confidence and consumer perception of current and future economic conditions. Declines in, or
uncertain economic outlooks for, the U.S. or certain international economies could adversely affect consumer spending habits which may, among other
things, result in a decrease in the number of overall orthodontic and dental case starts, reduce patient traffic in dentists’ offices, reduce or shift spending
away from elective, non-urgent, or higher value procedures or reduce demand for dental services generally, any of which could materially adversely affect
our sales and operating results. Conversely, the pandemic may have temporarily limited options for consumer spending and demand for our products may
decline once travel and other restrictions are eased. Weakness in the global economy can result in a challenging environment for selling dental technologies
and dentists may postpone investments in capital equipment, such as intraoral scanners and CAD/CAM software. In addition, Invisalign treatment, which
accounts for the vast majority of our net revenues, represents a significant change from traditional metal brackets and wires orthodontic treatment, and
customers and consumers may not find it cost-effective or preferable to traditional treatment. For instance, a number of dental professionals continue to
believe the Invisalign treatment is appropriate for only a limited percentage of patients. Increased market acceptance of our products depends in part upon
the recommendations of dental professionals, as well as other factors including effectiveness, safety, ease of use, reliability, aesthetics, and price compared
to competing products and treatment methods.
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Our success depends on our ability to develop, successfully introduce and achieve market acceptance of new products and services.
Our success depends on our ability to profitably and quickly develop, manufacture, market and obtain regulatory approval or clearance of new
products and services along with improvements to existing products and services. There is no assurance we can successfully develop, sell and achieve
market acceptance of our products and services. The extent of, and rate at which, market acceptance and penetration are achieved by any products or
offerings is a function of many variables, including our ability to:
• correctly predict, timely develop and cost effectively manufacture or bring to market solutions that meet future customer needs and preferences
with the features and functionality they desire or expect;
• allocate our research and development funding to products with higher growth prospects;
• ensure compatibility of our technology, services and systems with those of our customers;
• anticipate and rapidly respond to new competitive products, product offerings and technological innovations;
• differentiate our products and product offerings from our competitors as well as other products in our own portfolio and successfully articulate the
benefits of those differences to our customers;
• innovate and develop new technologies and applications and timely obtain approval or clearance by government agencies such as the FDA and
analogous agencies in other countries;
• qualify for third-party reimbursement for procedures using our products;
• successfully identify, timely develop and/or market new and existing products and services offerings to effectively meet customer demand and
compete in evolving target markets; and
• encourage customers to adopt new technologies and provide the needed technical, sales and marketing support to make new product and services
launches successful.
If we fail to accurately predict customer needs and preferences or fail to produce viable technologies, we may invest heavily in research and
development of products that do not lead to significant revenues. If we successfully innovate and develop new products and product enhancements, we may
incur substantial costs doing so and our profitability may suffer. Even if our new products are successfully introduced, it may be difficult to gain market
share and acceptance, particularly if doctors require education to understand the benefits of the new products or measure their success only after extended
periods of time required to treat patients. For instance, it can take up to 24 months or longer to treat patients using our Invisalign System. Consequently,
doctors may be unwilling to adopt our new products until they successfully complete one or more cases or until more historical clinical results are
available.
Any failure to successfully develop and introduce or achieve market acceptance of new products or enhancements to existing products could
materially adversely affect net revenues and cause our operating results to decline.
We may not achieve the anticipated benefits from our acquisition of exocad in the timeframe expected, or at all, which may have an adverse effect
on our business and our financial results.
We closed our acquisition of exocad on April 1, 2020. There is no guarantee that the acquisition will achieve the desired benefits and synergies or that
the exocad CAD/CAM software will continue to succeed in the marketplace.
In addition, we do not have a history of significant acquisitions and integrating exocad during the COVID-19 pandemic has presented and continues
to pose challenges which may make it difficult to achieve the expected financial, technical or strategic benefits of the acquisition in the time frames
anticipated if at all. Potential risks we may experience include:
• difficulties integrating the business of exocad in the timeframes expected or as anticipated and without adversely impacting our existing operations
or the operations of exocad;
• slower adoption of or technological difficulties uniting our product and service offerings to produce solutions that efficiently and effectively
integrate with the workflows between doctors, laboratories and other market participants;
• diversion of management resources;
• the inability to retain or attract key personnel;
• the failure to accurately estimate the potential markets and market shares for exocad’s products, the nature and extent of competitive responses to
the acquisition and the ability to achieve or exceed projected market growth rates;
• difficulties cost-effectively integrating and dealing with tax, employment, logistics, and other related issues unique to international operations,
particularly when travel restrictions make collaboration efforts more difficult;
• the potential that our due diligence did not uncover risks and potential liabilities, that we fail to adequately mitigate or control them, or that new
risks and potential liabilities associated with exocad arise;
39

Table of Contents
• the failure to successfully manage relationships with Align and exocad’s historic customers, suppliers and strategic partners and develop new
relationships;
• product development delays and errors;
• possible inconsistencies in standards, internal controls, procedures and policies which may make it more difficult to implement and harmonize
company-wide financial reporting, forecasting and budgeting, accounting, billing, information technology and other systems;
• all or material portions of the expected synergies and benefits of the acquisition may change or disappear or may take longer to realize;
• negative impact on our GAAP results of operations, financial condition, and liquidity from acquisition-related costs, charges, amortization of
intangible assets and/or asset or goodwill impairment charges;
• outcomes or rulings in known, or as yet to be discovered, regulatory enforcement, intellectual property and other litigation, anti-bribery and
corruption or other similar matters that are, alone or in the aggregate, materially adverse; and
• our ability to protect our intellectual property rights as well as protect our IT networks from cybersecurity threats and ensure customer and
sensitive personal and health data remain secure.
If we cannot successfully integrate exocad with our existing business, our results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.
As we continue to grow, we are subject to growth related risks, including risks related to excess or constrained capacity and operational
inefficiencies at our manufacturing and treat facilities.
We are subject to growth related risks, including excess or constrained capacity and pressure on our internal systems, personnel and suppliers. In
order to manage current operations and future growth effectively, we must continue implementing and improving our operational, financial and
management information systems, hire, train, motivate, manage and retain employees, and ensure our suppliers remain diverse and capable of meeting
growing demand for the systems, raw materials, parts and components essential to the manufacture and delivery of our products. We may be unable to
manage such growth effectively; balancing near-term efforts to meet existing demand while adding personnel, creating scalable, secure and robust systems
and operations, and automating processes needed for long term efficiencies. Any such failure could have a material adverse impact on our business,
operations and prospects. We continue to establish additional order acquisition, treatment planning and manufacturing facilities closer to our international
customers in order to provide doctors with better experiences, improve their confidence in using the Invisalign System and iTero intraoral scanners to treat
more patients and provide redundancy should other facilities be temporarily or permanently unavailable. Our ability to obtain regulatory clearance and
certifications for, move into, plan, construct and equip additional order acquisition, treatment planning and manufacturing facilities is subject to significant
risk and uncertainty, including risks related to establishing facilities, hiring and retaining employees and delays and cost overruns, any of which may be out
of our control and may negatively impact our gross margin. In addition, any facilities located in higher cost regions compared to Mexico, China and Costa
Rica may negatively impact our gross margin. If the transition into additional facilities is significantly delayed, if a facility is required to temporarily or
permanently, partially or fully shut down, or demand for our products outpaces our ability to hire qualified personnel and effectively implement systems
and infrastructure, we may be unable to fulfill orders timely, or at all, which may negatively impact our financial results, reputation and overall business.
In addition, because adapting production capacity and related cost structures to changing market conditions takes time, our facilities capacity may at
times exceed or fall short of our production requirements. For instance, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic sales in the final weeks of the first quarter of
2020 declined substantially and operations at our manufacturing facilities declined shortly thereafter. Thereafter, as dental practices reopened we
experienced a rapid increase in demand. If product demand decreases or increases more than forecast, we could be required to write off inventory or record
excess capacity charges, we may be required to purchase or lease additional or larger facilities and additional equipment, or we may be unable to fulfill
customer demand in the time frames and with the quantities required, any of which may take time to accomplish, lower our gross margin, inhibit sales or
harm our reputation. Additionally, if we are required to implement new or modify existing health and safety protocols to safeguard our employees,
customers or their patients, productivity could decline. Production of our clear aligners and intraoral scanners may also be limited by capacity constraints
due to a variety of factors, including our dependency on third party vendors for key materials and components in addition to limited production yields. Any
or all of these problems could result in the loss of customers, provide an opportunity for competing products to gain market acceptance and otherwise harm
our business and financial results.
Our products and information technology systems are critical to our business. Issues with product development or enhancements, IT system
integration, implementation, updates and upgrades along with security and data protection risks have previously and could again in the future disrupt
our operations, which could have a material adverse impact on our business and operating results.
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We rely on the efficient, uninterrupted and secure operation of our own complex information technology systems ("IT systems") and are dependent on
key software of third parties embedded in our products and IT systems as well as third party hosted IT systems to support our operations. All software and
IT systems are vulnerable to damage, attack or interruption from a variety of sources. As our business has grown in size and complexity, including through
the integration of acquired businesses, which to date have been smaller organizations with less-mature or less sophisticated systems, securities practices or
training, the growth has placed, and will continue to place, significant demands on our operations and such systems and have increased the risk of security
incidents. To effectively manage our existing operations and continue to grow, our IT systems and applications require an ongoing commitment of
significant resources to maintain, protect, enhance and restore existing systems and develop new systems to keep pace with continuing changes in
information processing technology, evolving industry and regulatory standards, increasingly sophisticated cyber threats, and changing customer
preferences. Expanded remote working and increased usage of online and hosted technology platforms by us, our customers and suppliers as a means to
mitigate the spread of COVID-19 have increased the demands on and risks to our IT systems and personnel. Moreover, we continue to transform certain
business processes, extend established processes to new subsidiaries and/or implement additional functionality in our enterprise resource planning (“ERP”),
product development, manufacturing, and other software and IT systems which entails certain risks, including disruption of our operations, such as our
ability to develop and update products that are safe and secure, track orders and timely ship products, manage our supply chain and aggregate financial and
operational data.
System upgrades, development of new releases and enhancements require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable employee resources.
Delays in integration or disruptions to our business from implementation of these new or upgraded systems could have a material adverse impact on our
financial condition and operating results.
Additionally, we continuously upgrade and issue new releases of our products and customer facing software applications, such as our iTero intraoral
scanners, exocad CAD/CAM solutions, my iTero, our ClinCheck software, MyAligntech and the Invisalign Doctor Site as well as our internal software
applications upon which customer facing, manufacturing and treatment planning operations are dependent. Software applications and products containing
software frequently contain errors or defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions are released. The discovery of a defect, error or
security vulnerability in our products, software applications or IT systems, incompatibility with customers’ computer operating systems and hardware
configurations with a new release or upgraded version or the failure of our products or primary IT systems may cause adverse consequences, including:
delay or loss of revenues, delay in market acceptance, loss of data, disclosure of financial, health or other personal information of our customers or their
patients, product recalls, damage to our reputation, loss of market share or increased service costs, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition or results of operations.
A significant portion of our clear aligner production is dependent on digital scans from our iTero and third party intraoral scanners. Failures of all or
any portion of ours or third party software or other components or systems to interoperate with iTero or third party scanners, termination of interoperability
with third party scanners, malware or ransomware attacks, product or system vulnerabilities or defects, or a system outage for any reason have harmed our
operations previously and in the future could materially adversely effect our ability to accept scans, manufacture clear aligners or otherwise service our
customers which may, amongst other things, harm our sales, damage our reputation, or result in litigation.
If the information we rely on to run our businesses is inaccurate or unreliable, if we fail to properly maintain, secure or restore our IT systems, if the
integrity of our products or IT systems is compromised or questioned or data is lost, or if we fail to develop new capabilities to meet our business needs in a
timely manner, we could suffer operational disruptions, have customer disputes, and fail to produce timely, accurate or complete reports. We may also be
required to respond to regulatory inquiries or actions, forced to defend against litigation or pay damages, penalties or fines, experience increases in
operating and administrative expenses, find it necessary to recall or repair products, rebuild networks or systems, lose existing customers, experience
difficulties attracting new customers or implementing our growth strategies, or suffer other adverse consequences. In addition, experienced computer
programmers and hackers may be able to penetrate the security features of our products, IT systems or our cloud-based software servers hosted by third
parties and misappropriate, destroy or damage our confidential information or that of third parties, expose health, financial data, or other personal
information of our customers and their patients, create system disruptions or cause shutdowns. Furthermore, sophisticated hardware and operating system
software and applications that we either internally develop or procure from third parties may contain defects or present risks in design, development,
manufacture or distribution, including “bugs,” security vulnerabilities, and other problems that can unexpectedly interfere with the operation of the system
or compromise or exploit the safety and security of our products, networks or data. The costs to eliminate, mitigate or recover from security problems,
viruses and bugs could be significant and depending on the nature and extent of the problem and the networks or products impacted, may result in network
or systems interruptions, decreased product sales, or data loss that may have a material adverse impact on our operations, net revenues and operating
results.
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There can be no assurance that our process of improving existing or developing new products or IT systems, integrating new IT systems, protecting
confidential patient health information, and improving service levels will not be delayed or that additional product or IT systems issues will not arise in the
future. Failure to adequately protect and maintain the integrity of our products and IT systems and data may result in a material adverse effect on our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
If we are unable to protect our customer or patient information or if we are unable to comply with applicable privacy, security and data protection
laws, our operations may be severely adversely impacted, patient care could suffer, we could be liable for related damages, and our business, operations
and reputation could be harmed.
We retain confidential customer financial as well as patient health information in addition to our own proprietary information and data essential to our
business operations. Therefore, it is critical that the facilities and infrastructure on which we depend to run our business and the products we develop
remain secure and are also perceived by the marketplace and our customers to be secure. Despite the implementation of security features in our products
and security measures in our IT systems, our products as well as the infrastructure and IT systems on which we depend are vulnerable to physical break-ins,
computer viruses, programming errors or other technical malfunctions, hacking or phishing attacks by third parties, malware and ransomware, employee
error or malfeasance or similar disruptive problems. For example, we have experienced cybersecurity incidents and may again in the future. Further, the
frequency of third party cyber attacks has increased since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. Significant service disruptions, breaches in our
infrastructure and IT systems or other cybersecurity incidents could expose us to litigation or regulatory investigations and could impair our reputation and
competitive position. Affected parties could initiate legal or regulatory action against us, which could cause us to incur significant expense and liability or
result in judicial or governmental orders forcing us to cease operations or modify our business practices in ways that could materially limit or restrict the
products and services we provide. Concerns over our privacy practices could adversely affect others’ perception of us and deter customers, consumers and
partners from using our products. In addition, patient care could suffer, and we could be liable if our products or IT systems fail to deliver accurate and
complete information in a timely manner. We have cybersecurity and other forms of insurance coverage related to a breach event covering expenses for
notification, credit monitoring, investigation, crisis management, public relations and legal advice. The policy also provides coverage for regulatory action
defense including fines and penalties, potential payment card industry fines and penalties and costs related to cyber extortion; however, damage and claims
arising from such incidents may not be covered or may exceed the amount of any coverage.
We are also subject to federal, state and foreign laws and regulations, including ones relating to privacy, data security and protection, content
regulation, and consumer protection among others. We are subject to various national and regional data localization or data residency laws which generally
require that certain types of data collected within a country be stored and processed only within that country or approved countries and other countries are
considering enacting similar data localization or data residency laws. We have and likely will again in the future be required to implement new or expand
existing data storage protocols, build new storage facilities, and/or devote additional resources to comply with the requirements of such laws, any of which
could have significant cost implications. We are also subject to data export restrictions and international transfer laws which prohibit or impose conditions
upon the transfer of such data from one country to another. These laws and regulations are constantly evolving and may be interpreted, applied, created or
amended in a manner that could adversely affect our business.
In addition, we must comply with numerous data privacy and data security requirements that span from individual state and national laws in the U.S.
and China to multinational requirements in the EU. For instance, China has enacted new, complex and highly restrictive cybersecurity, data localization,
and cross border data transfer laws. In the EU, we must comply with the General Data Protection Regulation which serves as a harmonization of EU dataprivacy laws, and in the U.S. we must comply with data privacy and data security provisions of the U.S. Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (“HIPAA”) regulations. Moreover, the number of local and national governments enacting data privacy laws continues to increase and we expect this
trend to continue. Maintaining compliance with these laws and regulations is costly and could require complex changes in the way we do business or
provide services to our customers and their patients. Additionally, our success may be dependent on the success of healthcare providers in managing data
privacy and data security requirements.
If we fail to sustain or increase revenue growth while controlling expenses, our profitability may decline.
If we are to sustain or increase profitability in future periods, we need to continue increasing our net revenues, while controlling expenses. Because
our business and the markets we target are evolving, it is difficult to predict our future operating
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results or levels of growth or declines, and we have not in the past and may be unable in the future to sustain or regain our historical growth rates which
may cause our profitability to decline.
Our operating results have and will continue to fluctuate in the future, which makes predicting the timing and amount of our revenues, costs and
expenditures difficult.
Our quarterly and annual operating results have and will continue to fluctuate for a variety of reasons, including as a result of changing doctor and
consumer product demand. Some of the factors that have historically and in the future could cause our operating results to fluctuate include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

limited visibility into and difficulty predicting from quarter to quarter, the level of activity in our customers’ practices;
changes in geographic, channel, or product mix;
the level of confidence of doctors in our products and changes in the rates at which they recommend or utilize our products for their patients;
weakness in consumer spending and confidence or a slowdown in domestic or international economies;
higher manufacturing, delivery and inventory costs;
competition in general and competitive developments in our target markets;
new programs or business models, new product or services introductions or changes or modifications to existing products and services offerings,
including any impacts related to the timing of orders, product mix or market cannibalization;
changes in relationships with our dental service organizations and distributors, including timing of orders;
changes in the timing of revenue recognition and changes in our average selling prices, including as a result of the timing of receipt of product
orders and shipments, product and services mix, geographic mix, product and services deferrals, the introduction of new products and software
releases, product pricing, bundling and promotions, modifications to our terms and conditions such as payment terms, or as a result of new
accounting pronouncements or changes to critical accounting estimates including, without limitation, those estimates based on such matters as our
predicted usage of additional aligners;
the creditworthiness, liquidity and solvency of our customers and their ability to timely make payments when due;
fluctuations in currency exchange rates against the U.S. dollar;
our inability to scale, suspend or reduce production based on variations in product demand;
seasonal fluctuations, including those related to patient demographics such as teen buying habits in the U.S., China and Europe as well as the
number of doctors in their offices and their availability to take appointments;
success of or changes to our marketing programs from quarter to quarter;
timing and fluctuation of spending around marketing and brand awareness campaigns and industry trade shows;
our reliance on our contract manufacturers for the production of sub-assemblies for our intraoral scanners;
increased advertising or marketing efforts or aggressive price competition from competitors;
changes to our effective tax rate;
unanticipated delays and disruptions in the manufacturing process caused by insufficient capacity or availability of raw materials, turnover in the
labor force or the introduction of new production processes, power outages, natural or other disasters, pandemics or general economic conditions
impacting the solvency of vendors in our supply chain;
underutilization of manufacturing and treat facilities;
major changes in available technology or the preferences of customers may cause our current product offerings to become less competitive or
obsolete;
costs and expenditures in connection with such things as the establishment of treatment planning and fabrication facilities, the hiring and
deployment of personnel, and litigation;
unanticipated delays in our receipt of patient records made through intraoral scanners for any reason;
disruptions to our business due to political, economic or other social instability or any governmental regulatory or similar actions, including the
impact of epidemics and pandemics such as COVID-19, any of which results in changes in consumer spending habits, limiting or restricting
patient visits to orthodontists or general practitioners, as well as any impact on workforce absenteeism;
inaccurate forecasting of net revenues, production and other operating costs;
investments in research and development to develop new products and enhancements; and
material impairments of goodwill and long-lived assets.

To respond to these and other factors, we may make business decisions that adversely affect our operating results such as modifications to our pricing
policy and payment terms, promotions, development efforts, product releases, business structure or operations. Most of our expenses, such as employee
compensation and lease obligations, are relatively fixed in the short term. Moreover, our expense levels are based, in part, on our expectations for future
revenues. As a result, if our net revenues for a particular period fall below expectations, we may be unable to reduce spending to offset any shortfall in net
revenues. Due to these and other factors, we do not believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are meaningful.
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A disruption in the operations of a primary freight carrier or higher shipping costs could cause a decline in our net revenues or a reduction in our
earnings.
We are dependent on commercial freight carriers, primarily UPS, to deliver our products. If the operations of these carriers are disrupted for any
reason, we may be unable to timely deliver our products to our customers. If we cannot deliver our products on time and cost effectively, customers may
choose alternative products causing our net revenues and gross margins to decline, possibly materially. If fuel costs increase, so do our freight costs. In
addition, we earn an increasingly larger portion of our total revenues from international sales. International sales carry higher shipping costs which could
negatively impact our gross margin and results of operations. If freight costs materially increase and we are unable to pass that increase along to our
customers or otherwise offset such increases in our cost of net revenues, our gross margin and financial results could be adversely affected.
If we fail to accurately predict our volume growth and hire too many or too few technicians, the delivery time of our products could be delayed or
our costs may exceed our revenues, each of which could adversely affect our results of operations.
Treatment planning is a key step leading to our manufacturing process which relies on sophisticated computer software. This requires new technicians
to undergo a relatively long training process, often 120 days or longer. As a result, if we are unable to accurately predict our volume growth, we may have
an insufficient number of trained technicians to ensure products are manufactured and delivered within the time frames our customers expect. Such delays
could cause us to lose existing customers or fail to attract new customers. This could cause a decline in our net revenues and net income and could
adversely affect our results of operations. Conversely, if we hire and train too many technicians in anticipation of volume growth that does not materialize,
materializes at a rate slower than anticipated, or if volumes decline, our costs and expenditures may outpace our revenue growth, harming our gross
margins, operating expenses and financial results.
We are dependent on our marketing activities to deepen our market penetration and raise awareness of our brand and products, which may not
prove successful or may become less effective or more costly to maintain in the long term.
Our marketing efforts and costs are significant and include national and regional campaigns involving television, print media, social media and, more
recently, alliances with professional sports teams, social media influencers and other strategic partners. We attempt to structure our advertising campaigns
to increase brand awareness, adoption and goodwill; however, there is no assurance our campaigns will achieve the returns on advertising spend desired,
successfully increase brand or product awareness sufficiently to sustain or increase our growth goals, or generate the goodwill and positive reputational
goals we intend. Moreover, should any of these entities or individuals do, say, publish or lend support to events or causes which may be perceived by all or
any portion of society negatively, our sponsorships or support of these entities or individuals may be called into question, boycotts of our products
announced, and our reputation may be harmed, any of which could have an adverse effect on our gross margin and business overall. In addition, various
countries restrict direct to consumer advertising of our products and we could run afoul of restrictions and be ordered to stop certain marketing activities.
Additionally, we rely heavily on data generated from our campaigns to target specific audiences and evaluate their effectiveness, particularly data
generated from Internet activities on mobile devices. To obtain this data, we are dependent on third parties and popular mobile operating systems, networks,
technologies, products, and standards that we do not control, such as the Android and iOS operating systems and mobile browsers. Any changes in such
systems that degrade, reduce or eliminate our ability to target or measure the results of ads or increase costs to target audiences could adversely affect the
effectiveness of our campaigns. For example, Apple recently released iOS 14 that includes significant data privacy changes that may limit our ability to
interpret, target and measure ads effectively.
Our success depends in part on our proprietary technology, and if we fail to successfully obtain or enforce our intellectual property rights, our
competitive position may be harmed. Litigating claims of this type are costly and could distract our management and cause a decline in our results of
operations and stock price.
Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain existing intellectual property ("IP") rights and to obtain and maintain further IP protection for
our products. Our inability to do so could harm our competitive position.
We rely on our portfolio of issued and pending patent applications in the U.S. and in other countries to protect a large part of our IP and our
competitive position; however, our currently pending or future patent filings may not result in the issuance of patents. Additionally, any patents issued to us
may be challenged, invalidated, held unenforceable, circumvented, or may not be sufficiently broad to prevent third parties from producing competing
products similar in design to our products. In addition, any protection afforded by foreign patents may be more limited than that provided under U.S.
patents and IP laws. Moreover, our
44

Table of Contents
foreign patent portfolio is less extensive than our U.S. portfolio. We also rely on protection of our copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, know-how and
proprietary information. We generally enter into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants and our collaborative partners upon
commencement of a relationship with us; however, these agreements may not provide meaningful protection against the unauthorized use or disclosure of
our trade secrets or other confidential information, and adequate remedies may not exist if unauthorized use or disclosure were to occur. Our inability to
maintain the proprietary nature of our technology through patents, copyrights or trade secrets would impair our competitive advantages and could have a
material adverse effect on our operating results, financial condition and future growth prospects. In particular, a failure to protect our proprietary rights
might allow competitors to copy our technology, which could adversely affect our pricing and market share. In addition, in an effort to protect our IP we are
currently involved in litigation and expect to be in the future. The potential effects on our business operations resulting from litigation, whether or not
ultimately determined in our favor or settled by us, are costly and divert the efforts and attention of our management and technical personnel from normal
business operations.
Litigation, interferences, oppositions, re-exams, inter partes reviews, post grant reviews or other proceedings have been necessary and likely will be
needed in the future to determine the validity and scope of certain of our IP rights and the IP rights claimed by third parties to determine the validity, scope
or non-infringement of certain patent rights pertinent to the manufacture, use or sale of our products. Asserting or defending these types of proceedings can
be unpredictable, protracted, time consuming, expensive and distracting to management. The outcome of such proceedings could adversely affect the
validity and scope of our patent or other proprietary rights, hinder our ability to manufacture and market our products, require us to seek a license for the
infringed product or technology or result in the assessment of significant monetary damages. An unfavorable ruling could include monetary damages, an
injunction prohibiting us from selling our products, or an exclusion order preventing us from importing our products in one or more countries. Moreover,
independent actions by competitors, customers or others have been brought alleging that our efforts to assert or attempt to enforce our patent or other
intellectual property rights constitute unfair competition or violations of antitrust laws in the U.S. and other jurisdictions and investigations and additional
litigation based on the same or similar claims may be brought in the future. Any of these litigation efforts or adverse litigation results could adversely affect
our results of operations and stock price.
Obtaining approvals and complying with governmental regulations, particularly those related to personal healthcare information, financial
information and data privacy, is expensive and time-consuming, and any failure to obtain or maintain approvals or comply with regulations regarding
our products or services or the products and services of our suppliers or customers could materially harm our sales, result in substantial penalties and
cause harm to our reputation.
As a supplier of medical devices and solutions, we and many of our customers and suppliers are subject to extensive and frequently changing
regulations under numerous federal, state, local and foreign laws. Our healthcare provider customers and distributors are also subject to a wide variety of
laws and regulations that affect the nature and scope of their relationships with us. The healthcare market itself is highly regulated and subject to changing
political, economic and regulatory influences. For instance, regulations affecting the security and privacy of patient healthcare information held by
healthcare providers and their business associates such as HIPAA may require us to make significant and unplanned enhancements of software applications
or services, result in delays or cancellations of orders, or result in the revocation of endorsement of our products and services by healthcare participants.
Our critical vendors and service providers are similarly subject to various regulations. Our failure, or the failure of our suppliers, customers, advertisers and
influencers to strictly adhere to clearances or approvals in the labeling, marketing and sales of our products and services could subject us to claims or
litigation, including actions alleging false or misleading advertising, unfair or anti-competitive business practices or other violations of laws or regulations,
which may result in costly investigations, fines, penalties, as well as material judgments, settlements or decrees. There can be no assurance that we will
adequately address the business risks associated with the implementation and compliance with such laws or that we will be able to take advantage of any
resulting business opportunities.
Furthermore, in general before we can sell a new medical device or market a new use of or claim for an existing product, we must obtain clearance or
approval unless an exemption applies. For instance, in the U.S., FDA regulations are wide ranging and govern, among other things:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

product design, development, manufacturing and testing;
product labeling;
product storage;
pre-market clearance or approval;
complaint handling and corrective actions;
advertising and promotion; and
product sales and distribution.
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It takes significant time, effort and expense to obtain and maintain FDA clearances or approvals of products and services. In other countries, the
requirements to obtain and maintain similar approvals may differ materially from those of the FDA. Moreover, there is no guarantee we will successfully
obtain or maintain approvals in all or any of the countries in which we do business now or in the future. Even if successful, the time and effort required
may be significant and costly. The impact of COVID-19 on normal governmental operations may delay our efforts to obtain and maintain approvals,
possibly significantly. If approvals to market our products or services are delayed, whether in the U.S. or other countries, we may be unable to market our
products or services in markets we deem important to our business. Were any of these risks to occur, our domestic or international operations may be
materially harmed, and our business as a whole adversely impacted.
In addition, our failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements could result in enforcement actions in the U.S. and other countries. For
example, enforcement actions by the FDA may include one or more of the following sanctions:
•
•
•
•
•
•

warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;
repair, replacement, refunds, recall or seizure of our products;
operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or pre-market approval of new products, new intended uses, or modifications to existing products;
withdrawing clearance or pre-market approvals previously granted; and
criminal prosecution.

We and certain of our vendors must also comply with facility registration and product listing requirements of the FDA and adhere to applicable
Quality System regulations. The FDA enforces its Quality System regulations through periodic unannounced inspections. Our failure to satisfactorily
correct an adverse inspection finding or to comply with applicable manufacturing regulations could result in enforcement actions, and we may be required
to find alternative manufacturers, which could be a long and costly process. Any enforcement action by the FDA or foreign governments could have a
material adverse effect on us.
In addition, numerous foreign, state and federal healthcare-related laws regulate our business and the businesses of our customers, suppliers and
service providers, covering areas such as:
• the storage, transmission and disclosure of medical information and healthcare records;
• prohibitions against the offer, payment or receipt of remuneration to induce referrals to entities providing healthcare services or goods or to induce
the order, purchase or recommendation of our products; and
• the marketing and advertising of our products.
The sourcing and availability of metals that may be used in the manufacture of, or contained in, our products may be affected by laws and regulations
in the U.S. or internationally regarding the use of minerals obtained from certain regions of the world like the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining
countries. These laws and regulations may decrease the number of suppliers capable of supplying our needs for certain metals, thereby negatively affecting
our ability to manufacture products in sufficient quantities or at competitive prices. We may furthermore suffer financial and reputational harm if customers
require, and we are unable to deliver, certification that our products are conflict free. Regardless, compliance with these laws and regulations will require
time and effort by our personnel and others and we will incur additional costs.
If we or any vendors on whose products or services we rely for our products and services infringe the patents or IP rights of other parties or are
subject to a patent infringement claim, our ability to grow our business may be severely limited.
Extensive litigation over patents and other IP rights is common in the medical device, optical scanner, 3D printing and other technologies and
industries on which our products and services are based. We have been sued for infringement of third party’s patents in the past and we are currently
defending patent infringement suits and other legal claims. In addition, we periodically receive letters from third parties drawing our attention to their
patent rights. While we do not believe we infringe upon any valid and enforceable rights that have been brought to our attention, there may be other more
pertinent rights of which we are presently unaware. The defense and prosecution of IP suits, interference proceedings and related legal and administrative
proceedings could result in substantial expense to us and significant diversion of effort by our technical and management personnel. An adverse
determination in any legal proceeding to which we may become a party could subject us to significant liabilities, exclusion orders or injunctions that may
prevent or limit our rights to sell or import our products in one or more countries. An adverse determination of this nature could require us to seek licenses
from third parties. Licenses may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all, in which event, our business would be materially adversely
affected.
We maintain single supply relationships for certain key machines and materials, and our business and operating results could be harmed if supply
is restricted or ends or the price of raw materials used in our manufacturing process increases.
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We are highly dependent on manufacturers of specialized scanning equipment, rapid prototyping machines, resin and other advanced materials, as
well as the optics, electronic and other mechanical components of our intraoral scanners. We maintain single supply relationships for many of these
machines and materials. In particular, our CT scanning and stereolithography equipment used in our aligner manufacturing and many of the critical
components for the optics of our scanners are provided by single suppliers. We purchase the vast majority of our resin and polymer, the primary raw
materials used in our manufacturing process for clear aligners, from a single source. Moreover, we rely on a third-party manufacturer to supply key subassemblies for our iTero Element scanner. If these or other suppliers encounter financial, operating or other difficulties, are unable to hire or maintain
personnel, cannot timely obtain supplies, are unable to maintain manufacturing standards or controls, fail to timely deliver materials, parts or components,
or if our relationship or the terms by which we contract with any of them changes, we may be unable to quickly establish or qualify replacement sources of
supply and could face production interruptions, delays and inefficiencies. Finding substitute manufacturers may be expensive, time-consuming or
impossible and could result in a significant interruption in the supply of one or more products, including our intraoral scanners, causing us to lose revenues
and suffer damage to our customer relationships. In addition, technology changes by our vendors could disrupt access to required manufacturing capacity
or require expensive, time consuming development efforts to adapt and integrate new equipment or processes. Our growth may exceed the capacity of one
or more of these manufacturers to produce the needed equipment and materials in sufficient quantities to support our growth. Conversely, in order to secure
supplies for production of products, we sometimes enter into non-cancelable minimum purchase commitments with vendors, which could impact our
ability to adjust our inventory to reflect declining market demands. If demand for our products is less than we expect, we may experience additional excess
and obsolete inventories and be forced to incur additional charges and our profitability may suffer. In the event of technology changes, delivery delays, or
shortages of or increases in price for these items, our business and growth prospects may be harmed.
We primarily rely on our direct sales force to sell our products, and any failure to train and maintain our key sales force personnel could harm our
business.
Our ability to sell our products and generate revenues primarily depends upon the success of our direct sales force within our Americas and
International markets. We do not have any long-term employment contracts with our direct sales force and the loss of the services of key personnel or
groups of employees may harm our business. In order to provide more comprehensive sales and service coverage and pursue growth opportunities, we
continue to increase the size of our sales force domestically and internationally. Moreover, as we focus on market penetration, we have segregated sales
personnel to focus on specific markets such as orthodontists and GPs. It can take up to twelve months or more to train sales representatives to successfully
market and sell our products and for them to establish strong customer relationships. If we are unable to expand our sales force, retain our key sales
personnel or quickly replace them with individuals of equivalent technical expertise and qualifications, if we are unable to successfully instill technical
expertise in new and existing sales representatives, if we fail to establish and maintain strong relationships with our customers, or if our efforts at
specializing our selling techniques prove unsuccessful or not cost-effective, our net revenues and our ability to maintain market share could be materially
harmed.
We use distributors for a portion of the importation, marketing and sales efforts related to our products and services, which exposes us to risks that
may be harmful to our sales and operations.
In addition to our direct sales force, we have and expect to continue to use distributors to import, market, sell, service and support our products. Our
agreements with these distributors are generally non-exclusive and terminable by either party with little notice. If any of these relationships are terminated
and alternative distributors are not quickly found and trained in the use, marketing, sales and support of our products and services, our revenues and ability
to sell or service our products in markets key to our growth and expansion could be adversely affected. These distributors may also choose to sell
alternative or competing products or services. In addition, we may be held responsible for the actions of these distributors and their employees and agents
for compliance with laws and regulations, including competition, bribery and corruption, and medical device and services marketing and sales activities. A
distributor may also affect our ability to effectively market our products in certain foreign countries or regulatory jurisdictions if it holds the regulatory
authorization in such countries or within such regions and causes, by action or inaction, the suspension of such marketing authorization or sanctions for
non-compliance. It may be difficult, expensive, and time-consuming for us to re-establish market access or regulatory compliance in such cases.
Our business exposes us to potential liability for the quality and safety of our products and services, how we advertise and market those products
and services and how and to whom we sell them, and we may incur substantial expenses or be found liable for substantial damages or penalties if we
are subject to claims or litigation.
Our products and services involve an inherent risk of claims concerning their design, manufacture, safety and performance, how they are marketed
and advertised in a complex framework of highly regulated domestic and international
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laws and regulations, how we package, bundle or sell them to customers who may be private individuals or companies or public entities such as hospitals
and clinics and how we train and support doctors, their staffs and patients who administer or use our products. Moreover, consumer products and services
are routinely subject to claims of false, deceptive or misleading advertising, consumer fraud and unfair business practices. Additionally, we may be held
liable if any product we develop or manufacture or services we offer or perform causes injury or is otherwise found unhealthy or unsuitable. Even if our
products are safe, if they are promoted for use or used in unintended or unexpected ways or for which we have not obtained clearance or approvals (“offlabel” usage), we may be investigated, fined or have our products or services enjoined or clearances rescinded by administrative agencies or we may be
required to defend ourselves in litigation. Although we intend to continue to maintain insurance for product liability, business practices and other types of
activities we make or offer, coverage may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all, and may not be sufficient against potential liabilities. Any claim for
product liability, sales, advertising and business practices, regardless of its merit or eventual outcome, could result in significant legal defense costs and
damage our reputation, increase our expenses and diverting management’s attention away from the operation of our business.
We are subject to risks associated with our strategic investments. Impairments in the value of our investments could negatively impact our financial
results.
We have and expect to continue to make investments in research and technology that we deem promising, primarily through privately held
companies, for strategic reasons and to support key business initiatives, and we may not realize a return on our strategic investments. Of the companies in
which we invest, they may generate net losses and the market for their products, services or technologies may be slow to develop, if at all. Furthermore,
valuations of privately held companies are inherently complex due to the lack of readily available market data. If we determine that our investments have
declined in value, we may be required to record impairments which could be material and could have an adverse impact on our financial results.
General Risk Factors
We rely on highly skilled personnel and, if we fail to attract, motivate or retain personnel, or if our growth harms our corporate culture, it may be
more difficult to grow effectively and pursue our strategic priorities.
To be successful, we must effectively manage our growth which depends on our ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate, and retain personnel
throughout our organization. We are highly dependent on the talent and effort of highly skilled employees, including orthodontists and production
technicians in our treatment planning facilities and employees in our clinical engineering, technology development, manufacturing, sales, and management
teams. The loss of the services provided by these employees may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our development and business
objectives and could harm our business.
Moreover, competition for qualified employees in our industry is intense, and our employees are targeted by other employers. Our compensation and
benefit arrangements, such as our equity award programs and telecommuting policies, may not always be successful in attracting new employees and
retaining and motivating our existing employees. Furthermore, other internal and external factors can impact our ability to hire and retain talent, including
insufficient advancement or career opportunities and restrictive immigration policy and regulatory changes.
Additionally, are committed to a corporate culture that focuses on values emphasizing agility, customer and accountability. We believe this culture
fosters an environment of integrity, innovation, creativity, and teamwork but we have also experienced in the past and expect to experience in the future,
difficulties attracting and retaining employees that meet the qualifications, experience, compliance mindset and values we expect. If we are unable to attract
and retain personnel that meet our selection criteria or we relax our standards in order to meet the demands of our growth or if our growth is not managed
effectively, our corporate culture, ability to achieve our strategic objectives, and our compliance with obligations under our internal controls and other
requirements may be harmed.
Business disruptions could seriously harm our financial condition.
Our global operations may be disrupted by natural or human induced disasters including, earthquakes, tsunamis, floods, drought, hurricanes,
typhoons, wildfires, extreme weather conditions, power shortages, telecommunications failures, materials scarcity and price volatility, and medical
epidemics or health pandemics. For instance, the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent recovery materially impacted our sales and business operations in
2020, the operations of our customers and the global economy overall. Climate change may increase both the frequency and severity of natural disasters
and, consequently, risks to our operations and growth. The occurrence of business disruptions could harm our growth and expansion, result in significant
losses, seriously harm our revenue, profitability and financial condition, adversely affect our competitive position, increase our costs and expenses, and
require substantial expenditures and recovery time in order to fully resume operations. Our digital dental modeling is primarily processed in our facility
located in San Jose, Costa Rica. The operations teams in Costa Rica and
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other global locations create ClinCheck treatment plans using sophisticated computer software. In addition, certain of our customer facing operations are
located in Costa Rica. Our aligner molds and finished aligners are fabricated in Mexico and China. Both locations in Costa Rica and Mexico as well as
others are in earthquake zones and may be subject to other natural disasters. If there is a major earthquake or any other natural disaster in a region where
one of these facilities is located, our ability to create ClinCheck treatment plans, respond to customer inquiries or manufacture and ship our aligners could
be compromised which could result in our customers experiencing significant delays receiving their aligners and a decrease in service levels for a period of
time. Moreover, a significant portion of our research and development activities are located in California, which suffers from earthquakes, periodic
droughts, and wildfires affecting the health and safety of our employees. Any such business interruptions could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
Changes in, or interpretations of, accounting rules and regulations, could result in unfavorable accounting charges.
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. These principles are subject to interpretation by the SEC and
various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate accounting policies. A change in these policies or in the way these policies are interpreted by us or
regulators can have a significant effect on our reported results and may even retroactively affect previously reported transactions.
We are required to annually assess our internal control over financial reporting and any adverse results from such assessment may result in a loss
of investor confidence in our financial reports and have an adverse effect on our stock price.
We routinely assess, update and refine our internal control over financial reporting for its effectiveness. Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC, we are required to furnish in our Form 10-K a report by our management regarding the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting. The report includes, among other things, an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, including a statement as to whether or not our internal control over financial reporting is effective. This
assessment must include disclosure of any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting identified by management. Our internal
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions including changes in personnel, updates and upgrades to existing software including our
ERP software system, changes in accounting standards or interpretations of existing standards, and, as a result, the degree of compliance of our internal
control over financial reporting with the existing policies or procedures may become ineffective. Establishing, testing and maintaining an effective system
of internal control over financial reporting requires significant resources and time commitments on the part of our management and our finance staff, may
require additional staffing and infrastructure investments and increases our costs of doing business. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over
financial reporting is effective in any future period (or if our auditors are unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls or
conclude that our internal controls are ineffective), the timely filing of our financial reports could be delayed or we could be required to restate past reports,
and cause us to lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports in the future, which could have an adverse effect on our
stock price.
We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Although the U.S. dollar is our reporting currency, a growing portion of our net revenues and net income are generated in foreign currencies. Net
revenues and net income generated by subsidiaries operating outside of the U.S. are translated into U.S. dollars using constantly fluctuating, often
substantially, exchange rates. As a result, negative movements in exchange rates against the U.S. dollar have and may increasingly adversely affect our net
revenues and net income in our consolidated financial statements. We enter into currency forward contract transactions in an effort to cover some of our
exposure to currency fluctuations but there is no assurance these transactions will fully or effectively hedge our exposure to currency fluctuations, and,
under certain circumstances, these transactions could have an adverse effect on our financial condition.
If we fail to manage our exposure to global financial and securities market risk successfully, our operating results and financial statements could
be materially impacted.
The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal. To achieve this objective, a majority of our marketable investments are
investment grade, liquid, fixed-income securities and money market instruments denominated in U.S. dollars. If the carrying value of an investment
exceeds the fair value, and the decline in fair value is deemed to be other-than-temporary, we are required to write down the value of the investment, which
could materially harm our results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, the performance of certain securities in our investment portfolio
correlates with the credit condition of the U.S. financial sector. In an unstable credit or economic environment, it is necessary to assess the
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value of our investments more frequently and we might incur significant realized, unrealized or impairment losses associated with these investments.
If our goodwill or long-lived assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.
Under GAAP, we review our goodwill and long-lived asset group for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Additionally, goodwill is required to be tested for impairment at least annually. The qualitative and quantitative analysis used to
test goodwill are dependent upon various assumptions and reflect management’s best estimates. Changes in certain assumptions including revenue growth
rates, discount rates, earnings multiples and future cash flows may cause a change in circumstances indicating that the carrying value of goodwill or the
asset group may be impaired and assessing these assumptions and predicting and forecasting future events can be difficult. Large acquisitions, such as our
acquisition of exocad in 2020, require periodic fair value assessments of goodwill and purchased assets to determine if they have become impaired.
Consequently, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings in the financial statements during the period in which any impairment of
goodwill or long-lived asset group is determined.
Our effective tax rate may vary significantly from period to period.
Various internal and external factors may have favorable or unfavorable effects on our future effective tax rate. These factors include, but are not
limited to, changes in global economic environment, changes in legal entity structure or activities performed within our entities, changes in tax laws,
regulations and/or rates, new or changes to accounting pronouncements, changing interpretations of existing tax laws or regulations, changes in the relative
proportions of revenues and income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have differing statutory tax rates, changes in overall
levels of pretax earnings, the future levels of tax benefits of stock-based compensation, settlement of income tax audits and non-deductible goodwill
impairments. For example, our effective tax rate varied significantly in the first quarter of fiscal 2020 due to the relocation of our EMEA regional
headquarters from the Netherlands to Switzerland. Our effective tax rate is also dependent in part on forecasts of full year results which can vary materially.
Furthermore, we may continue to experience significant variation in our effective tax rate related to excess tax benefits on stock-based compensation,
particularly in the first quarter of each year when the majority of our equity awards vest.
New tax laws, or changes in existing tax laws or tax rulings or the way they are applied to our business could negatively impact our income tax
provision and net income or subject us to new or greater tax burdens that may harm our sales or results of operations.
As a U.S. multinational corporation, we are subject to changing tax laws both within and outside of the U.S. Changes in tax laws or tax rulings, or
changes in interpretations of existing tax laws, could affect our income tax provision and net income or require us to change the manner in which we
operate our business. In addition, governmental tax authorities are increasingly scrutinizing the tax positions of companies. Many countries in Europe, as
well as a number of other countries and organizations, have recently proposed or recommended changes to existing tax laws or have enacted new laws. For
example, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”) has been working on a “Base Erosion and Profit Shifting Project,”
which is focused on a number of issues, including the shifting of profits between affiliated entities in different tax jurisdictions. The OECD has issued and
is expected to continue to issue, guidelines and proposals that may change various aspects of the existing framework under which our tax obligations are
determined in many of the countries in which we do business.
Moreover, the application of indirect taxes (such as sales and use tax (“SUT”), value-added tax (“VAT”), goods and services tax (“GST”), and other
indirect taxes) to our operations is complex and evolving. U.S. states, local and foreign taxing jurisdictions have differing rules and regulations governing
differing types of taxes, and these rules and regulations are subject to varying interpretations that may change over time. We collect and remit SUT, VAT,
GST and other taxes in many jurisdictions and we are routinely subject to audits. The positions we take regarding taxes as well as the amounts we collect or
remit may be challenged and we may be liable for failing to collect or remit all or any portion of taxes deemed owed or the taxes could exceed our
estimates. We may also be subject to audits in U.S. states, local and foreign jurisdictions for which we have not accrued tax liabilities. One or more U.S.
states or countries may seek to impose incremental or new sales, use, or other tax collection obligations on us or may determine that such taxes should have
but have not been paid by us. The application of existing, new, or future tax laws, and results of audits, whether in the U.S. or internationally, could harm
our business. Furthermore there have been and will continue to be substantial ongoing costs associated with complying with the various tax requirements in
the numerous markets in which we conduct or will conduct business.
We have in the past and may again in the future acquire other businesses, products or technologies which could require significant management
attention, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and adversely affect our results of operations.
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Periodically, we may acquire, or make investments in, complementary companies, products or technologies like our acquisition of exocad in 2020.
Alternatively, we may be unable to find suitable acquisition targets in the future, and we may not be able to complete acquisitions on favorable terms, if at
all. If we do complete acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals or desired synergies, and any
acquisitions we complete could be viewed negatively by our customers, securities analysts and investors. Additionally, as an organization we do not have a
history of significant acquisitions or integrating their operations and cultures with our own. If we fail to successfully integrate any acquisitions or the
technologies acquired, our revenue and results of operations could be adversely affected or we may inherit or fail to uncover material issues of the acquired
company or assets, including litigation or ongoing investigations, accounting irregularities or improprieties, failure to comply with regulations,
governmental orders or decrees, and IT security and privacy compliance issues. Any integration process may require significant time and resources and we
may not successfully evaluate or utilize the acquired technology, or we may fail to retain key personnel, or accurately forecast the financial impact of an
acquired business. We may have to pay cash, incur debt or issue equity securities to pay for an acquisition, which could adversely affect our liquidity,
financial condition or the value of our common stock. The sale of equity or issuance of debt to finance any acquisition could result in dilution to our
stockholders. The occurrence of indebtedness would result in increased fixed obligations and could also include covenants or other restrictions that would
impede our ability to manage our operations.
Moreover, opposition to one of more acquisitions could lead to negative ratings by analysts or investors, give rise to objections by one or more
stockholders or result in stockholder activism, any of which could harm our stock price. Acquisitions can also lead to large non-cash charges that can have
an adverse effect on our results of operations as a result of write-offs for items such as future impairments of intangible assets and goodwill or the recording
of stock-based compensation.
Historically, the market price for our common stock has been volatile.
The market price of our common stock is subject to wide price fluctuations in response to various factors, many of which are beyond our control. The
factors include:
• the impact on global and regional economies as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic;
• quarterly variations in our results of operations and liquidity or changes in our forecasts and guidance;
• changes in recommendations by the investment community or speculation in the press or investment community regarding estimates of our net
revenues, operating results or other performance indicators;
• announcements by us or our competitors or new market entrants, including strategic actions, management changes, and material transactions or
acquisitions;
• technical factors in the public trading markets for our stock that may produce price movements that may or may not comport with macro, industry
or company-specific fundamentals, including, without limitation, the sentiment of retail investors (including as it may be expressed on financial
trading and other social media sites), the amount and status of short interest in our securities, access to margin debt, trading in options and other
derivatives on our common stock, fractional share trading, and other technical trading factors or strategies;
• announcements regarding stock repurchases, sales of our common stock, credit agreements and debt issuances;
• announcements of technological innovations, new, additional or revised programs, business models, products or product offerings by us, our
customers or competitors;
• key decisions in pending litigation;
• sales of stock by us, our officers or directors; and
• general economic market conditions.
In addition, the stock market in general, and the market for technology and medical device companies, in particular, have experienced extreme price
and volume fluctuations that are often unrelated to or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. These broad market and industry
factors may include market expectations of, or actual changes in, monetary policies that have the goal of easing or tightening interest rates such as the
federal funds rate in the U.S. and austerity measures of governments intended to control budget deficits. Historically, our stock has fluctuated materially
based on broad economic and industry factors unrelated to our actual performance and future changes in monetary policies, austerity, and other market
factors may seriously harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. Historically, class action litigation is often
brought against an issuing company following periods of volatility in the market price of its securities and we have not been excepted from such litigation.
We cannot guarantee we will repurchase our common stock again in the future, and any repurchases may not achieve our objectives.
We have a history of recurring stock repurchase programs intended to return capital to our investors. Although repurchases were suspended in 2020
primarily as a result of uncertainties regarding the pandemic, we ended the suspension in the second quarter of 2021 with two accelerated stock repurchase
programs in the aggregate amount of $200 million which also
51

Table of Contents
included the announcement of a $1 billion stock repurchase authorization by our Board of Directors. Any further authorizations or continuance of existing
stock repurchase programs is contingent on a variety of factors, including our financial condition, results of operations, business requirements, and our
Board of Directors' continuing determination that stock repurchases are in the best interests of our stockholders and in compliance with all applicable laws
and agreements. There is no assurance that we will continue repurchasing our common stock in the future, consistent with historical levels or at all, or that
our stock repurchase programs will have a beneficial impact on our stock price.
Future sales of significant amounts of our common stock may depress our stock price.
A large percentage of our outstanding common stock is currently owned by a small number of significant stockholders. These stockholders have sold
in the past, and may sell in the future, large amounts of common stock over relatively short periods of time. Sales of substantial amounts of our common
stock in the public market by existing stockholders may adversely affect the market price of our common stock by creating the perception of difficulties or
problems with our business that may depress our stock price.
Increased scrutiny of our environmental, social or governance responsibilities have and will likely continue to result in additional costs and risks,
and may adversely impact our reputation, employee retention, and willingness of customers and suppliers to do business with us.
Investor advocacy groups, institutional investors, investment funds, proxy advisory services, stockholders, and customers are increasingly focused on
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") practices of companies. Additionally, public interest and legislative pressure related to public companies’
ESG practices continues to grow. If our ESG practices fail to meet regulatory requirements or investor or other industry stakeholders' evolving expectations
and standards for responsible corporate citizenship in areas including environmental stewardship, support for local communities, Board of Director and
employee diversity, human capital management, employee health and safety practices, product quality, supply chain management, corporate governance
and transparency and employing ESG strategies in our operations, our brand, reputation and employee retention may be negatively impacted and customers
and suppliers may be unwilling to do business with us. In addition, as we work to align our ESG practices with industry standards, we have expanded and,
in the future, will likely continue to expand our disclosures in these areas. We also expect to incur additional costs and require additional resources to
monitor, report, and comply with our various ESG practices. If we fail to adopt ESG standards or practices as quickly as stakeholders desire, report on our
ESG efforts or practices accurately, or satisfy the expectations of stakeholders, our reputation, business, financial performance and growth may be
adversely impacted.
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ITEM 2.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
The following table summarizes the stock repurchase activity for the three months ended June 30, 2021:

Period

Total Number of
Shares Repurchased

April 1, 2021 through April 30, 2021
May 1, 2021 through May 31, 2021
June 1, 2021 through June 30, 2021
Total
(1)

—
277,314
—
277,314

Average Price Paid
per Share

$
$
$

—
576.96
—

Approximate Dollar Value of
Shares that May Yet Be
Repurchased Under the
Programs(1)

Total Number of Shares
Repurchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Programs

—
277,314
—
277,314

$
$
$

100,000,000
900,000,000
—

Stock Repurchase Programs:
◦

May 2018 Repurchase Program. In April 2021, we entered into an accelerated stock repurchase agreement ("ASR") to repurchase $100.0 million
of our common stock, completing our May 2018 Repurchase Program. We paid $100.0 million on May 3, 2021 and received an initial delivery of
approximately 0.1 million shares based on current market price of $595.53, which were retired.

◦

May 2021 Repurchase Program. In May 2021, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized a plan to repurchase up to $1.0 billion of
our common stock. In the same period, we entered into an ASR to repurchase $100.0 million of our common stock. We paid $100.0 million on
May 18, 2021 and received an initial delivery of approximately 0.1 million shares based on current market price of $559.52, which were retired.
Subsequent to the second quarter, on July 30, 2021, we entered into an ASR to repurchase $75.0 million of our common stock. We paid $75.0
million on August 2, 2021 and received an initial delivery of approximately 0.1 million shares based on current market prices. The final number of
shares to be repurchased will be based on our volume-weighted average stock price under the terms of the ASR, less an agreed upon discount.
See Note 9 “Common Stock Repurchase Programs” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for details on the repurchase
programs.

ITEM 3.

DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.
ITEM 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
ITEM 5.

OTHER INFORMATION

None
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ITEM 6.

EXHIBITS

(a) Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number

3.02
10.1
10.2
31.1
31.2
32.1†
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Description

Filing

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Align Technology, Inc.
Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Confirmation
between Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Align Technology, Inc. dated
April 30, 2021
Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Confirmation
between Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and Align Technology, Inc. dated
May 17, 2021
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not
appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document).
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)

†

Date

Exhibit
Number

Filed
herewith

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the SEC and are not to be incorporated by
reference into any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
August 4, 2021

By:

/s/ JOSEPH M. HOGAN
Joseph M. Hogan
President and Chief Executive Officer

By:

/s/ JOHN F. MORICI
John F. Morici
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Global Finance

55

Exhibit 3.02

AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF
ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
(as amended and restated on June 23, 2021)

TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page

ARTICLE I - CORPORATE OFFICES
1.1

REGISTERED OFFICE

1.2

OTHER OFFICES

ARTICLE II - MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
2.1

PLACE OF MEETINGS

2.2

ANNUAL MEETING

2.3

SPECIAL MEETING

2.4

ADVANCE NOTICE PROCEDURES

2.5

NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

2.6

QUORUM

2.7

ADJOURNED MEETING; NOTICE

2.8

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

2.9

VOTING

2.10

STOCKHOLDER ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING

2.11

RECORD DATES

2.12

PROXIES

2.13

LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS ENTITLED TO VOTE

2.14

INSPECTORS OF ELECTION

ARTICLE III - DIRECTORS
3.1

POWERS

3.2

NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

3.3

ELECTION, QUALIFICATION AND TERM OF OFFICE OF DIRECTORS

3.4

RESIGNATION AND VACANCIES

3.5

PLACE OF MEETINGS; MEETINGS BY TELEPHONE

3.6

REGULAR MEETINGS

3.7

SPECIAL MEETINGS; NOTICE

3.8

QUORUM; VOTING

3.9

BOARD ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING

3.10

FEES AND COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

3 11

REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
2
5
6
6
6
6
7
7
8
8
9
9
9
10
10
10
11
11
11
12
12
12
12

3.11

REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

ARTICLE IV - COMMITTEES
4.1

COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

4.2

COMMITTEE MINUTES

4.3

MEETINGS AND ACTION OF COMMITTEES

4.4

SUBCOMMITTEES

ARTICLE V - OFFICERS
5.1

OFFICERS

5.2

APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS; COMPENSATION OF OFFICERS

5.3

SUBORDINATE OFFICERS

5.4

REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS

5.5

VACANCIES IN OFFICES

5.6

REPRESENTATION OF SHARES OF OTHER CORPORATIONS

12
12
13
13
14
14
14
14
14
14
15
15

TABLE OF CONTENTS
(continued)
Page

5.7

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS

ARTICLE VI - STOCK
6.1

STOCK CERTIFICATES; PARTLY PAID SHARES

6.2

SPECIAL DESIGNATION ON CERTIFICATES

6.3

LOST CERTIFICATES

6.4

DIVIDENDS

6.5

TRANSFER OF STOCK

6.6

STOCK TRANSFER AGREEMENTS

6.7

REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS

ARTICLE VII - MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE AND WAIVER
7.1

NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

7.2

NOTICE BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

7.3

NOTICE TO STOCKHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

7.4

NOTICE TO PERSON WITH WHOM COMMUNICATION IS UNLAWFUL

7.5

WAIVER OF NOTICE

ARTICLE VIII - INDEMNIFICATION
8.1
8.2

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN THIRD PARTY PROCEEDINGS
INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN ACTIONS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE
CORPORATION

8.3

SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

8.4

INDEMNIFICATION OF OTHERS

8.5

ADVANCED PAYMENT OF EXPENSES

8.6

LIMITATION ON INDEMNIFICATION

8.7

DETERMINATION; CLAIM

8.8

NON-EXCLUSIVITY OF RIGHTS

8.9

INSURANCE

8.10

SURVIVAL

8.11

EFFECT OF REPEAL OR MODIFICATION

8.12

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE IX - EXCLUSIVE FORUM
ARTICLE X - GENERAL MATTERS
10 1

EXECUTION OF CORPORATE CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS

15
15
15
16
16
16
17
17
17
17
17
18
18
19
19
19
19
20

20
20
20
21
22
22
22
22
22
23
23
24
24

10.1

EXECUTION OF CORPORATE CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS

10.2

FISCAL YEAR

10.3

SEAL

10.4

CONSTRUCTION; DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE XI - AMENDMENTS

24
24
24
24

BYLAWS OF ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.

ARTICLE I - CORPORATE OFFICES
1.1 REGISTERED OFFICE
The registered office of Align Technology, Inc. shall be fixed in the corporation’s certificate of incorporation, as the same may be
amended from time to time.
1.2 OTHER OFFICES
The corporation’s board of directors may at any time establish other offices at any place or places where the corporation is qualified
to do business.
ARTICLE II - MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
2.1 PLACE OF MEETINGS
Meetings of stockholders shall be held at any place, within or outside the State of Delaware, designated by the board of directors.
The board of directors may, in its sole discretion, determine that a meeting of stockholders shall not be held at any place, but may instead be
held solely by means of remote communication as authorized by Section 211(a)(2) of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”).
In the absence of any such designation or determination, stockholders’ meetings shall be held at the corporation’s principal executive office.
2.2 ANNUAL MEETING
The annual meeting of stockholders shall be held each year. The board of directors shall designate the date and time of the annual
meeting. In the absence of such designation the annual meeting of stockholders shall be held on the third Thursday of May of each year at
10:00 a.m. However, if such day falls on a legal holiday, then the meeting shall be held at the same time and place on the next succeeding
business day. At the annual meeting, directors shall be elected and any other proper business may be transacted.
2.3 SPECIAL MEETING
(i)
A special meeting of the stockholders, other than those required by statute, may be called at any time by the
chairperson of the board of directors, chief executive officer or president (in the absence of a chief executive officer) or secretary acting
pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole Board, but a special meeting may not be called by any other person or persons.
For purposes of these bylaws, the term “Whole Board” shall mean the total number of authorized directors whether or not there exist any
vacancies in previously authorized directorships. The board of directors acting pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the Whole
Board may cancel, postpone or reschedule any previously scheduled special meeting at any time, before or after the notice for such meeting
has been sent to the stockholders.
(ii) The notice of a special meeting shall include the purpose for which the meeting is called. Only such business shall
be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall
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have been brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the chairperson of the board of directors, chief executive officer or president
(in the absence of a chief executive officer) or secretary. Nothing contained in this Section 2.3(ii) shall be construed as limiting, fixing or
affecting the time when a meeting of stockholders called by action of the board of directors may be held.
2.4 ADVANCE NOTICE PROCEDURES
(i) Advance Notice of Stockholder Business. At an annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be
conducted as shall have been properly brought before the meeting. To be properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be
brought: (A) pursuant to the corporation’s proxy materials with respect to such meeting, (B) by or at the direction of the board of directors, or
(C) by a stockholder of the corporation who (1) is a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice required by this Section 2.4(i)
and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting and (2) has timely complied in proper
written form with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(i). In addition, for business to be properly brought before an annual
meeting by a stockholder, such business must be a proper matter for stockholder action pursuant to these bylaws and applicable law. Except
for proposals properly made in accordance with Rule 14a-8 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and
regulations thereunder, and included in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of the board of directors, for the avoidance of doubt,
clause (C) above shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to bring business before an annual meeting of stockholders.
(a) To comply with clause (C) of Section 2.4(i) above, a stockholder’s notice must set forth all information
required under this Section 2.4(i) and must be timely received by the secretary of the corporation. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must
be received by the secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the 90th day nor earlier than the 120th day
before the one-year anniversary of the date of the preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that no annual
meeting was held in the previous year or the date of the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30 days prior to or delayed by more than
70 days after the one-year anniversary of the date of the previous year’s annual meeting, then, for notice by the stockholder to be timely, it
must be so received by the secretary not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the
close of business on the later of (i) the 90th day prior to such annual meeting, or (ii) the tenth day following the day on which Public
Announcement (as defined below) of the date of such annual meeting is first made; provided, further, in the event that the number of directors
to be elected to the Board is increased and there is no Public Announcement by the corporation naming all of the nominees for director or
specifying the size of the increased Board at least 100 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting, for notice by
the stockholder to be timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new positions created by such increase, it must be so received by the
secretary not later than the close of business on the tenth day following the day on which Public Announcement of the date of such annual
meeting is first made. In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting or the announcement thereof commence a
new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described in this Section 2.4(i)(a). “Public Announcement” shall mean disclosure
in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or a comparable national news service or in a document
publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor thereto (the “1934 Act”).
(b) To be in proper written form, a stockholder’s notice to the secretary must set forth as to each matter of
business the stockholder intends to bring before the annual meeting: (1) a brief description of the business intended to be brought before the
annual meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the annual meeting, (2) the name and address, as they appear on the
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corporation’s books, of the stockholder proposing such business and any Stockholder Associated Person (as defined below), (3) the class and
number of shares of the corporation that are held of record or are beneficially owned by the stockholder or any Stockholder Associated
Person, (4) any material interest of the stockholder or a Stockholder Associated Person in such business, and (5) a statement whether either
such stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person will deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage
of the corporation’s voting shares required under applicable law to carry the proposal (such information provided and statements made as
required by clauses (1) through (5), a “Business Solicitation Statement”). In addition, to be in proper written form, a stockholder’s notice to
the secretary must be supplemented not later than ten days following the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at
the meeting to disclose the information contained in clause (3) above as of the record date. For purposes of this Section 2.4, a “Stockholder
Associated Person” of any stockholder shall mean (i) any beneficial owner on whose behalf the stockholder is proposing such business or
proposing a director nomination, as the case may be, and (ii) any person controlling, directly or indirectly, or acting in concert with, such
stockholder or beneficial owner.
(c) Without exception, no business shall be conducted at any annual meeting except in accordance with the
provisions set forth in this Section 2.4(i) and, if applicable, Section 2.4(ii). In addition, business proposed to be brought by a stockholder may
not be brought before the annual meeting if such stockholder or a Stockholder Associated Person, as applicable, takes action contrary to the
representations made in the Business Solicitation Statement applicable to such business or if the Business Solicitation Statement applicable to
such business contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading. The chairperson of the annual meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare at the annual meeting that business was
not properly brought before the annual meeting and in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2.4(i), and, if the chairperson should so
determine, he or she shall so declare at the annual meeting that any such business not properly brought before the annual meeting shall not be
conducted.
(ii) Advance Notice of Director Nominations at Annual Meetings. Notwithstanding anything in these bylaws to the
contrary, only persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(ii) shall be eligible for election or
re-election as directors at an annual meeting of stockholders. Nominations of persons for election to the board of directors of the corporation
shall be made at an annual meeting of stockholders only (A) by or at the direction of the board of directors or (B) by a stockholder of the
corporation who (1) was a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice required by this Section 2.4(ii) and on the record date
for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting and (2) has complied with the notice procedures set forth in this
Section 2.4(ii). In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made by a stockholder, the stockholder must have
given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the secretary of the corporation.
(a) To comply with clause (B) of Section 2.4(ii) above, a nomination to be made by a stockholder must set
forth all information required under this Section 2.4(ii) and must be received by the secretary of the corporation at the principal executive
offices of the corporation at the time set forth in, and in accordance with, the final three sentences of Section 2.4(i)(a) above.
(b) To be in proper written form, such stockholder’s notice to the secretary must set forth:
(1) as to each person (a “nominee”) whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director: (A) the name, age, business address and residence address of the nominee, (B) the principal occupation or employment
of the nominee, (C) the class and number of shares of the corporation that are held of record or are beneficially owned by the

3

nominee, (D) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and each nominee and any other person or persons
(naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nominations are to be made by the stockholder, (E) a written statement executed by
the nominee acknowledging that as a director of the corporation, the nominee will owe a fiduciary duty under Delaware law with respect to
the corporation and its stockholders, (F) a written statement of such person that such person, if elected, intends to tender, promptly following
such person’s election or re-election, an irrevocable resignation effective upon such person’s failure to receive the required vote for reelection at the next meeting at which such person would face re-election and upon acceptance of such resignation by the board of directors, in
accordance with the corporation’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, and (G) any other information relating to the nominee that would be
required to be disclosed about such nominee if proxies were being solicited for the election of the nominee as a director, or that is otherwise
required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the 1934 Act (including without limitation the nominee’s written consent to being
named in the proxy statement, if any, as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected); and
(2)
as to such stockholder giving notice, (A) the information required to be provided pursuant to
clauses (2) through (4) of Section 2.4(i)(b) above, and the supplement referenced in the second sentence of Section 2.4(i)(b) above (except
that the references to “business” in such clauses shall instead refer to nominations of directors for purposes of this paragraph), and (B) a
statement whether either such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person will deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of a
number of the corporation’s voting shares reasonably believed by such stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person to be necessary to elect
such nominee(s) (such information provided and statements made as required by clauses (A) and (B) above, a “Nominee Solicitation
Statement”).
(c) At the request of the board of directors, any person nominated by a stockholder for election as a director
must furnish to the secretary of the corporation (1) that information required to be set forth in the stockholder’s notice of nomination of such
person as a director as of a date subsequent to the date on which the notice of such person’s nomination was given, (2) such other information
as may reasonably be required by the corporation to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an independent director of
the corporation or, if applicable, audit committee financial expert of the corporation under applicable law, securities exchange rule or
regulation, or any publicly-disclosed corporate governance guidelines or committee charter of the corporation and (3) such other information
that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such nominee; in the absence of
the furnishing of such information if requested, such stockholder’s nomination shall not be considered in proper form pursuant to this
Section 2.4(ii).
(d) Without exception, no person shall be eligible for election or re-election as a director of the corporation at
an annual meeting of stockholders unless nominated in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Section 2.4(ii). In addition, a nominee
shall not be eligible for election or re-election if a stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person, as applicable, takes action contrary to the
representations made in the Nominee Solicitation Statement applicable to such nominee or if the Nominee Solicitation Statement applicable
to such nominee contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading. The chairperson of the annual meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare at the annual meeting that a nomination
was not made in accordance with the provisions prescribed by these bylaws, and if the chairperson should so determine, he or she shall so
declare at the annual meeting, and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.
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(iii) Advance Notice of Director Nominations for Special Meetings.
(a)
For a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to Section 2.3,
nominations of persons for election to the board of directors shall be made only (1) by or at the direction of the board of directors or (2) by
any stockholder of the corporation who (A) is a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice required by this Section 2.4(iii)
and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the special meeting and (B) delivers a timely written notice of
the nomination to the secretary of the corporation that includes the information set forth in Sections 2.4(ii)(b) and (ii)(c) above. To be timely,
such notice must be received by the secretary at the principal executive offices of the corporation not earlier than the close of business on the
120th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or
the tenth day following the day on which Public Announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed
by the board of directors to be elected at such meeting. A person shall not be eligible for election or re-election as a director at a special
meeting unless the person is nominated (i) by or at the direction of the board of directors or (ii) by a stockholder in accordance with the
notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(iii). In addition, a nominee shall not be eligible for election or re-election if a stockholder or
Stockholder Associated Person, as applicable, takes action contrary to the representations made in the Nominee Solicitation Statement
applicable to such nominee or if the Nominee Solicitation Statement applicable to such nominee contains an untrue statement of a material
fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
(b) The chairperson of the special meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare at the meeting that
a nomination or business was not made in accordance with the procedures prescribed by these bylaws, and if the chairperson should so
determine, he or she shall so declare at the meeting, and the defective nomination or business shall be disregarded.
(iv) Other Requirements and Rights. In addition to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.4, a stockholder must also
comply with all applicable requirements of state law and of the 1934 Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters
set forth in this Section 2.4, including, with respect to business such stockholder intends to bring before the annual meeting that involves a
proposal that such stockholder requests to be included in the corporation’s proxy statement, the requirements of Rule 14a-8 (or any successor
provision) under the 1934 Act. Nothing in this Section 2.4 shall be deemed to affect any right of the corporation to omit a proposal from the
corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 (or any successor provision) under the 1934 Act.
2.5 NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS
Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a written notice of the meeting shall be given which
shall state the place, if any, date and hour of the meeting, the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy
holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such meeting, the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at
the meeting, if such date is different from the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting, and, in the case of a
special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called. Except as otherwise provided in the DGCL, the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, the written notice of any meeting of stockholders shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before
the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to
notice of the meeting.
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2.6 QUORUM
The holders of 50% of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy, shall
constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at all meetings of the stockholders. Where a separate vote by a class or series or classes or
series is required, a majority of the outstanding shares of such class or series or classes or series, present in person or represented by proxy,
shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with respect to that vote on that matter, except as otherwise provided by law, the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws.
If, however, such quorum is not present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, then either (i) the chairperson of the
meeting, or (ii) the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the
meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present or represented. At such
adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present or represented, any business may be transacted that might have been transacted at the
meeting as originally noticed.
2.7

ADJOURNED MEETING; NOTICE

When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, unless these bylaws otherwise require, notice need not be given of the
adjourned meeting if the time, place, if any, thereof, and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy
holders may be deemed to be present in person and vote at such adjourned meeting are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is
taken. At the adjourned meeting, the corporation may transact any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the
adjournment is for more than 30 days, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the
meeting. If after the adjournment a new record date for stockholders entitled to vote is fixed for the adjourned meeting, the board of directors
shall fix a new record date for notice of such adjourned meeting in accordance with Section 213(a) of the DGCL and Section 2.11 of these
bylaws, and shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at such adjourned meeting as of the
record date fixed for notice of such adjourned meeting.
2.8

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of business and the procedure at the meeting, including
such regulation of the manner of voting and the conduct of business. The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall be designated by
the board of directors. In the absence of such designation, the chairperson of the board, if any, the chief executive officer (in the absence of
the chairperson of the board) or the president (in the absence of the chairperson of the board and the chief executive officer), or in their
absence, any other executive officer of the corporation, shall serve as the chairperson of the stockholder meeting.
2.9

VOTING

The stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of
Section 2.11 of these bylaws, subject to Section 217 (relating to voting rights of fiduciaries, pledgors and joint owners of stock) and Section
218 (relating to voting trusts and other voting agreements) of the DGCL.
Except as may be otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, each stockholder shall be entitled to one vote
for each share of capital stock held by such stockholder.
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Except as otherwise required by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, in all matters other than the election of
directors, the affirmative vote of a majority of the voting power of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and
entitled to vote on the subject matter shall be the act of the stockholders. Except as otherwise required by law, the certificate of incorporation
or these bylaws, effective as of the first meeting of stockholders at which the directors will be elected following the 2012 annual meeting of
stockholders, directors shall be elected by the vote of the majority of the votes cast at any meeting for the election of directors at which a
quorum is present, subject to the rights of the holders of any series of Preferred Stock to elect directors in accordance with the terms thereof.
For purposes of this bylaw, a majority of votes cast shall mean that the number of shares voted “for” a director’s election exceeds 50% of the
number of votes cast with respect to that director’s election. Votes cast shall include votes “against” a director’s election and shall exclude
abstentions with respect to that director’s election. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) at the 2012 annual meeting of stockholders and (ii) in
the event of a contested election of directors, directors shall be elected by the vote of a plurality of the votes cast at any meeting for the
election of directors at which a quorum is present. For purposes of this bylaw, a contested election shall mean any election of directors in
which the number of candidates for election as directors exceeds the number of directors to be elected. If directors are to be elected by a
plurality of the votes cast, stockholders shall not be permitted to vote against a nominee. Where a separate vote by a class or series or classes
or series is required, in all matters other than the election of directors, the affirmative vote of the majority of shares of such class or series or
classes or series present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting shall be the act of such class or series or classes or series, except as
otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
2.10

STOCKHOLDER ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING

Subject to the rights of the holders of the shares of any series of Preferred Stock or any other class of stock or series thereof having a
preference over the Common Stock as dividend or upon liquidation, any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the
corporation must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders of the corporation and may not be effected by any
consent in writing by such stockholders.
2.11

RECORD DATES

In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment
thereof, the board of directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record
date is adopted by the board of directors and which record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days before the date of such
meeting. If the board of directors so fixes a date, such date shall also be the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at
such meeting unless the board of directors determines, at the time it fixes such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the
meeting shall be the date for making such determination.
If no record date is fixed by the board of directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a
meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at
the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held.
A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment
of the meeting; provided, however, that the board of directors may fix a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at
the adjourned meeting, and in such case shall also fix as the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting
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the same or an earlier date as that fixed for determination of stockholders entitled to vote in accordance with the provisions of Section 213 of
the DGCL and this Section 2.11 at the adjourned meeting.
In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or
allotment of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the
purpose of any other lawful action, the board of directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the
resolution fixing the record date is adopted, and which record date shall be not more than 60 days prior to such action. If no record date is
fixed, the record date for determining stockholders for any such purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the board of
directors adopts the resolution relating thereto.
2.12

PROXIES

Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder by
proxy authorized by an instrument in writing or by a transmission permitted by law filed in accordance with the procedure established for the
meeting, but no such proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. The
revocability of a proxy that states on its face that it is irrevocable shall be governed by the provisions of Section 212 of the DGCL.
A written proxy may be in the form of a telegram, cablegram, or other means of electronic transmission which sets forth or is
submitted with information from which it can be determined that the telegram, cablegram, or other means of electronic transmission was
authorized by the person.
2.13

LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS ENTITLED TO VOTE

The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall prepare and make, at least 10 days before every meeting of
stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting; provided, however, if the record date for determining the
stockholders entitled to vote is less than 10 days before the meeting date, the list shall reflect the stockholders entitled to vote as of the tenth
day before the meeting date, arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered
in the name of each stockholder. The corporation shall not be required to include electronic mail addresses or other electronic contact
information on such list. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting for a period of
at least 10 days prior to the meeting: (i) on a reasonably accessible electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access
to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting, or (ii) during ordinary business hours, at the corporation’s principal place of business.
In the event that the corporation determines to make the list available on an electronic network, the corporation may take reasonable steps to
ensure that such information is available only to stockholders of the corporation. If the meeting is to be held at a place, then the list shall be
produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be examined by any stockholder who is
present. If the meeting is to be held solely by means of remote communication, then the list shall also be open to the examination of any
stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information required to access such
list shall be provided with the notice of the meeting. Such list shall presumptively determine the identity of the stockholders entitled to vote at
the meeting and the number of shares held by each of them.
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2.14

INSPECTORS OF ELECTION

Before any meeting of stockholders, the board of directors shall appoint an inspector or inspectors of election to act at the meeting or
its adjournment. The number of inspectors shall be either one (1) or three (3). If any person appointed as inspector fails to appear or fails or
refuses to act, then the chairperson of the meeting may, and upon the request of any stockholder or a stockholder's proxy shall, appoint a
person to fill that vacancy.
Such inspectors shall:
(i)
determine the number of shares outstanding and the voting power of each, the number of shares represented at the
meeting, the existence of a quorum, and the authenticity, validity, and effect of proxies;
(ii) receive votes, ballots or consents;
(iii) hear and determine all challenges and questions in any way arising in connection with the right to vote;
(iv) count and tabulate all votes or consents;
(v) determine when the polls shall close;
(vi) determine the result; and
(vii) do any other acts that may be proper to conduct the election or vote with fairness to all stockholders.
The inspectors of election shall perform their duties impartially, in good faith, to the best of their ability and as expeditiously as is
practical. If there are three (3) inspectors of election, the decision, act or certificate of a majority is effective in all respects as the decision, act
or certificate of all. Any report or certificate made by the inspectors of election is prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
ARTICLE III - DIRECTORS
3.1

POWERS

The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the board of directors, except as may be
otherwise provided in the DGCL or the certificate of incorporation.
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3.2 NUMBER OF DIRECTORS
The board of directors shall consist of one or more members, each of whom shall be a natural person. Unless the certificate of
incorporation fixes the number of directors, the number of directors shall be determined from time to time by resolution of the board of
directors. No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director before that director’s term of
office expires.
3.3

ELECTION, QUALIFICATION AND TERM OF OFFICE OF DIRECTORS

Except as provided in Section 3.4 of these bylaws, each director, including a director elected to fill a vacancy, shall hold office until
the expiration of the term for which elected and until such director’s successor is elected and qualified or until such director’s earlier death,
resignation or removal. Directors need not be stockholders unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws. The
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws may prescribe other qualifications for directors.
3.4

RESIGNATION AND VACANCIES

Any director may resign at any time upon notice given in writing or by electronic transmission to the corporation. A resignation is
effective when the resignation is delivered unless the resignation specifies a later effective date or an effective date determined upon the
happening of an event or events. A resignation which is conditioned upon the director failing to receive a specified vote for reelection as a
director may provide that it is irrevocable. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, when one or more
directors resign from the board of directors, effective at a future date, a majority of the directors then in office, including those who have so
resigned, shall have power to fill such vacancy or vacancies, the vote thereon to take effect when such resignation or resignations shall
become effective.
Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, vacancies and newly created directorships resulting
from any increase in the authorized number of directors elected by all of the stockholders having the right to vote as a single class may be
filled by a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. If the directors are divided
into classes, a person so elected by the directors then in office to fill a vacancy or newly created directorship shall hold office until the next
election of the class for which such director shall have been chosen and until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.
If at any time, by reason of death or resignation or other cause, the corporation should have no directors in office, then any officer or
any stockholder or an executor, administrator, trustee or guardian of a stockholder, or other fiduciary entrusted with like responsibility for the
person or estate of a stockholder, may call a special meeting of stockholders in accordance with the provisions of the certificate of
incorporation or these bylaws, or may apply to the Court of Chancery for a decree summarily ordering an election as provided in Section 211
of the DGCL.
If, at the time of filling any vacancy or any newly created directorship, the directors then in office constitute less than a majority of
the whole board of directors (as constituted immediately prior to any such increase), the Court of Chancery may, upon application of any
stockholder or stockholders holding at least 10% of the voting stock at the time outstanding having the right to vote for such directors,
summarily order an election to be held to fill any such vacancies or newly created directorships, or to replace the directors chosen by the
directors then in office as aforesaid, which election shall be governed by the provisions of Section 211 of the DGCL as far as applicable.
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3.5

PLACE OF MEETINGS; MEETINGS BY TELEPHONE

The board of directors may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or outside the State of Delaware.
Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, members of the board of directors, or any committee
designated by the board of directors, may participate in a meeting of the board of directors, or any committee, by means of conference
telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such
participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.
3.6

REGULAR MEETINGS

Regular meetings of the board of directors may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be
determined by the board of directors.
3.7

SPECIAL MEETINGS; NOTICE

Special meetings of the board of directors for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by the chairperson of the board of
directors, the chief executive officer or the president. In addition, special meetings of the board of directors shall be called by the chairperson
of the board of directors, the chief executive officer, the president or the secretary on the written request of two or more directors, unless the
board of directors consists of only one director, in which case special meetings shall be called by the chairperson of the board of directors, the
chief executive officer, the president or the secretary on the written request of the sole director.
Notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be:
(i) delivered personally by hand, by courier or by telephone;
(ii) sent by United States first-class mail, postage prepaid;
(iii) sent by facsimile; or
(iv) sent by electronic mail,
directed to each director at that director’s address, telephone number, facsimile number or electronic mail address, as the case may be, as
shown on the corporation’s records.
If the notice is (i) delivered personally by hand, by courier or by telephone, (ii) sent by facsimile or (iii) sent by electronic mail, it
shall be delivered or sent at least 48 hours before the time of the holding of the meeting. If the notice is sent by United States mail, it shall be
deposited in the United States mail at least two days before the time of the holding of the meeting. Any oral notice may be communicated to
the director. The notice need not specify the place of the meeting (if the meeting is to be held at the corporation’s principal executive office)
nor the purpose of the meeting.

11

3.8

QUORUM; VOTING

At all meetings of the board of directors, a majority of the total authorized number of directors shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business. If a quorum is not present at any meeting of the board of directors, then the directors present thereat may adjourn the
meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present. A meeting at which a quorum
is initially present may continue to transact business notwithstanding the withdrawal of directors, if any action taken is approved by at least a
majority of the required quorum for that meeting.
The vote of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the board of directors,
except as may be otherwise specifically provided by statute, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
If the certificate of incorporation provides that one or more directors shall have more or less than one vote per director on any matter,
every reference in these bylaws to a majority or other proportion of the directors shall refer to a majority or other proportion of the votes of
the directors.
3.9

BOARD ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any
meeting of the board of directors, or of any committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting if all members of the board of directors or
committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing or by electronic transmission and the writing or writings or electronic transmission
or transmissions are filed with the minutes of proceedings of the board of directors or committee. Such filing shall be in paper form if the
minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form.
3.10

FEES AND COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the board of directors or a committee designated by
the board of directors shall have the authority to fix the compensation of directors.
3.11

REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Any director or the entire board of directors may be removed from office only in accordance with the provisions of the corporation’s
certificate of incorporation.
No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the expiration of such
director’s term of office.
ARTICLE IV - COMMITTEES
4.1

COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the authorized number of directors, designate one or more
committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation. The board of directors may designate one or more
directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In
the
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absence or disqualification of a member of a committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from
voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the board of directors to
act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the
board of directors or in these bylaws, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the board of directors in the management of
the business and affairs of the corporation, and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers that may require it; but no
such committee shall have the power or authority to (i) approve or adopt, or recommend to the stockholders, any action or matter (other than
the election or removal of directors) expressly required by the DGCL to be submitted to stockholders for approval, (ii) adopt, amend or repeal
any bylaw of the corporation or (iii) unless the resolution or the corporation’s certificate of incorporation expressly so provides, no such
committee shall have the power or authority to declare a dividend or to authorize the issuance of stock.
4.2 COMMITTEE MINUTES
Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the board of directors when required.
4.3 MEETINGS AND ACTION OF COMMITTEES
Meetings and actions of committees shall be governed by, and held and taken in accordance with, the provisions of:
(i) Section 3.5 (place of meetings and meetings by telephone);
(ii) Section 3.6 (regular meetings);
(iii) Section 3.7 (special meetings and notice);
(iv) Section 3.8 (quorum; voting);
(v) Section 7.5 (waiver of notice); and
(vi) Section 3.9 (action without a meeting)
with such changes in the context of those bylaws as are necessary to substitute the committee and its members for the board of directors and
its members. However:
(i)
the time of regular meetings of committees may be determined either by resolution of the board of directors or by
resolution of the committee;
(ii)

special meetings of committees may also be called by resolution of the board of directors; and

(iii)
notice of special meetings of committees shall also be given to all alternate members, who shall have the right to
attend all meetings of the committee. The board of directors may adopt rules for the government of any committee not inconsistent with the
provisions of these bylaws.
Any provision in the certificate of incorporation providing that one or more directors shall have more or less than one vote per
director on any matter shall apply to voting in any committee or subcommittee, unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation
or these bylaws.
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4.4

SUBCOMMITTEES

Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws or the resolutions of the board of directors designating the
committee, a committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more members of the committee,
and delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee.
ARTICLE V - OFFICERS
5.1 OFFICERS
The officers of the corporation shall be chosen by the board of directors and shall consist of a chairperson of the board of directors, a
president, a chief financial officer, a treasurer and a secretary. The corporation may also have, at the discretion of the board of directors, a
vice chairperson of the board of directors, a chief executive officer, one or more vice presidents, one or more assistant vice presidents, one or
more assistant treasurers, one or more assistant secretaries, and any such other officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions
of these bylaws. Any number of offices may be held by the same person, unless the corporation’s certificate of incorporation or these bylaws
otherwise provide.
5.2

APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS; COMPENSATION OF OFFICERS

The board of directors shall appoint the officers of the corporation, except such officers as may be appointed in accordance with the
provisions of Sections 5.3 of these bylaws, subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment. The salaries of all
officers and agents of the corporation shall be fixed by the Board or a committee designated by the Board.
5.3

SUBORDINATE OFFICERS

The board of directors may appoint, or empower the chief executive officer or, in the absence of a chief executive officer, the
president, to appoint, such other officers and agents as the business of the corporation may require. Each of such officers and agents shall
hold office for such period, have such authority, and perform such duties as are provided in these bylaws or as the board of directors may
from time to time determine.
5.4

REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS

Subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment, any officer may be removed, either with or without
cause, by an affirmative vote of the majority of the board of directors at any regular or special meeting of the board of directors or, except in
the case of an officer chosen by the board of directors, by any officer upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by the board of
directors.
Any officer may resign at any time by giving written or electronic notice to the corporation. Any resignation shall take effect at the
date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time specified in that notice. Unless otherwise specified in the notice of resignation, the
acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Any resignation is without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the
corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party.
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5.5

VACANCIES IN OFFICES

Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corporation shall be filled by the board of directors or as provided in Section 5.3.
5.6

REPRESENTATION OF SHARES OF OTHER CORPORATIONS

The chairperson of the board of directors, the president, any vice president, the treasurer, the secretary or assistant secretary of this
corporation, or any other person authorized by the board of directors or the president or a vice president, is authorized to vote, represent, and
exercise on behalf of this corporation all rights incident to any and all shares of any other corporation or corporations standing in the name of
this corporation. The authority granted herein may be exercised either by such person directly or by any other person authorized to do so by
proxy or power of attorney duly executed by such person having the authority.
5.7

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS

All officers of the corporation shall respectively have such authority and perform such duties in the management of the business of
the corporation as may be designated from time to time by the board of directors or the stockholders and, to the extent not so provided, as
generally pertain to their respective offices, subject to the control of the board of directors. In addition, with the written consent of any two
members of the board of directors of the corporation (one of whom must be the chair), any and all officers, employees, agents or
representatives of the corporation identified by such directors are hereby authorized to bring, defend, intercede, join, mediate, arbitrate, settle,
compromise, try, or appeal (or authorize or appoint in writing others to do any of the foregoing) any claim, demand, dispute, investigation,
allegation, suit, litigation, or other similar matter or proceedings for, on behalf of, or against the corporation or any of its subsidiaries or
affiliates in any jurisdiction or territory.
ARTICLE VI - STOCK
6.1

STOCK CERTIFICATES; PARTLY PAID SHARES

The shares of the corporation shall be represented by certificates, provided that the board of directors may provide by resolution or
resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or series of its stock shall be uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to
shares represented by a certificate until such certificate is surrendered to the corporation. Every holder of stock represented by certificates
shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of the corporation by the chairperson of the board of directors or vicechairperson of the board of directors, or the president or a vice-president, and by the treasurer or an assistant treasurer, or the secretary or an
assistant secretary of the corporation representing the number of shares registered in certificate form. Any or all of the signatures on the
certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed
upon a certificate has ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the corporation
with the same effect as if such person were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue. The corporation shall not have power
to issue a certificate in bearer form.
The corporation may issue the whole or any part of its shares as partly paid and subject to call for the remainder of the consideration
to be paid therefor. Upon the face or back of each stock certificate issued to represent any such partly-paid shares, or upon the books and
records of the corporation in the case of uncertificated partly-paid shares, the total amount of the consideration to be paid therefor and the
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amount paid thereon shall be stated. Upon the declaration of any dividend on fully-paid shares, the corporation shall declare a dividend upon
partly-paid shares of the same class, but only upon the basis of the percentage of the consideration actually paid thereon.
6.2

SPECIAL DESIGNATION ON CERTIFICATES

If the corporation is authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class, then the powers, the
designations, the preferences, and the relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of the
certificate that the corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock; provided, however, that, except as otherwise provided in
Section 202 of the DGCL, in lieu of the foregoing requirements there may be set forth on the face or back of the certificate that the
corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock, a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to each
stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of
stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. Within a reasonable time after the
issuance or transfer of uncertificated stock, the corporation shall send to the registered owner thereof a written notice containing the
information required to be set forth or stated on certificates pursuant to this section 6.2 or Sections 156, 202(a) or 218(a) of the DGCL or
with respect to this section 6.2 a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers,
designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the
qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights. Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the rights and
obligations of the holders of uncertificated stock and the rights and obligations of the holders of certificates representing stock of the same
class and series shall be identical.
6.3

LOST CERTIFICATES

Except as provided in this Section 6.3, no new certificates for shares shall be issued to replace a previously issued certificate unless
the latter is surrendered to the corporation and cancelled at the same time. The corporation may issue a new certificate of stock or
uncertificated shares in the place of any certificate theretofore issued by it, alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of
an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed. The corporation may require the owner
of the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate, or such owner’s legal representative, to give the corporation a bond sufficient to indemnify it
against any claim that may be made against it on account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of
such new certificate or uncertificated shares.
6.4

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors, subject to any restrictions contained in the certificate of incorporation or applicable law, may declare and pay
dividends upon the shares of the corporation’s capital stock. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the corporation’s
capital stock, subject to the provisions of the certificate of incorporation.
The board of directors may set apart out of any of the funds of the corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any
proper purpose and may abolish any such reserve. Such purposes shall include but not be limited to equalizing dividends, repairing or
maintaining any property of the corporation, and meeting contingencies.
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6.5

TRANSFER OF STOCK

Transfers of record of shares of stock of the corporation shall be made only upon its books by the holders thereof, in person or by an
attorney duly authorized, and, if such stock is certificated, upon the surrender of a certificate or certificates for a like number of shares,
properly endorsed or accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignation or authority to transfer; provided, however, that such
succession, assignment or authority to transfer is not prohibited by the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws, applicable law or contract.
6.6

STOCK TRANSFER AGREEMENTS

The corporation shall have power to enter into and perform any agreement with any number of stockholders of any one or more
classes of stock of the corporation to restrict the transfer of shares of stock of the corporation of any one or more classes owned by such
stockholders in any manner not prohibited by the DGCL.
6.7

REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS

The corporation:
(i) shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive
dividends and to vote as such owner;
(ii) shall be entitled to hold liable for calls and assessments the person registered on its books as the owner of shares; and
(iii) shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of another
person, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.
ARTICLE VII - MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE AND WAIVER
7.1

NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Notice of any meeting of stockholders, if mailed, is given when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the
stockholder at such stockholder’s address as it appears on the corporation’s records. An affidavit of the secretary or an assistant secretary of
the corporation or of the transfer agent or other agent of the corporation that the notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima
facie evidence of the facts stated therein.

17

7.2

NOTICE BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders pursuant to the DGCL, the
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any notice to stockholders given by the corporation under any provision of the DGCL, the
certificate of incorporation or these bylaws shall be effective if given by a form of electronic transmission consented to by the stockholder to
whom the notice is given. Any such consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written notice to the corporation. Any such consent
shall be deemed revoked if:
(i)
the corporation is unable to deliver by electronic transmission two consecutive notices given by the corporation in
accordance with such consent; and
(ii) such inability becomes known to the secretary or an assistant secretary of the corporation or to the transfer agent, or
other person responsible for the giving of notice.
However, the inadvertent failure to treat such inability as a revocation shall not invalidate any meeting or other action.
Any notice given pursuant to the preceding paragraph shall be deemed given:
(i)

if by facsimile telecommunication, when directed to a number at which the stockholder has consented to receive
notice;

(ii)

if by electronic mail, when directed to an electronic mail address at which the stockholder has consented to receive
notice;

(iii)

if by a posting on an electronic network together with separate notice to the stockholder of such specific posting,
upon the later of (A) such posting and (B) the giving of such separate notice; and

(iv)

if by any other form of electronic transmission, when directed to the stockholder.

An affidavit of the secretary or an assistant secretary or of the transfer agent or other agent of the corporation that the notice has been
given by a form of electronic transmission shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
An “electronic transmission” means any form of communication, not directly involving the physical transmission of paper, that
creates a record that may be retained, retrieved, and reviewed by a recipient thereof, and that may be directly reproduced in paper form by
such a recipient through an automated process.
Notice by a form of electronic transmission shall not apply to Sections 164, 296, 311, 312 or 324 of the DGCL.
7.3

NOTICE TO STOCKHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

Except as otherwise prohibited under the DGCL, without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to
stockholders, any notice to stockholders given by the corporation under the provisions of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these
bylaws shall be effective if given by a single written notice to stockholders who share an address if consented to by the stockholders at that
address to whom such notice is given. Any such consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by
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written notice to the corporation. Any stockholder who fails to object in writing to the corporation, within 60 days of having been given
written notice by the corporation of its intention to send the single notice, shall be deemed to have consented to receiving such single written
notice.
7.4

NOTICE TO PERSON WITH WHOM COMMUNICATION IS UNLAWFUL

Whenever notice is required to be given, under the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, to any person with whom
communication is unlawful, the giving of such notice to such person shall not be required and there shall be no duty to apply to any
governmental authority or agency for a license or permit to give such notice to such person. Any action or meeting which shall be taken or
held without notice to any such person with whom communication is unlawful shall have the same force and effect as if such notice had been
duly given. In the event that the action taken by the corporation is such as to require the filing of a certificate under the DGCL, the certificate
shall state, if such is the fact and if notice is required, that notice was given to all persons entitled to receive notice except such persons with
whom communication is unlawful.
7.5

WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever notice is required to be given under any provision of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, a written
waiver, signed by the person entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitled to notice, whether before or after
the time of the event for which notice is to be given, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall
constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning
of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be
transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or special meeting of the stockholders need be specified in any written waiver of notice or any
waiver by electronic transmission unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
ARTICLE VIII - INDEMNIFICATION
8.1

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN THIRD PARTY PROCEEDINGS

Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as
now or hereinafter in effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed
action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “Proceeding”) (other than an action by or in the right of
the corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the corporation, or is or was a director or officer of the
corporation serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and
reasonably incurred by such person in connection with such Proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person
reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding,
had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful. The termination of any Proceeding by judgment, order, settlement,
conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good
faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect
to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that such person’s conduct was unlawful.
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8.2

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN ACTIONS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE CORPORATION

Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as
now or hereinafter in effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed
action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director
or officer of the corporation, or is or was a director or officer of the corporation serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against expenses (including attorneys’ fees)
actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in
good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation; except that no
indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the
corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall determine
upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably
entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
8.3

SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

To the extent that a present or former director or officer of the corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense
of any action, suit or proceeding described in Section 8.1 or Section 8.2, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall
be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith.
8.4

INDEMNIFICATION OF OTHERS

Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the corporation shall have power to indemnify its employees and agents to the
extent not prohibited by the DGCL or other applicable law. The board of directors shall have the power to delegate to such person or persons
the determination of whether employees or agents shall be indemnified.
8.5

ADVANCED PAYMENT OF EXPENSES

Expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an officer or director of the corporation in defending any Proceeding shall be paid
by the corporation in advance of the final disposition of such Proceeding upon receipt of a written request therefor (together with
documentation reasonably evidencing such expenses) and an undertaking by or on behalf of the person to repay such amounts if it shall
ultimately be determined that the person is not entitled to be indemnified under this Article VIII or the DGCL. Such expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) incurred by former directors and officers or other employees and agents of the corporation or by persons serving at the
request of the corporation as directors, officers, employees or agents of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise may be so paid upon such terms and conditions, if any, as the corporation deems appropriate. The right to advancement of
expenses shall not apply to any claim for which indemnity is excluded pursuant to these bylaws, but shall apply to any Proceeding referenced
in Section 8.6(ii) or 8.6(iii) prior to a determination that the person is not entitled to be indemnified by the corporation.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise determined pursuant to Section 8.8, no advance shall be made by the corporation to
an officer of the corporation (except by reason of the fact that such
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officer is or was a director of the corporation, in which event this paragraph shall not apply) in any Proceeding if a determination is
reasonably and promptly made (i) by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to such Proceeding, even though less than a quorum,
or (ii) by a committee of such directors designated by majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (iii) if there are no
such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, that facts known to the decision-making party
at the time such determination is made demonstrate clearly and convincingly that such person acted in bad faith or in a manner that such
person did not believe to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation.
8.6

LIMITATION ON INDEMNIFICATION

Subject to the requirements in Section 8.3 and the DGCL, the corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify any person pursuant to
this Article VIII in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding):
(i) for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of such person under any statute, insurance policy, indemnity
provision, vote or otherwise, except with respect to any excess beyond the amount paid;
(ii) for an accounting or disgorgement of profits pursuant to Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act, or similar provisions of federal,
state or local statutory law or common law, if such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to any settlement arrangements);
(iii)
for any reimbursement of the corporation by such person of any bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based
compensation or of any profits realized by such person from the sale of securities of the corporation, as required in each case under the 1934
Act (including any such reimbursements that arise from an accounting restatement of the corporation pursuant to Section 304 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), or the payment to the corporation of profits arising from the purchase and sale by
such person of securities in violation of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), if such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to
any settlement arrangements);
(iv) initiated by such person, including any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by such person against the
corporation or its directors, officers, employees, agents or other indemnitees, unless (a) the board of directors authorized the Proceeding (or
the relevant part of the Proceeding) prior to its initiation, (b) the corporation provides the indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuant to
the powers vested in the corporation under applicable law, (c) otherwise required to be made under Section 8.7 or (d) otherwise required by
applicable law; or
(v) if prohibited by applicable law.
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8.7

DETERMINATION; CLAIM

If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article VIII is not paid in full within 90 days after receipt by
the corporation of the written request therefor, the claimant shall be entitled to an adjudication by a court of competent jurisdiction of his or
her entitlement to such indemnification or advancement of expenses. The corporation shall indemnify such person against any and all
expenses that are incurred by such person in connection with any action for indemnification or advancement of expenses from the
corporation under this Article VIII, to the extent such person is successful in such action, and to the extent not prohibited by law. In any such
suit, the corporation shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, have the burden of proving that the claimant is not entitled to the
requested indemnification or advancement of expenses.
8.8

NON-EXCLUSIVITY OF RIGHTS

The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VIII shall not be deemed
exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under the certificate of
incorporation or any statute, bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in such person’s
official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office. The corporation is specifically authorized to enter into
individual contracts with any or all of its directors, officers, employees or agents respecting indemnification and advancement of expenses, to
the fullest extent not prohibited by the DGCL or other applicable law.
8.9

INSURANCE

The corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of
the corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such
capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person
against such liability under the provisions of the DGCL.
8.10

SURVIVAL

The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred by this Article VIII shall continue as to a person who has
ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.
8.11

EFFECT OF REPEAL OR MODIFICATION

A right to indemnification or to advancement of expenses arising under a provision of the certificate of incorporation or a bylaw shall
not be eliminated or impaired by an amendment to the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws after the occurrence of the act or omission
that is the subject of the civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding for which indemnification or advancement
of expenses is sought, unless the provision in effect at the time of such act or omission explicitly authorizes such elimination or impairment
after such action or omission has occurred.
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8.12

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this Article VIII, references to the “corporation” shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any
constituent corporation (including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had
continued, would have had power and authority to indemnify its directors, officers, employees or agents, so that any person who is or was a
director, officer, employee or agent of such constituent corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a
director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position
under the provisions of this Article VIII with respect to the resulting or surviving corporation as such person would have with respect to such
constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued. For purposes of this Article VIII, references to “other enterprises” shall
include employee benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise taxes assessed on a person with respect to an employee benefit
plan; and references to “serving at the request of the corporation” shall include any service as a director, officer, employee or agent of the
corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit
plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the
interest of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best
interests of the corporation” as referred to in this Article VIII.
ARTICLE IX - EXCLUSIVE FORUM
Unless the corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
(or, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, another State court in Delaware or, if and only if
all such State courts do not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) and any appellate court therefrom shall, to
the fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the
corporation, (b) any action or proceeding asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or other wrongdoing by, any current or
former director, officer, stockholder, employee or agent of the corporation to the corporation or the corporation’s stockholders, (c) any action
or proceeding asserting a claim arising pursuant to, or seeking to enforce any right, obligation or remedy under, any provision of the DGCL
or the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws (as each may be amended from time to time), (d) any action or proceeding as to which the
DGCL confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, (e) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the
validity of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws (as each may be amended from time to time) or (f) any action or proceeding
asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine.
Unless the corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the federal
district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action
arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”).
For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Article IX affects suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the 1934 Act or
any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding or owning (or continuing to hold or own) any interest in any security of
the corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and have consented to the provisions of this Article IX.
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ARTICLE X - GENERAL MATTERS
10.1

EXECUTION OF CORPORATE CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS

Except as otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the board of directors may authorize any officer
or officers, or agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute any document or instrument in the name of and on behalf of the
corporation; such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. Unless so authorized or ratified by the board of directors or
within the agency power of an officer, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the corporation by any contract
or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any purpose or for any amount.
10.2

FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the corporation shall end on December 31, unless otherwise fixed by resolution of the board of directors. The fiscal
year may be changed by the board of directors.
10.3

SEAL

The corporation may adopt a corporate seal, which shall be adopted and which may be altered by the board of directors. The
corporation may use the corporate seal by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or in any other manner reproduced.
10.4

CONSTRUCTION; DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of construction, and definitions in the DGCL shall govern the
construction of these bylaws. Without limiting the generality of this provision, the singular number includes the plural, the plural number
includes the singular, and the term “person” includes both a corporation and a natural person.

ARTICLE XI - AMENDMENTS
These bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the stockholders of the corporation by vote of not less than sixty-six and twothirds percent (66 2/3%) of the outstanding shares of the voting stock of the corporation entitled to vote. In addition, in accordance with the
corporation’s certificate of incorporation, the board of directors may adopt, amend or repeal these bylaws by vote of a majority of the board
of directors. The fact that such power has been so conferred upon the directors shall not divest the stockholders of the power, nor limit their
power to adopt, amend or repeal bylaws.
A bylaw amendment adopted by stockholders which specifies the votes that shall be necessary for the election of directors shall not
be further amended or repealed by the board of directors.
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ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC.
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF BYLAWS

The undersigned hereby certifies that he or she is the duly elected, qualified, and acting Secretary or Assistant Secretary of Align
Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation and that the foregoing bylaws, comprising 24 pages, were amended and restated on June 23, 2021
by the corporation’s board of directors.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has hereunto set his or her hand this 3rd day of August, 2021.
/s/ Paul Katawicz
Paul Katawicz
Assistant Secretary

Exhibit 10.1

GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC | 200 WEST STREET | NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10282-2198 | TEL: 212-902-1000
Opening Transaction
To:
Align Technology, Inc.
410 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 1300
Tempe, Arizona 85281
A/C:

provided

From:

Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC

Re:

Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Transaction

Date:
April 30, 2021

Dear Sir/Madam:
The purpose of this letter agreement (this “Confirmation”) is to confirm the terms and conditions of the Transaction entered into between Goldman
Sachs & Co. LLC (“Dealer”) and Align Technology, Inc. (“Issuer”) on the Trade Date specified below (the “Transaction”). This confirmation constitutes a
“Confirmation” as referred to in the Agreement specified below.
The definitions and provisions contained in the 2002 ISDA Equity Derivatives Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”)) (the “Equity Definitions”) are incorporated into this Confirmation. The Transaction is a Share Forward Transaction
for purposes of the Equity Definitions. Any reference to a currency shall have the meaning contained in Section 1.7 of the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as
published by ISDA.
1. This Confirmation evidences a complete and binding agreement between Dealer and Issuer as to the terms of the Transaction to which this
Confirmation relates and shall supersede all prior or contemporaneous written or oral communications with respect thereto. This Confirmation shall be
subject to an agreement (the “Agreement”) in the form of the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement as if Dealer and Issuer had executed an agreement in such
form without any Schedule but with the elections set forth in this Confirmation (and (1) the election of USD as the Termination Currency, (2) the election
that subparagraph (ii) of Section 2(c) will not apply to the Transactions and (3) the election that the “Cross Default” provisions of Section 5(a)(vi) shall
apply to Dealer, with a “Threshold Amount” of 3% of Dealer shareholders’ equity for Dealer (provided that (a) the phrase “or becoming capable at such
time of being declared” shall be deleted from clause (1) of such Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement and (b) the following sentence shall be added to the end
thereof: “Notwithstanding the foregoing, a default hereunder shall not constitute an Event of Default if (i) the default was caused solely by error or
omission of an administrative or operational nature; (ii) funds were available to enable the party to make the payment when due; and (iii) the payment is
made within two Local Business Days of such party’s receipt of written notice of its failure to pay)”.
The Transaction shall be the only transaction under the Agreement. If there exists any ISDA Master Agreement between Dealer and Issuer or any
confirmation or other agreement between Dealer and Issuer pursuant to which an ISDA Master Agreement is deemed to exist between Dealer and Issuer,
then, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in such ISDA Master Agreement, such confirmation or agreement or any other agreement to which Dealer
and Issuer are parties, the Transaction shall not be considered a transaction under, or otherwise governed by, such existing or deemed to be existing ISDA
Master Agreement.

If there is any inconsistency between the Agreement, this Confirmation and the Equity Definitions, the following will prevail for purposes of the
Transaction in the order of precedence indicated: (i) this Master Confirmation; (ii) the Equity Definitions; and (iii) the Agreement.
2. The terms of the particular Transaction to which this Confirmation relates are as follows:
GENERAL TERMS:
Trade Date:

As specified in Schedule I

Buyer:

Issuer

Seller:

Dealer

Shares:

Common Stock, par value USD 0.0001 per share, of Issuer (Ticker: ALGN)

Forward Price:

A price per Share (as determined by the Calculation Agent) equal to the greater of (A) (i) the
arithmetic mean (not a weighted average, subject to “Market Disruption Event” below) of the
10b-18 VWAP on each Observation Date that is a Trading Day during the Calculation Period
minus (ii) the Discount and (B) $5.00.

Discount:

As specified in Schedule I

10b-18 VWAP:

On any Trading Day, a price per Share equal to the volume- weighted average price of the
Rule 10b-18 eligible trades in the Shares for the entirety of such Trading Day as determined
by the Calculation Agent by reference to the screen entitled “ALGN <Equity> AQR SEC” or
any successor page as reported by Bloomberg L.P. or any successor (excluding (i) trades that
do not settle regular way, (ii) opening (regular way) reported trades in the consolidated
system on such Scheduled Trading Day (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the first
reported trade on the Exchange following the scheduled open of trading on the Exchange),
(iii) trades that occur in the last ten minutes before the scheduled close of trading on the
Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day and ten minutes before the scheduled close of the
primary trading in the market where the trade is effected, and (iv) trades on such Scheduled
Trading Day that do not satisfy the requirements of Rule 10b-18(b)(3) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) on such Trading Day) or, if the
price displayed on such screen is clearly erroneous, as determined by the Calculation Agent
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

Observation Dates:

As specified in Schedule I

Calculation Period:

The period from, and including, the first Observation Date that is a Trading Day that occurs
on or after the Prepayment Date to, but excluding, the relevant Valuation Date; provided,
however, that if the Valuation Date is the Scheduled Valuation Date, then the Valuation Date
shall be included in the Calculation Period; provided further that in no event shall any
Scheduled Valuation Date be postponed to a date later than the Final Termination Date.

Final Termination Date:

As specified in Schedule I; provided that if a Market Disruption Event has occurred pursuant
to Section 7 of this Confirmation, such Final Termination Date shall be postponed by one
Trading Day for every Trading Day that is a Disrupted Day as a result of such Merger
Transaction during the Calculation Period

Trading Day:

Any Exchange Business Day that is not a Disrupted Day in whole

Initial Shares:

As specified in Schedule I; provided that if Dealer is unable to borrow or otherwise acquire a
number of Shares equal to the Initial Shares for delivery to Issuer on the Initial Share
Delivery Date, the Initial Shares delivered on the Initial Share Delivery Date shall be reduced
to such number of Shares that Dealer is able to so borrow or otherwise acquire, and thereafter
Dealer shall continue to use commercially reasonable efforts to borrow or otherwise acquire
a number of Shares, at a stock borrow cost no greater than the Initial Stock Loan Rate, equal
to the shortfall in the Initial Shares and to deliver such additional Shares as soon as
reasonably practicable. For the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate of all shares delivered to
Dealer in respect of the Transaction pursuant to this paragraph shall be the “Initial Shares”
for purposes of determining the “Settlement Amount” below.

Initial Share Delivery Date:

One Exchange Business Day following the Trade Date. On the Initial Share Delivery Date,
Seller shall deliver to Buyer a number of Shares equal to the Initial Shares in accordance with
Section 9.4 of the Equity Definitions, with the Initial Share Delivery Date being deemed to be
a “Settlement Date” for purposes of such Section 9.4.

Prepayment:

Applicable

Prepayment Amount:

As specified in Schedule I

Prepayment Date:

One Exchange Business Day following the Trade Date. On the Prepayment Date, Buyer shall
pay to Seller the Prepayment Amount.

Exchange:

The Nasdaq Global Select Market

Related Exchange:

All Exchanges; provided that Section 1.26 of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to add
the words “United States” before the word “exchange” in the tenth line of such Section.

Market Disruption Event:

The definition of “Market Disruption Event” in Section 6.3(a) of the Equity Definitions is
hereby amended by deleting the words “at any time during the one-hour period that ends at
the relevant Valuation Time, Latest Exercise Time, Knock-in Valuation Time or Knock-out
Valuation Time, as the case may be,” starting in the third line thereof.
Section 6.3(d) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the remainder of the
provision following the term “Scheduled Closing Time” in the fourth line thereof.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Equity Definitions, if any Exchange
Business Day in the Calculation Period or the Buyer Settlement Valuation Period is a
Disrupted Day, the Calculation Agent shall have the option, in its reasonable discretion, to
take one or more of the following actions in a good faith and commercially reasonable
manner: (i) determine that such Exchange Business Day is a Disrupted Day in part, in which
case the Calculation Agent shall (x) determine the 10b-18 VWAP on such Exchange
Business Day based on Rule 10b-18 eligible trades in the Shares on such day taking into
account the nature and duration of the relevant Market Disruption Event and (y) determine
the Forward Price or Buyer Settlement Price, as applicable, using an appropriately weighted
average of 10b-18 VWAPs instead of an arithmetic mean, and/or (ii) elect to (x) postpone the
Scheduled Valuation Date (in the case of a Disrupted Day during the Calculation Period) or
(y) extend the Buyer Settlement Valuation Period (in the case of a Disrupted Day during the
Buyer Settlement Valuation Period) by up to one Observation Date for every Observation
Date that is a Disrupted Day during the Calculation Period or Buyer Settlement Valuation
Period, as applicable; provided that in no event shall any Scheduled Valuation Date be
postponed to a date later than the Final Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if the
Calculation Agent takes the action described in clause (i) above, then such Disrupted Day
shall be a Trading Day for purposes of calculating the Forward Price or Buyer Settlement
Price, as applicable.
Any Exchange Business Day on which, as of the date hereof, the Exchange is scheduled to
close prior to its normal close of trading shall be deemed not to be an Exchange Business
Day; if a closure of the Exchange prior to its normal close of trading on any Exchange
Business Day is scheduled following the date hereof, then such Exchange Business Day shall
be deemed to be a Disrupted Day in full.
If a Disrupted Day occurs during the Calculation Period or the Buyer Settlement Valuation
Period and each of the nine immediately following Scheduled Trading Days is a Disrupted
Day, then the Calculation Agent may, in its good faith and commercially reasonable
discretion, deem such ninth Scheduled Trading Day to be an Exchange Business Day that is
not a Disrupted Day and determine the 10b-18 VWAP for such ninth Scheduled Trading Day
using its good faith and commercially reasonable estimate of the value of the Shares on such
ninth Scheduled Trading Day based on the volume, historical trading patterns and trading
price of the Shares.

VALUATION:
Valuation Date:

The earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (ii) any earlier accelerated Valuation Date
as a result of Dealer’s election in accordance with the immediately succeeding paragraph.
Dealer shall have the right, in its absolute discretion but subject to the limitation set forth in
the immediately succeeding paragraph, to accelerate the Valuation Date, in whole or in part
(an “Acceleration”), to any Exchange Business Day that is on or after the Lock-Out Date
and prior to the Scheduled Valuation Date by notice (each such notice, an “Acceleration
Notice”) to Issuer by 9:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Exchange Business Day
immediately following the accelerated Valuation Date; provided that if at any time after the
Lock-Out Date Dealer expects the Settlement Amount to be a negative number, then Dealer
shall provide Issuer notice of any such expectation.
Dealer shall specify in each Acceleration Notice the portion of the Prepayment Amount that
is subject to acceleration (which may be less than the full Prepayment Amount, but only so
long as such portion is not less than USD 25,000,000). If the portion of the Prepayment
Amount that is subject to acceleration is less than the full Prepayment Amount, then the
Calculation Agent shall adjust the terms of the Transaction as appropriate in order to take
into account the occurrence of such accelerated Valuation Date (including cumulative
adjustments to take into account all prior accelerated Valuation Dates).
On each Valuation Date, the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Settlement Amount.

Scheduled Valuation Date:

As specified in Schedule I, subject to postponement in accordance with “Market Disruption
Event” above

Lock-Out Date:

As specified in Schedule I

SETTLEMENT TERMS:
Physical Settlement:

Applicable.
On the Settlement Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a number of Shares equal to (a) (i) the
Prepayment Amount divided by (ii) the Forward Price minus (b) the Initial Shares (such
number of Shares, the “Settlement Amount”), rounded to the nearest whole number of
Shares; provided, however, that if the Settlement Amount is less than zero, then the Buyer
Settlement Provisions in Annex A hereto shall apply.

Settlement Currency:

USD

Settlement Date:

The date that falls one Settlement Cycle after the relevant Valuation Date.

Other Applicable Provisions:

The last sentence of Section 9.2, Sections 9.8, 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11 (except that the
Representation and Agreement contained in Section 9.11 of the Equity Definitions shall be
modified by excluding any representations therein relating to restrictions, obligations,
limitations or requirements under applicable securities laws arising as a result of the fact that
Buyer is the issuer of the Shares) and Section 9.12 of the Equity Definitions will be
applicable to the Transaction.

SHARE ADJUSTMENTS:
Potential Adjustment Event:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 11.2(e) of the Equity Definitions, an
Extraordinary Dividend shall not constitute a Potential Adjustment Event.
It shall constitute a Potential Adjustment Event if a Disrupted Day occurs or, pursuant to
Section 9 below, is deemed to occur (in whole or in part) on any Trading Day on or prior to
the Valuation Date.

Extraordinary Dividend:

Any dividend or distribution on the Shares with an ex- dividend date occurring during the
period from, and including, the Trade Date to, and including, the last day of the Potential
Purchase Period (as defined below) (other than any dividend or distribution of the type
described in Section 11.2(e)(i), Section 11.2(e)(ii)(A) or Section 11.2(e)(ii)(B) of the Equity
Definitions).

Method of Adjustment:

Calculation Agent Adjustment; provided that the parties hereto agree that any Share
repurchases by the Issuer, whether pursuant to Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b51 of the Exchange Act on customary terms, at prevailing market prices, or VWAP (subject to
any discounts thereto) shall not be considered Potential Adjustment Events; provided further
that adjustments for any Potential Adjustment Event (other than pursuant to any Potential
Adjustment Event defined in Sections 11.2(e)(i), 11.2(e)(ii)(A) and 11.2(e)(iii) of the Equity
Definitions) may be made to account for changes in volatility, stock loan rate or liquidity
relevant to the Shares or the Transaction.

EXTRAORDINARY EVENTS:
Consequences of Merger Events:
Share-for-Share:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Other:

Cancellation and Payment on that portion of the Other Consideration that consists of cash;
Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment on the remainder of the Other Consideration

Share-for-Combined:

Component Adjustment

Tender Offer:

Applicable; provided that the definition of “Tender Offer” in Section 12.1 of the Equity
Definitions will be amended by replacing the phrase “greater than 10% and less than 100%
of the outstanding voting shares of the Issuer” in the third and fourth line thereof with “(a)
greater than 15% and less than 100% of the outstanding Shares of the Issuer in the event that
such Tender Offer is being made by any entity or person other than the Issuer or any
subsidiary thereof or (b) greater than 20% and less than 100% of the outstanding Shares of
the Issuer in the event that such Tender Offer is being made by the Issuer or any subsidiary
thereof”.

Consequences of Tender Offers:
Share-for-Share:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Other:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Combined:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

New Shares:

In the definition of New Shares in Section 12.1(i) of the Equity Definitions, the text in clause
(i) thereof shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with “publicly quoted, traded or listed
on any of the New York Stock Exchange, The NASDAQ Global Select Market or The
NASDAQ Global Market (or their respective successors)”.

For purposes of the Transaction,
(i)

the definition of Merger Date in Section 12.1(c) of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to add “each of the Announcement Date and”
immediately following the word “means”;

(ii)

the definition of Tender Offer Date in Section 12.1(e) of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to add “each of the Announcement Date
and” immediately preceding the words “the date”; and

(iii)

the definition of “Announcement Date” in Section 12.1(l) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (a) replacing the words “a firm”
with the word “any bona fide” in the second and fourth lines thereof, (b) replacing the word “leads to the” with the words “, if completed,
would lead to a” in the third and the fifth lines thereof, (c) replacing the words “voting shares” with the word “Shares” in the fifth line
thereof, (d) inserting the words “by any bona fide entity that is reasonably likely to be a party to the transaction” after the word
“announcement” in the second and the fourth lines thereof, (e) inserting the words “or to explore the possibility of engaging in” after the
words “engage in” in the second line thereof and (f) inserting the words “or to explore the possibility of purchasing or otherwise
obtaining” after the word “obtain” in the fourth line thereof.

Composition of Combined Consideration:

Not Applicable

Nationalization, Insolvency or Delisting:

Cancellation and Payment; provided that in addition to the provisions of Section 12.6(a)(iii)
of the Equity Definitions, it shall constitute a Delisting if the Exchange is located in the
United States and the Shares are not immediately re-listed, re- traded or re-quoted on any of
the New York Stock Exchange, The NASDAQ Global Market or The NASDAQ Global
Select Market (or their respective successors); if the Shares are immediately re-listed, retraded or re-quoted on any such exchange or quotation system, such exchange or quotation
system shall thereafter be deemed to be the Exchange.

Additional Disruption Events:
Change in Law:

Applicable; provided that (i) any determination as to whether (A) the adoption of or any
change in any applicable law or regulation (including, for the avoidance of doubt and without
limitation, (x) any tax law or (y) adoption or promulgation of new regulations authorized or
mandated by existing statute) or (B) the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation
by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable
law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), in each case, constitutes
a “Change in Law” shall be made without regard to Section 739 of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 or any similar legal certainty provision
in any legislation enacted, or rule or regulation promulgated, on or after the Trade Date, (ii)
Section 12.9(a)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by replacing the parenthetical
beginning after the word “regulation” in the second line thereof the words “(including, for
the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, (x) any tax law or (y) adoption or
promulgation of new regulations authorized or mandated by existing statute)” and (iii) by,
immediately following the word “Transaction” in clause (x) thereof, adding the phrase “in
the manner contemplated by the Hedging Party on the Trade Date”.

Failure to Deliver:

Applicable

Insolvency Filing:

Applicable

Hedging Disruption:

Applicable

Increased Cost of Hedging:

Not Applicable

Loss of Stock Borrow:

Applicable

Maximum Stock Loan Rate:

200 bps

Increased Cost of Stock Borrow:

Applicable

Initial Stock Loan Rate:

25 bps

Determining Party:

For all applicable events, Dealer; provided that, when making any determination or
calculation as “Determining Party,” Dealer shall be bound by the same obligations relating to
required acts of the Calculation Agent as set forth in Section 1.40 of the Equity Definitions
and this Confirmation as if Determining Party were the Calculation Agent. All calculations
and determinations made by the Determining Party shall be made in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner.
Following any determination or calculation by Determining Party hereunder, upon a written
request by Issuer, Determining Party will promptly (but in any event within five Scheduled
Trading Days) provide to Issuer in writing a report (in a commonly used file format for the
storage and manipulation of financial data) displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such
determination or calculation (including any assumptions used in the making of such
determination or calculation), it being understood that in no event will Determining Party be
obligated to share with Issuer any proprietary or confidential data or information or any
proprietary or confidential models used by it in making such determination or calculation or
any information that is subject to an obligation not to disclose such information.

Hedging Party:

For all applicable events, Dealer

Non-Reliance:

Applicable

Agreements and Acknowledgements Regarding Hedging
Activities:

Applicable

Additional Acknowledgments:

Applicable

3. Calculation Agent:

Dealer; provided that following the occurrence of an Event of Default of the type described
in Section 5(a)(vii) of the Agreement with respect to which Dealer is the sole Defaulting
Party, if the Calculation Agent fails to timely make any calculation, adjustment or
determination required to be made by the Calculation Agent hereunder or to perform any
obligation of the Calculation Agent hereunder and such failure continues for five (5)
Exchange Business Days following notice to the Calculation Agent by Issuer of such failure
the Issuer shall have the right to designate a nationally recognized third-party dealer in overthe-counter corporate equity derivatives to act, during the period commencing on the date
such Event of Default occurred and ending on the Early Termination Date with respect to
such Event of Default, as the Calculation Agent.
All calculations and determinations by the Calculation Agent shall be made in good faith and
in a commercially reasonable manner. Following any calculation made by the Calculation
Agent hereunder, upon a prior written request by the Issuer, the Calculation Agent will
provide to the Issuer by email to the email address provided by the Issuer in such prior
written request a report (in a commonly used file format for the storage and manipulation of
financial data) displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such calculation and specifying
the particular section of the Confirmation pursuant to which such calculation or
determination is being made (and in the event that more than one section of the Confirmation
would permit the Calculation Agent to make an adjustment upon the occurrence of a specific
event, then the Calculation Agent shall specify the particular section number pursuant to
which the Calculation Agent is making the adjustment hereunder); provided, however, that in
no event will the Calculation Agent be obligated to share with the Issuer any proprietary or
confidential data or information or any proprietary models used by it.

4. Account Details and Notices:
(a) Account for delivery of Shares to Issuer:
Shares to be delivered to:
Computershare 250 Royal Street
Canton, MA 02021
ATTN: Client Operations (Align Technology, Inc)
(b) Account for payments to Issuer:
Bank of America Acct: provided
ABA: provided
(c) Account for payments to Dealer:

Chase Manhattan Bank New York
For A/C Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
A/C #: provided
ABA: provided
For purposes of this Confirmation:
(i) Address for notices or communications to Issuer:
Align Technology, Inc.
410 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 1300
Tempe, Arizona 85281
Attn: Legal Department
(ii) Address for notices or communications to Dealer:
Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
200 West Street
New York, NY 10282-2198
Attention: Michael Voris, Equity Capital Markets
Telephone: provided
Facsimile: provided
Email: provided
With a copy to:
Attention: Blair Seideman, Equity Capital Markets
Telephone: provided
Facsimile: provided
Email: provided
And email notification to the following address:
provided
5. Amendments to the Equity Definitions and Agreement.
(a) Section 9.2(a)(iii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “the Excess Dividend Amount, if any, and”.
(b) Section 11.2(a) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value
of the relevant Shares” and replacing them with the words “a material economic effect on the relevant Transaction”.
(c) The first sentence of Section 11.2(c) of the Equity Definitions, prior to clause (A) thereof, is hereby amended to read as follows: ‘(c) If
“Calculation Agent Adjustment” is specified as the Method of Adjustment in the related Confirmation of a Share Option Transaction or Share Forward
Transaction, then, following the announcement or occurrence of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will determine in its commercially
reasonable judgment whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a material economic effect on the Transaction and, if so, will (i) make appropriate
adjustment(s), if any, to any one or more of:’ and the portion of such sentence immediately preceding clause (ii) thereof is hereby amended by replacing the
words “diluting or concentrative” with the words “material economic”.
(d) Section 11.2(e)(vii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical
value of the relevant Shares” and replacing them with the

words “any other corporate event involving the Issuer that in the commercially reasonable judgment of the Calculation Agent has a material economic
effect on the relevant Transaction”.
(e) Section 12.6(c)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by replacing the words “the Transaction will be cancelled,” in the first line
with the words “Dealer will have the right to cancel the Transaction,”.
(f) Section 12.9(b)(iv) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (A) deleting (1) subsection (A) in its entirety, (2) the phrase “or (B)”
following subsection (A) and (3) the phrase “in each case” in subsection (B); and (B) deleting the phrase “neither the Non-Hedging Party nor the Lending
Party lends Shares in the amount of the Hedging Shares or” in the penultimate sentence.
(g)
Section 12.9(b)(v) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (A) adding the word “or” immediately before subsection “(B)” and
deleting the comma at the end of subsection (A); and (B)(1) deleting subsection (C) in its entirety, (2) deleting the word “or” immediately preceding
subsection (C) and (3) replacing in the penultimate sentence the words “either party” with “the Hedging Party” and (4) deleting clause (X) in the final
sentence.
(h) Section 2(a)(iii) of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the words “or Potential Event of Default” in clause (1) of such Section and
deleting the word “and” immediately before subsection (3) and deleting clause “(3)” in its entirety.
6. Alternative Termination Settlement.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, or in the Equity Definitions, if at any time (i) an Early Termination Date occurs or (ii) the Transaction is
cancelled or terminated upon the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event (other than (i) an Insolvency, a Nationalization, a Merger Event or a Tender Offer,
in each case, in which the consideration or proceeds to be paid to holders of Shares consists solely of cash or (ii) an Event of Default in which Issuer is the
Defaulting Party or a Termination Event in which Issuer is an Affected Party, which Event of Default or Termination Event resulted from an event or events
within Issuer’s control), if either party would owe any amount to the other party pursuant to Section 6(d)(ii) of the Agreement or any Cancellation Amount
pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions (any such amount, a “Payment Amount”), then such payment shall be paid as set forth under the
Agreement or Equity Definitions, as the case may be, unless Issuer makes an election to the contrary no later than the Early Termination Date or the date on
which such Transaction is terminated or cancelled, in which case Issuer or Dealer, as the case may be, shall deliver to the other party a number of Shares
(or a number of units, each comprising the number or amount of the securities or property that a hypothetical holder of one Share would receive in the case
of a Nationalization, Insolvency or Merger Event, as the case may be (each such unit, an “Alternative Delivery Unit”)), with a value equal to the Payment
Amount, as determined by the Calculation Agent. In determining the number of Shares (or Alternative Delivery Units) required to be delivered under this
provision, the Calculation Agent may take into account a number of factors, including, without limitation, the market price of the Shares (or Alternative
Delivery Units) on the Early Termination Date or the date of early cancellation or termination, as the case may be. Additionally, if such delivery is made by
Dealer, the Calculation Agent shall take into account the prices at which Dealer purchases Shares (or Alternative Delivery Units) to fulfill its delivery
obligations under this Section 6; provided that in determining the composition of any Alternative Delivery Unit, if the relevant Merger Event involves a
choice of consideration to be received by holders, such holder shall be deemed to have elected to receive the maximum possible amount of cash. If delivery
of Shares or Alternative Delivery Units, as the case may be, pursuant to this Section 6 is to be made by Issuer, paragraphs 2 through 8 of Annex A hereto
shall apply as if (A) such delivery were a settlement of the Transaction to which Net Share Settlement applied, (B) the Buyer Cash Settlement Payment
Date were the Early Termination Date or the date of early cancellation or termination, as the case may be, and (C) the Forward Cash Settlement Amount
were equal to (x) zero minus (y) the Payment Amount owed by Issuer.

7. Special Provisions for Merger Transactions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in the Equity Definitions:
(a) Issuer agrees that:
(i) Issuer will use its commercially reasonable efforts such that Issuer will not during the term of the Transaction make, or, to the extent
within its control, permit to be made, any public announcement (as defined in Rule 165(f) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”)) of any Merger Transaction or potential Merger Transaction unless such public announcement is made prior to the open or after the close of the
regular trading session on the Exchange for the Shares.
(ii) To the extent that an announcement of a potential Merger Transaction occurs during the term of the Transaction and Dealer has not
provided notice to Issuer as promptly as reasonably practicable following such announcement that Dealer will cause the Transaction to be cancelled or
terminated in whole pursuant to “Extraordinary Events” in Section 2 above, then as soon as practicable following such announcement (but in any event
prior to the next opening of the regular trading session on the Exchange), Issuer shall provide Dealer with written notice specifying (x) Issuer’s average
daily “Rule 10b-18 purchases” (as defined in Rule 10b-18) during the three full calendar months immediately preceding the Announcement Date that were
not effected through Dealer or its affiliates and (y) the number of Shares purchased pursuant to the block purchase proviso in Rule 10b-18(b)(4) under the
Exchange Act for the three full calendar months preceding the Announcement Date. Such written notice shall be deemed to be a certification by Issuer to
Dealer that such information is true and correct. Issuer understands that Dealer will use this information in calculating the trading volume for purposes of
Rule 10b-18. In addition, Issuer shall promptly notify Dealer of the earlier to occur of the completion of such transaction and the completion of the vote by
target shareholders. Issuer acknowledges that any such public announcement may trigger the provision set forth in Section 9 below.
Accordingly, Issuer acknowledges that its actions in relation to any such announcement or transaction must comply with the standards set forth in Section
11(b) below.
(b) Upon the occurrence of any public announcement of a Merger Transaction, Dealer may in a good faith and commercially reasonable manner
elect either to (i) apply the provisions of Section 9 below or (ii) treat the occurrence of such announcement as an Additional Termination Event with respect
to which the Transaction shall be the sole Affected Transaction, Issuer shall be the sole Affected Party and Dealer shall be the party entitled to designate an
Early Termination Date pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Agreement (a “Merger Termination Event”). In the event that the Dealer elects to treat the Merger
Transaction as a Merger Termination Event under this Section 7(b), then neither the provisions of “Extraordinary Events: Consequences of Merger Events”
set forth above in this Confirmation nor the provisions of Section 8 below shall apply.
“Merger Transaction” means any merger, acquisition or similar transaction involving a recapitalization of Issuer as contemplated by Rule 10b18(a)(13)(iv) under the Exchange Act.
8. Special Provisions for Acquisition Transaction Announcements.
(a) If an Acquisition Transaction Announcement occurs on or prior to the final Valuation Date, then the Forward Price shall be determined as if
the words “minus (ii) the Discount” were deleted from the definition thereof. If an Acquisition Transaction Announcement occurs after the Trade Date but
prior to the Lock-Out Date, the Lock-Out Date shall be deemed to be the date of such Acquisition Transaction Announcement.
(b) “Acquisition Transaction Announcement” means (i) the announcement of an Acquisition Transaction, (ii) an announcement that Issuer or
any of its subsidiaries has entered into an agreement, a letter of intent or an understanding designed to result in an Acquisition Transaction, (iii) the

announcement of the intention to solicit or enter into, or to explore strategic alternatives or other similar undertaking that may include, an Acquisition
Transaction, or (iv) any announcement subsequent to an Acquisition Transaction Announcement relating to a material amendment, a material extension,
withdrawal or other material change to the subject matter of the previous Acquisition Transaction Announcement. For the avoidance of doubt, the term
“announcement” as used in the definition of Acquisition Transaction Announcement refers to any public announcement whether made by Issuer or any
subsidiary or agent thereof or by a bona fide third party that is reasonably likely to be a party to the Acquisition Transaction.
(c) “Acquisition Transaction” means (i) any Merger Event (for purposes of this definition, the definition of Merger Event shall be read with the
references therein to “100%” being replaced by “25%” and to “50%” by “75%” and without reference to the clause beginning immediately following the
definition of Reverse Merger therein to the end of such definition), Tender Offer or Merger Transaction or any other transaction involving the merger of
Issuer with or into any third party, (ii) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets or liabilities of Issuer, (iii) a recapitalization,
reclassification, binding share exchange or other similar transaction or (iv) any acquisition, lease, exchange, transfer, disposition (including by way of spinoff or distribution) of assets or liabilities (including any capital stock or other ownership interests in subsidiaries) or other similar event by Issuer or any of
its subsidiaries where the aggregate consideration transferable or receivable by or to Issuer or its subsidiaries exceeds 25% of the market capitalization of
Issuer.
9. Dealer Adjustments.
In the event that Dealer determines, in a good faith and commercially reasonable manner that, based on advice of legal counsel, it is appropriate
with regard to any legal, regulatory or self-regulatory requirements or related policies and procedures (whether or not such requirements, policies or
procedures are imposed by law or have been voluntarily adopted by Dealer, and including, without limitation, Rule 10b-18, Rule 10b-5, Regulations 13D-G
and Regulations 14 D-E under the Exchange Act; provided that such requirements, policies and procedures relate to legal and regulatory issues and are
generally applicable in similar situations and applied in a consistent manner in similar transactions), for Dealer to refrain from purchasing Shares or
engaging in other market activity or to purchase fewer than the number of Shares or to engage in fewer or smaller other market transactions Dealer would
otherwise purchase or engage in on any Trading Day on or prior to the last day of the Potential Purchase Period, then Dealer may, in its reasonable
discretion, elect that a Market Disruption Event shall be deemed to have occurred on such Trading Day. Dealer shall notify Issuer upon the exercise of
Dealer’s rights pursuant to this Section 9 and the Trading Days affected by it and shall subsequently notify Issuer on the day Dealer believes that the
circumstances giving rise to such exercise have changed.
10. Covenants.
Issuer covenants and agrees that:
(a) Until the end of the Potential Purchase Period (as defined below), neither it nor any of its affiliated purchasers (as defined in Rule 10b-18
under the Exchange Act) shall directly or indirectly (which shall be deemed to include the writing or purchase of any cash-settled or other derivative or
structured Share repurchase transaction with a hedging period, calculation period or settlement valuation period or similar period that overlaps with the
Transaction) purchase, offer to purchase, place any bid or limit order relating to a purchase of or commence any tender offer relating to Shares (or any
security convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) without the prior written approval of Dealer or take any other action that would cause the purchase by
Dealer of any Shares in connection with this Confirmation not to qualify for the safe harbor provided in Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act (assuming for
the purposes of this paragraph that such safe harbor were otherwise available for such purchases); provided that this Section 10(a) shall not (i) limit the
Issuer’s ability, pursuant to its employee incentive plan or dividend reinvestment program to re-acquire Shares in connection with the related equity
transactions, (ii) limit the Issuer’s ability to withhold shares to cover tax liabilities associated with such equity transactions, (iii) limit the Issuer’s ability to
grant

stock and options to “affiliated purchasers” (as defined in Rule 10b-18) or the ability of such affiliated purchasers to acquire such stock or options, provided
that in connection with any such purchase Issuer will be deemed to represent to Dealer that such purchase does not constitute a “Rule 10b-18 Purchase” (as
defined in Rule 10b-18) (any such incentive or compensatory plan, program or policy of Issuer, a “Compensatory Plan”) or (iv) limit any purchases by
affiliated purchasers (as defined in Rule 10b-18) of the Issuer in an amount, in aggregate, not to exceed 3% of ADTV (as defined in Rule 10b-18) for such
Exchange Business Day, which purchases shall be executed by Dealer (or its affiliate) and made pursuant to documentation and terms reasonably
acceptable to Dealer and Issuer. “Potential Purchase Period” means the period from, and including, the Trade Date to, and including, the latest of (i) the
last day of any Buyer Settlement Valuation Period, (ii) the earlier of (A) the date ten Exchange Business Days immediately following the last day of the
Calculation Period and (B) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (iii) if an Early Termination Date occurs or the Transaction is cancelled pursuant to Article 12
of the Equity Definitions, a date determined by Dealer in its commercially reasonable discretion and communicated to Issuer no later than the Exchange
Business Day immediately following such date.
(b) Without limiting the generality of Section 13.1 of the Equity Definitions, it is not relying, and has not relied, upon Dealer or any of its
representatives or advisors with respect to the legal, accounting, tax or other implications of this Agreement and that it has conducted its own analyses of
the legal, accounting, tax and other implications of this Agreement, and that Dealer and its affiliates may from time to time effect transactions for their own
account or the account of customers and hold positions in securities or options on securities of Issuer and that Dealer and its affiliates may continue to
conduct such transactions during the term of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Issuer acknowledges that Dealer is not
making any representations or warranties or taking any position or expressing any view with respect to the treatment of the Transaction under any
accounting standards including ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing
Liabilities from Equity and ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (or any successor issue statements) or under FASB’s
Liabilities & Equity Project.
(c) Neither it nor any affiliates shall take any action that would cause a restricted period (as defined in Regulation M under the Exchange Act
(“Regulation M”)) to be applicable to any purchases of Shares, or of any security for which Shares is a reference security (as defined in Regulation M), by
Issuer or any affiliated purchasers (as defined in Regulation M) of Issuer during the Potential Purchase Period.
(d) It will not make any election or take any other action in connection with the Transaction while aware of any material nonpublic information
regarding Issuer or the Shares.
(e) It shall not declare or pay any Extraordinary Dividend until the Exchange Business Day immediately following the last day of the Potential
Purchase Period.
(f) Counterparty represents and warrants that it and any of its subsidiaries has not applied, and shall not, until after the first date on which no
portion of the Transaction remains outstanding following any final exercise and settlement, cancellation or early termination of the Transaction, apply, for a
loan, loan guarantee, direct loan (as that term is defined in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”)) or other
investment, or to receive any financial assistance or relief under any program or facility (collectively “Financial Assistance”) that (a) is established under
applicable law (whether in existence as of the Trade Date or subsequently enacted, adopted or amended), including without limitation the CARES Act and
the Federal Reserve Act, as amended, and (b) (i) requires under applicable law (or any regulation, guidance, interpretation or other pronouncement of a
governmental authority with jurisdiction for such program or facility) as a condition of such Financial Assistance, that the Counterparty comply with any
requirement not to repurchase, or otherwise agree, attest, certify or warrant that it has not, as of the date specified in such condition, repurchased, or will not
repurchase, any equity security of Counterparty, and that Counterparty has not, as of the date specified in the condition, made a capital distribution or will
not make a capital distribution, or (ii) where the terms of the Transaction would cause Counterparty to fail to satisfy any condition for application for or
receipt or retention of the Financial

Assistance (collectively “Restricted Financial Assistance”); provided, that Counterparty or any of its subsidiaries may apply for Restricted Financial
Assistance if Counterparty either (a) determines based on the advice of outside counsel of national standing that the terms of the Transaction would not
cause Counterparty or any of its subsidiaries to fail to satisfy any condition for application for or receipt or retention of such Financial Assistance based on
the terms of the program or facility as of the date of such advice or (b) delivers to Dealer evidence or other guidance from a governmental authority with
jurisdiction for such program or facility that the Transaction is permitted under such program or facility (either by specific reference to the Transaction or
by general reference to transactions with the attributes of the Transaction in all relevant respects).
11. Representations, Warranties and Acknowledgments.
(a) Issuer hereby represents and warrants to Dealer on the date hereof and on and as of the Initial Share Delivery Date that:
(i) (A) None of Issuer and its officers and directors is aware of any material nonpublic information regarding Issuer or the Shares, and is
entering into the Transaction in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of federal securities laws, including, without
limitation, Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act and (B) Issuer agrees not to alter or deviate from the terms of this Confirmation or enter into or alter a
corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the Shares (including, without limitation, with respect to any securities convertible or
exchangeable into the Shares) during the term of this Confirmation. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all reports and other documents filed
by Issuer with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act when considered as a whole (with the more recent such reports and
documents deemed to amend inconsistent statements contained in any earlier such reports and documents) do not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances in which
they were made, not misleading.
(ii)

The transactions contemplated by this Confirmation have been authorized under Issuer’s publicly announced program to repurchase

Shares.
(iii)
Issuer is not entering into this Confirmation to facilitate a distribution of the Shares (or any security convertible into or
exchangeable for Shares) or in connection with a future issuance of securities.
(iv) Issuer is not entering into this Confirmation to create actual or apparent trading activity in the Shares (or any security convertible
into or exchangeable for Shares) or to manipulate the price of the Shares (or any security convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) in violation of the
federal securities laws.
(v) There have been no purchases of Shares in Rule 10b-18 purchases of blocks pursuant to the once-a-week block exception contained
in Rule 10b-18(b)(4) by or for Issuer or any of its affiliated purchasers during each of the four calendar weeks preceding the Trade Date and during the
calendar week in which the Trade Date occurs (“Rule 10b-18 purchase”, “blocks” and “affiliated purchaser” each being used as defined in Rule 10b-18).
(vi) Issuer is as of the date hereof and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby will be, Solvent. As used in this
paragraph, the term “Solvent” means, with respect to a particular date, that on such date (A) the present fair market value (or present fair saleable value) of
the assets of Issuer is not less than the total amount required to pay the liabilities of Issuer on its total existing debts and liabilities (including contingent
liabilities) as they become absolute and matured, (B) Issuer is able to realize upon its assets and pay its debts and other liabilities, contingent obligations
and commitments as they mature and become due in the normal course of business, (C) assuming

consummation of the transactions as contemplated by this Confirmation, Issuer is not incurring debts or liabilities beyond its ability to pay as such debts
and liabilities mature, (D) Issuer is not engaged in any business or transaction, and does not propose to engage in any business or transaction, for which its
property would constitute unreasonably small capital after giving due consideration to the prevailing practice in the industry in which Issuer is engaged, (E)
Issuer is not a defendant in any civil action that could reasonably be expected to result in a judgment that Issuer is or would become unable to satisfy, (F)
Issuer is not “insolvent” (as such term is defined under Section 101(32) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (Title 11 of the United States Code) (the “Bankruptcy
Code”)) and (G) Issuer would be able to purchase Shares with an aggregate purchase price equal to the Prepayment Amount in compliance with the
corporate laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation.
(vii) Issuer is not, and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby will not be, required to register as an “investment
company” as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
(viii) No state or local (including non-U.S. jurisdictions) law, rule, regulation or regulatory order applicable to the Shares would give
rise to any reporting, consent, registration or other requirement (including without limitation a requirement to obtain prior approval from any person or
entity) as a result of Dealer or its affiliates owning or holding (however defined) Shares other than any such law, rule, regulation or regulatory order that
applies (A) to the beneficial ownership of Shares under the Exchange Act or (B) solely as a result of the business, identity, place of business or jurisdiction
of organization of Dealer or any such affiliate.
(b) Issuer acknowledges and agrees that the Initial Shares may be sold short to Issuer. Issuer further acknowledges and agrees that Dealer may
purchase Shares in connection with the Transaction, which Shares may be used to cover all or a portion of such short sale or may be delivered to Issuer.
Such purchases and any other market activity by Dealer will be conducted independently of Issuer by Dealer as principal for its own account. All of the
actions to be taken by Dealer in connection with the Transaction shall be taken by Dealer independently and without any advance or subsequent
consultation with Issuer. It is the intent of the parties that the Transaction comply with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(i)(B) of the Exchange Act,
and the parties agree that this Confirmation shall be interpreted to comply with the requirements of such Rule, and Issuer shall not take any action that
results in the Transaction not so complying with such requirements. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, Issuer acknowledges and
agrees that (A) Issuer does not have, and shall not attempt to exercise, any influence over how, when or whether Dealer effects any market transactions in
connection with the Transaction and (B) neither Issuer nor its officers or employees shall, directly or indirectly, communicate any information regarding
Issuer or the Shares to any employee of Dealer or its Affiliates that have been identified by Dealer to Issuer in writing as employees responsible for
executing market transactions in connection with the Transaction. Issuer also acknowledges and agrees that any amendment, modification, waiver or
termination of this Confirmation must be effected in accordance with the requirements for the amendment or termination of a “plan” as defined in Rule
10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any such amendment, modification, waiver or termination shall be
made in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act, and no such amendment,
modification or waiver shall be made at any time at which Issuer or any officer or director of Issuer is aware of any material nonpublic information
regarding Issuer or the Shares.
(c) Each of Issuer and Dealer represents and warrants to the other that it is an “eligible contract participant” as defined in Section 1a(12) of the
U.S. Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.
(d) Each of Issuer and Dealer acknowledges that the offer and sale of the Transaction to it is intended to be exempt from registration under the
Securities Act by virtue of Section 4(2) thereof. Accordingly, it represents and warrants to the other party that (i) it has the financial ability to bear the
economic risk of its investment in the Transaction and is able to bear a total loss of its investment, (ii) it is an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in
Regulation D as promulgated under the Securities Act,

(iii) it is entering into the Transaction for its own account and without a view to the distribution or resale thereof and (iv) the assignment, transfer or other
disposition of the Transaction has not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and is restricted under this Confirmation, the Securities Act
and state securities laws.
(e) In addition to the representations, warranties and covenants in the Agreement, Dealer represents warrants and covenants to Issuer that:
(i)

In addition to the covenants in the Agreement and herein, Dealer agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts, during the Calculation
Period and any Buyer Settlement Valuation Period for the Transaction, to make all purchases of Shares in connection with such
Transaction in a manner that would comply with the limitations set forth in clauses (b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(3) and (b)(4) and (c) of Rule 10b18, as if such rule were applicable to such purchases and taking into account any applicable Securities and Exchange Commission noaction letters as appropriate, and subject to any delays between the execution and reporting of a trade of the Shares on the Exchange and
other circumstances beyond Dealer’s control; provided that, during the Calculation Period, the foregoing agreement shall not apply to
purchases made to dynamically hedge for Dealer’s own account or the account of its affiliate(s) the optionality arising under the
Transaction (including, for the avoidance of doubt, timing optionality); provided further that, without limiting the generality of this
Section, Dealer shall not be responsible for any failure to comply with Rule 10b-18(b)(3) to the extent any transaction that was executed
(or deemed to be executed) by or on behalf of Issuer or an “affiliated purchaser” (as defined under Rule 10b-18) pursuant to a separate
agreement is not deemed to be an “independent bid” or an “independent transaction” for purposes of Rule 10b-18(b)(3).

(ii)

Dealer hereby represents and covenants to Issuer that it has implemented policies and procedures, taking into consideration the nature of
its business, reasonably designed to ensure that (A) individuals making investment decisions related to the Transaction do not have access
to material nonpublic information regarding Issuer or the Shares and (B) individuals of Dealer that are in possession of material
nonpublic information regarding the Issuer or the Shares have not, while in possession of such material nonpublic information,
participated in any offsetting transaction(s) in respect of such Transaction.

(iii) Within one Exchange Business Day of purchasing any Shares on behalf of Issuer pursuant to the once-a-week block exception set forth in
paragraph (b)(4) of Rule 10b-18, Dealer shall notify Issuer of the total number of Shares so purchased.
(iv) On the first Exchange Business Day of each week, Dealer shall provide weekly reports (the “Weekly Reports”) in connection with the
Transaction to the Issuer and to such other persons or agents of the Issuer as the Issuer shall reasonably designate in writing, by electronic
mail to the Issuer or its designee. Each Weekly Report shall include the ADTV (as defined in Rule 10b-18) in the Shares for each
Scheduled Trading Day during the immediately preceding week (as defined and determined in accordance with Rule 10b-18, as defined
herein), the 10b-18 VWAP for each such Scheduled Trading Day and the high and low price on each such Scheduled Trading Day. For
the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the two immediately preceding sentences, the 10b-18 VWAP for
purposes of this Master Confirmation shall be determined pursuant the language opposite the caption “10b-18 VWAP” in Section 1 of
this Confirmation and not on the basis of, or by reference to, the 10b-18 VWAP set forth in any Weekly Report.

12. Acknowledgements of Issuer.
(a) Issuer agrees, understands and acknowledges that:
(i) during the period from (and including) the Trade Date to (and including) the Settlement Date, Dealer and its Affiliates may buy or
sell Shares or other securities or buy or sell options or futures contracts or enter into swaps or other derivative transactions in order to adjust its Hedge
Position with respect to the Transaction;
(ii) Dealer and its Affiliates also may be active in the market for the Shares or options, futures contracts, swaps or other derivative
transactions relating to the Shares other than in connection with hedging activities in relation to the Transaction;
(iii) Dealer shall make its own determination as to whether, when and in what manner any hedging or market activities in Issuer’s
securities or other securities or transactions shall be conducted and shall do so in a manner that it deems appropriate to hedge its price and market risk with
respect to the Transaction; and
(iv) any such market activities of Dealer and its Affiliates may affect the market price and volatility of the Shares, including the 10b-18
VWAP and the Forward Price, each in a manner that may be adverse to Issuer.
(b) Issuer:
(i) is an “institutional account” as defined in FINRA Rule 4512(c);
(ii) is capable of evaluating investment risks independently, both in general and with regard to all transactions and investment strategies
involving a security or securities, and will exercise independent judgment in evaluating the recommendations of Dealer or its associated persons, unless it
has otherwise notified Dealer in writing; and
(iii) will notify Dealer if any of the statements contained in clause (i) or (ii) of this Section 12(b) ceases to be true.
13. Delivery of Cash.
For the avoidance of doubt, other than payment of the Prepayment Amount by Issuer, nothing in this Confirmation shall be interpreted as requiring
Issuer to cash settle the Transaction hereunder, except in circumstances where cash settlement is within Issuer’s control or in those circumstances in which
holders of the Shares would also receive cash.
14. Other Provisions.
(a) Issuer agrees and acknowledges that Dealer is a “financial institution” and “financial participant” within the meaning of Sections 101(22) and
101(22A) of the Bankruptcy Code. The parties hereto further agree and acknowledge that it is the intent of the parties that (A) this Confirmation is a
“securities contract,” as such term is defined in Section 741(7) of the Bankruptcy Code, with respect to which each payment and delivery hereunder or in
connection herewith is a “termination value,” “payment amount” or “other transfer obligation” within the meaning of Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code
and a “settlement payment,” within the meaning of Section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (B) Dealer is entitled to the protections afforded by, among
other sections, Sections 362(b)(6), 362(b)(17), 362(o), 546(e), 555 and 561 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(b) Dealer and Issuer hereby agree and acknowledge that Dealer has authorized Issuer to disclose the Transaction to any and all persons, and
there are no express or implied agreements, arrangements or understandings to the contrary, and authorizes Issuer to use any information that Issuer
receives or has received with respect to the Transaction in any manner.
(c) In the event Issuer becomes the subject of proceedings (“Bankruptcy Proceedings”) under the Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable
bankruptcy or insolvency statute, any rights or claims of Dealer hereunder in respect of the Transaction shall rank for all purposes no higher than, but on a
parity with, the rights or claims of holders of Shares, and Dealer hereby agrees that its rights and claims hereunder shall be subordinated to those of all
parties with claims or rights against Issuer (other than common stockholders) to the extent necessary to assure such ranking. Without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, after the commencement of Bankruptcy Proceedings, the claims of Dealer hereunder shall for all purposes have rights equivalent to the
rights of a holder of a percentage of the Shares equal to the aggregate amount of such claims (the “Claim Amount”) taken as a percentage of the sum of (i)
the Claim Amount and (ii) the aggregate fair market value of all outstanding Shares on the record date for distributions made to the holders of such Shares
in the related Bankruptcy Proceedings. Notwithstanding any right it might otherwise have to assert a higher priority claim in any such Bankruptcy
Proceedings, Dealer shall be entitled to receive a distribution solely to the extent and only in the form that a holder of such percentage of the Shares would
be entitled to receive in such Bankruptcy Proceedings, and, from and after the commencement of such Bankruptcy Proceedings, Dealer expressly waives (i)
any other rights or distributions to which it might otherwise be entitled in such Bankruptcy Proceedings in respect of its rights and claims hereunder and (ii)
any rights of setoff it might otherwise be entitled to assert in respect of such rights and claims.
(d) Notwithstanding any provision of this Confirmation or any other agreement between the parties to the contrary, neither the obligations of
Issuer nor the obligations of Dealer hereunder are secured by any collateral, security interest, pledge or lien.
(e)
Each party waives any and all rights it may have to set off obligations arising under the Agreement and the Transaction against other
obligations between the parties, whether arising under any other agreement, applicable law or otherwise.
(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Dealer may, by prior notice to Issuer, satisfy its obligation to deliver any Shares or other
securities on any date due (an “Original Delivery Date”) by making separate deliveries of Shares or such securities, as the case may be, at more than one
time on or prior to such Original Delivery Date, so long as the aggregate number of Shares and other securities so delivered on or prior to such Original
Delivery Date is equal to the number required to be delivered on such Original Delivery Date.
(g) It shall constitute an Additional Termination Event with respect to which the Transaction is the sole Affected Transaction and Issuer is the
sole Affected Party and Dealer shall be the party entitled to designate an Early Termination Date pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Agreement if, at any time
on or prior to the Valuation Date, the price per Share on the Exchange, as determined by the Calculation Agent, is at or below the Threshold Price (as
specified in Schedule I).
(h) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Confirmation to the contrary requiring or allowing Dealer to purchase, sell, receive or deliver
any Shares or other securities to or from Issuer, Dealer may designate any of its affiliates (a “Designated Affiliate”) to purchase, sell, receive or deliver
such Shares or other securities and otherwise to perform Dealer’s obligations in respect of the Transaction and any such designee may assume such
obligations. Dealer shall be discharged of its obligations to Issuer to the extent that such Designated Affiliate performs in full all of the obligations of
Dealer designated by Dealer to such Designated Affiliate under this Transaction.

15. Transfer and Assignment.
Dealer may transfer or assign its rights and obligations hereunder and under the Agreement (“Transfer”), in whole or in part, to any of its
Affiliates that have a credit rating that is not lower than the credit rating of Dealer immediately prior to the proposed time of such Transfer (or whose
obligations are guaranteed by an entity of equivalent credit quality) without the consent of Issuer. Dealer will provide prompt written notice of any such
transfer to Issuer.
16. US Resolution Stay.
(a) Recognition of the U.S. Special Resolution Regimes.
(i) In the event that Dealer becomes subject to a proceeding under (i) the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and the regulations promulgated
thereunder or (ii) Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder (a “U.S. Special
Resolution Regime”) the transfer from Dealer of this Confirmation, and any interest and obligation in or under, and any property securing, this
Confirmation, will be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if this Confirmation, and any
interest and obligation in or under, and any property securing, this Confirmation were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United
States.
(ii) In the event that Dealer or an Affiliate becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, any Default Rights (as
defined in 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable (“Default Right”)) under this Confirmation that may be exercised against Dealer are permitted
to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if this Confirmation were
governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.
(b) Limitation on Exercise of Certain Default Rights Related to an Affiliate’s Entry Into Insolvency Proceedings. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in this Confirmation, the parties expressly acknowledge and agree that:
(i) Counterparty shall not be permitted to exercise any Default Right with respect to this Confirmation or any Affiliate Credit Enhancement
that is related, directly or indirectly, to an Affiliate of Dealer becoming subject to receivership, insolvency, liquidation, resolution, or similar proceeding (an
“Insolvency Proceeding”), except to the extent that the exercise of such Default Right would be permitted under the provisions of 12 C.F.R. 252.84, 12
C.F.R. 47.5 or 12 C.F.R. 382.4, as applicable; and
(ii) Nothing in this Confirmation shall prohibit the transfer of any Affiliate Credit Enhancement, any interest or obligation in or under such
Affiliate Credit Enhancement, or any property securing such Affiliate Credit Enhancement, to a transferee upon or following an Affiliate of Dealer
becoming subject to an Insolvency Proceeding, unless the transfer would result in the Counterparty being the beneficiary of such Affiliate Credit
Enhancement in violation of any law applicable to the Counterparty.
(iii) For the purpose of this paragraph:
(A) “Affiliate” is defined in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. § 1841(k).
(B)

“Credit Enhancement” means any credit enhancement or credit support arrangement in support of the obligations of Dealer under or
with respect to this Confirmation, including any guarantee, collateral arrangement (including any pledge, charge, mortgage or
other security interest in collateral or

title transfer arrangement), trust or similar arrangement, letter of credit, transfer of margin or any similar arrangement.
(c) U.S. Protocol. If Counterparty has previously adhered to, or subsequently adheres to, the ISDA 2018 U.S. Resolution Stay Protocol as
published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. as of July 31, 2018 (the “ISDA U.S. Protocol”), the terms of the ISDA U.S.
Protocol shall be incorporated into and form a part of this Confirmation and the terms of the ISDA U.S. Protocol shall supersede and replace the terms of
this section. For purposes of incorporating the ISDA U.S. Protocol, Dealer shall be deemed to be a Regulated Entity, Counterparty shall be deemed to be an
Adhering Party, and this Confirmation shall be deemed to be a Protocol Covered Agreement. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this paragraph shall
have the meanings given to them in the ISDA U.S. Protocol.
(d) Pre-existing In-Scope Agreements. Dealer and Counterparty agree that to the extent there are any outstanding “in-scope QFCs,” as defined
in 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(d), that are not excluded under 12 C.F.R. § 252.88, between Dealer and Counterparty that do not otherwise comply with the
requirements of 12 C.F.R. § 252.2, 252.81–8 (each such agreement, a “Preexisting In-Scope Agreement”), then each such Preexisting In-Scope
Agreement is hereby amended to include the foregoing provisions in this section, with references to “this Confirmation” being understood to be references
to the applicable Preexisting In-Scope Agreement.
17. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver.
THIS CONFIRMATION AND ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY OR DISPUTE ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS
CONFIRMATION SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY
SUBMIT TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND THE UNITED STATES COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK IN CONNECTION WITH ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO AND WAIVE ANY
OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF VENUE IN, AND ANY CLAIM OF INCONVENIENT FORUM WITH RESPECT TO, THESE COURTS.
EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES (ON ITS OWN BEHALF AND, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, ON BEHALF OF ITS STOCKHOLDERS) ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR
COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE
TRANSACTION OR THE ACTIONS OF THE OTHER PARTY OR THE OTHER PARTY’S AFFILIATES IN THE NEGOTIATION,
PERFORMANCE OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank

Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth the terms of our agreement by executing this Confirmation and returning an original or electronic
copy in accordance with the notice provisions set forth in Section 4.
Confirmed as of the date first written above:
ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC
By:

/s/ John Morici
Name:

John Morici

Title: CFO and SVP, Global Finance

GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC
By:

/s/ Ashley Everett
Name: Ashley Everett
Title: Managing Director

ANNEX A
BUYER SETTLEMENT PROVISIONS
1. The following Buyer Settlement Provisions shall apply to the Transaction to the extent indicated under the Confirmation:
Settlement Currency: USD
Settlement Method Election: Applicable; provided that (i) Section 7.1 of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the word
“Physical” in the sixth line thereof and replacing it with the words “Net Share” and (ii) the Electing Party
may make a settlement method election only if the Electing Party represents and warrants to Dealer in
writing on the date it notifies Dealer of its election that, as of such date, the Electing Party is not aware of
any material nonpublic information concerning Issuer or the Shares and is electing the settlement method
in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade compliance with the federal securities laws.
Electing Party: Buyer
Settlement Method
Election Date: In respect of any Valuation Date, the earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (ii) the third Exchange Business
Day immediately following the Valuation Date designated in an Acceleration (if any) (in which case the
election under Section 7.1 of the Equity Definitions shall be made no later than 10 minutes prior to the
open of trading on the Exchange on such second Exchange Business Day), as the case may be.
Default Settlement Method: Cash Settlement
Forward Cash Settlement
Amount: The Settlement Amount multiplied by the Buyer Settlement Price.
Buyer Settlement Price:

Buyer Settlement

The average of the 10b-18 VWAPs for the Observation Dates that are Trading Days in the Buyer Settlement
Valuation Period, subject to the provisions opposite the caption “Market Disruption Event” in the
Confirmation, plus USD 0.05 (in each case, plus interest on such amount during the Buyer Settlement
Valuation Period at the rate of interest for Issuer’s long term, unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness,
as determined in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent).

Valuation Period:

A number of Scheduled Trading Days selected by Dealer in its commercially reasonable discretion, beginning on the
Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date or (ii) the
Exchange Business Day immediately following the Valuation Date.

Cash Settlement:

If Cash Settlement is applicable, then Buyer shall pay to Seller the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement
Amount on the Buyer Cash Settlement Payment Date.

Buyer Cash Settlement
Payment Date: The date one Settlement Cycle following the last day of the Buyer Settlement Valuation Period.
Net Share Settlement
Procedures: If Net Share Settlement is applicable, Net Share Settlement shall be made in accordance with paragraphs 2 through 8
below.
2. Net Share Settlement shall be made by delivery on the Buyer Cash Settlement Payment Date of a number of Shares satisfying the
conditions set forth in paragraph 3 below (the “Registered Settlement Shares”), or a number of Shares not satisfying such conditions (the “Unregistered
Settlement Shares”), in either case with a value equal to the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount, with such Shares’ value based on the
value thereof to Dealer (which value shall, in the case of Unregistered Settlement Shares, take into account a commercially reasonable illiquidity discount),
in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.
3. Buyer may deliver Registered Settlement Shares pursuant to paragraph 2 above only if:
(a) a registration statement covering public resale of the Registered Settlement Shares by Dealer (the “Registration Statement”) shall
have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act and been declared or otherwise become effective on or prior to the
date of delivery, and no stop order shall be in effect with respect to the Registration Statement; and a printed prospectus relating to the Registered
Settlement Shares (including any prospectus supplement thereto, the “Prospectus”) shall have been delivered to Dealer, in such quantities as Dealer shall
reasonably have requested, on or prior to the date of delivery;
(b) the form and content of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus (including, without limitation, any sections describing the
plan of distribution) shall be reasonably satisfactory to Dealer;
(c) as of or prior to the date of delivery, Dealer and its agents shall have been afforded a reasonable opportunity to conduct a due
diligence investigation with respect to Buyer customary in scope for underwritten offerings of equity securities for companies of a similar size and in a
similar industry and the results of such investigation are satisfactory to Dealer, in its discretion; and

(d) as of the date of delivery, an agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) shall have been entered into with Dealer in connection
with the public resale of the Registered Settlement Shares by Dealer substantially similar to underwriting agreements customary for underwritten offerings
of equity securities for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry, in form and substance commercially reasonably satisfactory to Dealer, which
Underwriting Agreement shall include, without limitation, provisions substantially similar to those contained in such underwriting agreements relating,
without limitation, to the indemnification of, and contribution in connection with the liability of, Dealer and its affiliates and the provision of customary
opinions, accountants’ comfort letters and lawyers’ negative assurance letters.
4. If Buyer delivers Unregistered Settlement Shares pursuant to paragraph 2 above:
(a) all Unregistered Settlement Shares shall be delivered to Dealer (or any affiliate of Dealer designated by Dealer) pursuant to the
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof;
(b) as of or prior to the date of delivery, Dealer and any potential purchaser of any such shares from Dealer (or any affiliate of Dealer
designated by Dealer) identified by Dealer shall be afforded a commercially reasonable opportunity to conduct a due diligence investigation with respect to
Buyer customary in scope for private placements of equity securities for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry (including, without limitation,
the right to have made available to them for inspection all financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and other information reasonably
requested by them subject to customary confidentiality agreements);
(c) as of the date of delivery, Buyer shall enter into an agreement (a “Private Placement Agreement”) with Dealer (or any affiliate of
Dealer designated by Dealer) in connection with the private placement of such shares by Buyer to Dealer (or any such affiliate) and the private resale of
such shares by Dealer (or any such affiliate), substantially similar to private placement purchase agreements customary for private placements of equity
securities for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry, in form and substance commercially reasonably satisfactory to Dealer, which Private
Placement Agreement shall include, without limitation, provisions substantially similar to those contained in such private placement purchase agreements
for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry relating, without limitation, to the indemnification of, and contribution in connection with the
liability of, Dealer and its affiliates and the provision of customary opinions, accountants’ comfort letters and lawyers’ negative assurance letters, and shall
provide for the payment by Buyer of all reasonable fees and expenses in connection with such resale, including all reasonable fees and expenses of counsel
for Dealer, and shall contain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of Buyer reasonably necessary or advisable to establish and maintain
the availability of an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act for such resales; and
(d) in connection with the private placement of such shares by Buyer to Dealer (or any such affiliate) and the private resale of such
shares by Dealer (or any such affiliate), Buyer shall, if so requested by Dealer, prepare, in cooperation with Dealer, a private placement memorandum in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Dealer.
5.
Dealer, itself or through an affiliate (the “Selling Agent”) or any underwriter(s), will sell all, or such lesser portion as may be
required hereunder, of the Registered Settlement Shares or Unregistered Settlement Shares and any Makewhole Shares (as defined below) (together, the
“Settlement Shares”) delivered by Buyer to Dealer pursuant to paragraph 6 below commencing on the Buyer Cash

Settlement Payment Date and continuing until the date on which the aggregate Net Proceeds (as such term is defined below) of such sales, as determined by
Dealer, is equal to the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount (such date, the “Final Resale Date”). If the proceeds of any sale(s) made by
Dealer, the Selling Agent or any underwriter(s), net of any fees and commissions (including, without limitation, underwriting or placement fees) customary
for similar transactions under the circumstances at the time of the offering, together with carrying charges and expenses incurred in connection with the
offer and sale of the Shares (including, but without limitation to, the covering of any over-allotment or short position (syndicate or otherwise)) (the “Net
Proceeds”) exceed the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount, Dealer will refund, in USD, such excess to Buyer on the date that is two (2)
Currency Business Days following the Final Resale Date, and, if any portion of the Settlement Shares remains unsold, Dealer shall return to Buyer on that
date such unsold Shares.
6.

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Net Proceeds received from the sale of the Registered Settlement Shares or Unregistered

Settlement Shares or any Makewhole Shares, if any, pursuant to this paragraph 6 are less than the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount
(the amount in USD by which the Net Proceeds are less than the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount being the “Shortfall” and the date
on which such determination is made, the “Deficiency Determination Date”), Buyer shall, on the Exchange Business Day next succeeding the Deficiency
Determination Date (the “Makewhole Notice Date”), deliver to Dealer, through the Selling Agent, a notice of Buyer’s election that Buyer shall either (i)
pay an amount in cash equal to the Shortfall on the day that is one (1) Currency Business Day after the Makewhole Notice Date, or (ii) deliver additional
Shares. If Buyer elects to deliver to Dealer additional Shares, then Buyer shall deliver additional Shares in compliance with the terms and conditions of
paragraph 3 or paragraph 4 above, as the case may be (the “Makewhole Shares”), on the first Clearance System Business Day that is also an Exchange
Business Day following the Makewhole Notice Date in such number as the Calculation Agent reasonably believes would have a market value on that
Exchange Business Day equal to the Shortfall. Such Makewhole Shares shall be sold by Dealer in accordance with the provisions above; provided that if
the sum of the Net Proceeds from the sale of the originally delivered Shares and the Net Proceeds from the sale of any Makewhole Shares is less than the
absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount then Buyer shall, at its election, either make such cash payment or deliver to Dealer further
Makewhole Shares until such Shortfall has been reduced to zero.
7. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the aggregate number of Settlement Shares for the Transaction be greater than the
Share Cap (as specified in Schedule I). Buyer represents and warrants (which shall be deemed to be repeated on each day that the Transaction is
outstanding) that the Share Cap is equal to or less than the number of Shares determined according to the following formula:
A–B
Where A = the number of authorized but unissued shares of Buyer that are not reserved for future issuance on the date hereof; and
B = the maximum number of Shares required to be delivered to third parties if Buyer elected Net Share Settlement of all transactions in
the Shares (other than the Transaction) with all third parties that are then currently outstanding and unexercised.
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GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC | 200 WEST STREET | NEW YORK, NEW YORK 10282-2198 | TEL: 212-902-1000
Opening Transaction
To:
Align Technology, Inc.
410 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 1300
Tempe, Arizona 85281
A/C:

provided

From:

Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC

Re:

Fixed Dollar Accelerated Share Repurchase Transaction

Date:
May 17, 2021

Dear Sir/Madam:
The purpose of this letter agreement (this “Confirmation”) is to confirm the terms and conditions of the Transaction entered into between Goldman
Sachs & Co. LLC (“Dealer”) and Align Technology, Inc. (“Issuer”) on the Trade Date specified below (the “Transaction”). This confirmation constitutes a
“Confirmation” as referred to in the Agreement specified below.
The definitions and provisions contained in the 2002 ISDA Equity Derivatives Definitions (as published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. (“ISDA”)) (the “Equity Definitions”) are incorporated into this Confirmation. The Transaction is a Share Forward Transaction
for purposes of the Equity Definitions. Any reference to a currency shall have the meaning contained in Section 1.7 of the 2006 ISDA Definitions, as
published by ISDA.
1. This Confirmation evidences a complete and binding agreement between Dealer and Issuer as to the terms of the Transaction to which this
Confirmation relates and shall supersede all prior or contemporaneous written or oral communications with respect thereto. This Confirmation shall be
subject to an agreement (the “Agreement”) in the form of the 2002 ISDA Master Agreement as if Dealer and Issuer had executed an agreement in such
form without any Schedule but with the elections set forth in this Confirmation (and (1) the election of USD as the Termination Currency, (2) the election
that subparagraph (ii) of Section 2(c) will not apply to the Transactions and (3) the election that the “Cross Default” provisions of Section 5(a)(vi) shall
apply to Dealer, with a “Threshold Amount” of 3% of Dealer shareholders’ equity for Dealer (provided that (a) the phrase “or becoming capable at such
time of being declared” shall be deleted from clause (1) of such Section 5(a)(vi) of the Agreement and (b) the following sentence shall be added to the end
thereof: “Notwithstanding the foregoing, a default hereunder shall not constitute an Event of Default if (i) the default was caused solely by error or
omission of an administrative or operational nature; (ii) funds were available to enable the party to make the payment when due; and (iii) the payment is
made within two Local Business Days of such party’s receipt of written notice of its failure to pay)”.
The Transaction shall be the only transaction under the Agreement. If there exists any ISDA Master Agreement between Dealer and Issuer or any
confirmation or other agreement between Dealer and Issuer pursuant to which an ISDA Master Agreement is deemed to exist between Dealer and Issuer,
then, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in such ISDA Master Agreement, such confirmation or agreement or any other agreement to which Dealer
and Issuer are parties, the Transaction shall not be considered a transaction under, or otherwise governed by, such existing or deemed to be existing ISDA
Master Agreement.

If there is any inconsistency between the Agreement, this Confirmation and the Equity Definitions, the following will prevail for purposes of the
Transaction in the order of precedence indicated: (i) this Master Confirmation; (ii) the Equity Definitions; and (iii) the Agreement.
2. The terms of the particular Transaction to which this Confirmation relates are as follows:
GENERAL TERMS:
Trade Date:

As specified in Schedule I

Buyer:

Issuer

Seller:

Dealer

Shares:

Common Stock, par value USD 0.0001 per share, of Issuer (Ticker: ALGN)

Forward Price:

A price per Share (as determined by the Calculation Agent) equal to the greater of (A) (i) the
arithmetic mean (not a weighted average, subject to “Market Disruption Event” below) of the
10b-18 VWAP on each Observation Date that is a Trading Day during the Calculation Period
minus (ii) the Discount and (B) $5.00.

Discount:

As specified in Schedule I

10b-18 VWAP:

On any Trading Day, a price per Share equal to the volume- weighted average price of the
Rule 10b-18 eligible trades in the Shares for the entirety of such Trading Day as determined
by the Calculation Agent by reference to the screen entitled “ALGN <Equity> AQR SEC” or
any successor page as reported by Bloomberg L.P. or any successor (excluding (i) trades that
do not settle regular way, (ii) opening (regular way) reported trades in the consolidated
system on such Scheduled Trading Day (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the first
reported trade on the Exchange following the scheduled open of trading on the Exchange),
(iii) trades that occur in the last ten minutes before the scheduled close of trading on the
Exchange on such Scheduled Trading Day and ten minutes before the scheduled close of the
primary trading in the market where the trade is effected, and (iv) trades on such Scheduled
Trading Day that do not satisfy the requirements of Rule 10b-18(b)(3) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) on such Trading Day) or, if the
price displayed on such screen is clearly erroneous, as determined by the Calculation Agent
in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.

Observation Dates:

As specified in Schedule I

Calculation Period:

The period from, and including, the first Observation Date that is a Trading Day that occurs
on or after the Prepayment Date to, but excluding, the relevant Valuation Date; provided,
however, that if the Valuation Date is the Scheduled Valuation Date, then the Valuation Date
shall be included in the Calculation Period; provided further that in no event shall any
Scheduled Valuation Date be postponed to a date later than the Final Termination Date.

Final Termination Date:

As specified in Schedule I; provided that if a Market Disruption Event has occurred pursuant
to Section 7 of this Confirmation, such Final Termination Date shall be postponed by one
Trading Day for every Trading Day that is a Disrupted Day as a result of such Merger
Transaction during the Calculation Period

Trading Day:

Any Exchange Business Day that is not a Disrupted Day in whole

Initial Shares:

As specified in Schedule I; provided that if Dealer is unable to borrow or otherwise acquire a
number of Shares equal to the Initial Shares for delivery to Issuer on the Initial Share
Delivery Date, the Initial Shares delivered on the Initial Share Delivery Date shall be reduced
to such number of Shares that Dealer is able to so borrow or otherwise acquire, and thereafter
Dealer shall continue to use commercially reasonable efforts to borrow or otherwise acquire
a number of Shares, at a stock borrow cost no greater than the Initial Stock Loan Rate, equal
to the shortfall in the Initial Shares and to deliver such additional Shares as soon as
reasonably practicable. For the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate of all shares delivered to
Dealer in respect of the Transaction pursuant to this paragraph shall be the “Initial Shares”
for purposes of determining the “Settlement Amount” below.

Initial Share Delivery Date:

One Exchange Business Day following the Trade Date. On the Initial Share Delivery Date,
Seller shall deliver to Buyer a number of Shares equal to the Initial Shares in accordance with
Section 9.4 of the Equity Definitions, with the Initial Share Delivery Date being deemed to be
a “Settlement Date” for purposes of such Section 9.4.

Prepayment:

Applicable

Prepayment Amount:

As specified in Schedule I

Prepayment Date:

One Exchange Business Day following the Trade Date. On the Prepayment Date, Buyer shall
pay to Seller the Prepayment Amount.

Exchange:

The Nasdaq Global Select Market

Related Exchange:

All Exchanges; provided that Section 1.26 of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to add
the words “United States” before the word “exchange” in the tenth line of such Section.

Market Disruption Event:

The definition of “Market Disruption Event” in Section 6.3(a) of the Equity Definitions is
hereby amended by deleting the words “at any time during the one-hour period that ends at
the relevant Valuation Time, Latest Exercise Time, Knock-in Valuation Time or Knock-out
Valuation Time, as the case may be,” starting in the third line thereof.
Section 6.3(d) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the remainder of the
provision following the term “Scheduled Closing Time” in the fourth line thereof.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Equity Definitions, if any Exchange
Business Day in the Calculation Period or the Buyer Settlement Valuation Period is a
Disrupted Day, the Calculation Agent shall have the option, in its reasonable discretion, to
take one or more of the following actions in a good faith and commercially reasonable
manner: (i) determine that such Exchange Business Day is a Disrupted Day in part, in which
case the Calculation Agent shall (x) determine the 10b-18 VWAP on such Exchange
Business Day based on Rule 10b-18 eligible trades in the Shares on such day taking into
account the nature and duration of the relevant Market Disruption Event and (y) determine
the Forward Price or Buyer Settlement Price, as applicable, using an appropriately weighted
average of 10b-18 VWAPs instead of an arithmetic mean, and/or (ii) elect to (x) postpone the
Scheduled Valuation Date (in the case of a Disrupted Day during the Calculation Period) or
(y) extend the Buyer Settlement Valuation Period (in the case of a Disrupted Day during the
Buyer Settlement Valuation Period) by up to one Observation Date for every Observation
Date that is a Disrupted Day during the Calculation Period or Buyer Settlement Valuation
Period, as applicable; provided that in no event shall any Scheduled Valuation Date be
postponed to a date later than the Final Termination Date. For the avoidance of doubt, if the
Calculation Agent takes the action described in clause (i) above, then such Disrupted Day
shall be a Trading Day for purposes of calculating the Forward Price or Buyer Settlement
Price, as applicable.
Any Exchange Business Day on which, as of the date hereof, the Exchange is scheduled to
close prior to its normal close of trading shall be deemed not to be an Exchange Business
Day; if a closure of the Exchange prior to its normal close of trading on any Exchange
Business Day is scheduled following the date hereof, then such Exchange Business Day shall
be deemed to be a Disrupted Day in full.
If a Disrupted Day occurs during the Calculation Period or the Buyer Settlement Valuation
Period and each of the nine immediately following Scheduled Trading Days is a Disrupted
Day, then the Calculation Agent may, in its good faith and commercially reasonable
discretion, deem such ninth Scheduled Trading Day to be an Exchange Business Day that is
not a Disrupted Day and determine the 10b-18 VWAP for such ninth Scheduled Trading Day
using its good faith and commercially reasonable estimate of the value of the Shares on such
ninth Scheduled Trading Day based on the volume, historical trading patterns and trading
price of the Shares.

VALUATION:
Valuation Date:

The earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (ii) any earlier accelerated Valuation Date
as a result of Dealer’s election in accordance with the immediately succeeding paragraph.
Dealer shall have the right, in its absolute discretion but subject to the limitation set forth in
the immediately succeeding paragraph, to accelerate the Valuation Date, in whole or in part
(an “Acceleration”), to any Exchange Business Day that is on or after the Lock-Out Date
and prior to the Scheduled Valuation Date by notice (each such notice, an “Acceleration
Notice”) to Issuer by 9:00 p.m., New York City time, on the Exchange Business Day
immediately following the accelerated Valuation Date; provided that if at any time after the
Lock-Out Date Dealer expects the Settlement Amount to be a negative number, then Dealer
shall provide Issuer notice of any such expectation.
Dealer shall specify in each Acceleration Notice the portion of the Prepayment Amount that
is subject to acceleration (which may be less than the full Prepayment Amount, but only so
long as such portion is not less than USD 25,000,000). If the portion of the Prepayment
Amount that is subject to acceleration is less than the full Prepayment Amount, then the
Calculation Agent shall adjust the terms of the Transaction as appropriate in order to take
into account the occurrence of such accelerated Valuation Date (including cumulative
adjustments to take into account all prior accelerated Valuation Dates).
On each Valuation Date, the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Settlement Amount.

Scheduled Valuation Date:

As specified in Schedule I, subject to postponement in accordance with “Market Disruption
Event” above

Lock-Out Date:

As specified in Schedule I

SETTLEMENT TERMS:
Physical Settlement:

Applicable.
On the Settlement Date, Seller shall deliver to Buyer a number of Shares equal to (a) (i) the
Prepayment Amount divided by (ii) the Forward Price minus (b) the Initial Shares (such
number of Shares, the “Settlement Amount”), rounded to the nearest whole number of
Shares; provided, however, that if the Settlement Amount is less than zero, then the Buyer
Settlement Provisions in Annex A hereto shall apply.

Settlement Currency:

USD

Settlement Date:

The date that falls one Settlement Cycle after the relevant Valuation Date.

Other Applicable Provisions:

The last sentence of Section 9.2, Sections 9.8, 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11 (except that the
Representation and Agreement contained in Section 9.11 of the Equity Definitions shall be
modified by excluding any representations therein relating to restrictions, obligations,
limitations or requirements under applicable securities laws arising as a result of the fact that
Buyer is the issuer of the Shares) and Section 9.12 of the Equity Definitions will be
applicable to the Transaction.

SHARE ADJUSTMENTS:
Potential Adjustment Event:

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 11.2(e) of the Equity Definitions, an
Extraordinary Dividend shall not constitute a Potential Adjustment Event.
It shall constitute a Potential Adjustment Event if a Disrupted Day occurs or, pursuant to
Section 9 below, is deemed to occur (in whole or in part) on any Trading Day on or prior to
the Valuation Date.

Extraordinary Dividend:

Any dividend or distribution on the Shares with an ex- dividend date occurring during the
period from, and including, the Trade Date to, and including, the last day of the Potential
Purchase Period (as defined below) (other than any dividend or distribution of the type
described in Section 11.2(e)(i), Section 11.2(e)(ii)(A) or Section 11.2(e)(ii)(B) of the Equity
Definitions).

Method of Adjustment:

Calculation Agent Adjustment; provided that the parties hereto agree that any Share
repurchases by the Issuer, whether pursuant to Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act, Rule 10b51 of the Exchange Act on customary terms, at prevailing market prices, or VWAP (subject to
any discounts thereto) shall not be considered Potential Adjustment Events; provided further
that adjustments for any Potential Adjustment Event (other than pursuant to any Potential
Adjustment Event defined in Sections 11.2(e)(i), 11.2(e)(ii)(A) and 11.2(e)(iii) of the Equity
Definitions) may be made to account for changes in volatility, stock loan rate or liquidity
relevant to the Shares or the Transaction.

EXTRAORDINARY EVENTS:
Consequences of Merger Events:
Share-for-Share:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Other:

Cancellation and Payment on that portion of the Other Consideration that consists of cash;
Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment on the remainder of the Other Consideration

Share-for-Combined:

Component Adjustment

Tender Offer:

Applicable; provided that the definition of “Tender Offer” in Section 12.1 of the Equity
Definitions will be amended by replacing the phrase “greater than 10% and less than 100%
of the outstanding voting shares of the Issuer” in the third and fourth line thereof with “(a)
greater than 15% and less than 100% of the outstanding Shares of the Issuer in the event that
such Tender Offer is being made by any entity or person other than the Issuer or any
subsidiary thereof or (b) greater than 20% and less than 100% of the outstanding Shares of
the Issuer in the event that such Tender Offer is being made by the Issuer or any subsidiary
thereof”.

Consequences of Tender Offers:
Share-for-Share:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Other:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

Share-for-Combined:

Modified Calculation Agent Adjustment

New Shares:

In the definition of New Shares in Section 12.1(i) of the Equity Definitions, the text in clause
(i) thereof shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with “publicly quoted, traded or listed
on any of the New York Stock Exchange, The NASDAQ Global Select Market or The
NASDAQ Global Market (or their respective successors)”.

For purposes of the Transaction,
(i)

the definition of Merger Date in Section 12.1(c) of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to add “each of the Announcement Date and”
immediately following the word “means”;

(ii)

the definition of Tender Offer Date in Section 12.1(e) of the Equity Definitions shall be amended to add “each of the Announcement Date
and” immediately preceding the words “the date”; and

(iii)

the definition of “Announcement Date” in Section 12.1(l) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (a) replacing the words “a firm”
with the word “any bona fide” in the second and fourth lines thereof, (b) replacing the word “leads to the” with the words “, if completed,
would lead to a” in the third and the fifth lines thereof, (c) replacing the words “voting shares” with the word “Shares” in the fifth line
thereof, (d) inserting the words “by any bona fide entity that is reasonably likely to be a party to the transaction” after the word
“announcement” in the second and the fourth lines thereof, (e) inserting the words “or to explore the possibility of engaging in” after the
words “engage in” in the second line thereof and (f) inserting the words “or to explore the possibility of purchasing or otherwise
obtaining” after the word “obtain” in the fourth line thereof.

Composition of Combined Consideration:

Not Applicable

Nationalization, Insolvency or Delisting:

Cancellation and Payment; provided that in addition to the provisions of Section 12.6(a)(iii)
of the Equity Definitions, it shall constitute a Delisting if the Exchange is located in the
United States and the Shares are not immediately re-listed, re- traded or re-quoted on any of
the New York Stock Exchange, The NASDAQ Global Market or The NASDAQ Global
Select Market (or their respective successors); if the Shares are immediately re-listed, retraded or re-quoted on any such exchange or quotation system, such exchange or quotation
system shall thereafter be deemed to be the Exchange.

Additional Disruption Events:
Change in Law:

Applicable; provided that (i) any determination as to whether (A) the adoption of or any
change in any applicable law or regulation (including, for the avoidance of doubt and without
limitation, (x) any tax law or (y) adoption or promulgation of new regulations authorized or
mandated by existing statute) or (B) the promulgation of or any change in the interpretation
by any court, tribunal or regulatory authority with competent jurisdiction of any applicable
law or regulation (including any action taken by a taxing authority), in each case, constitutes
a “Change in Law” shall be made without regard to Section 739 of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010 or any similar legal certainty provision
in any legislation enacted, or rule or regulation promulgated, on or after the Trade Date, (ii)
Section 12.9(a)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by replacing the parenthetical
beginning after the word “regulation” in the second line thereof the words “(including, for
the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, (x) any tax law or (y) adoption or
promulgation of new regulations authorized or mandated by existing statute)” and (iii) by,
immediately following the word “Transaction” in clause (x) thereof, adding the phrase “in
the manner contemplated by the Hedging Party on the Trade Date”.

Failure to Deliver:

Applicable

Insolvency Filing:

Applicable

Hedging Disruption:

Applicable

Increased Cost of Hedging:

Not Applicable

Loss of Stock Borrow:

Applicable

Maximum Stock Loan Rate:

200 bps

Increased Cost of Stock Borrow:

Applicable

Initial Stock Loan Rate:

25 bps

Determining Party:

For all applicable events, Dealer; provided that, when making any determination or
calculation as “Determining Party,” Dealer shall be bound by the same obligations relating to
required acts of the Calculation Agent as set forth in Section 1.40 of the Equity Definitions
and this Confirmation as if Determining Party were the Calculation Agent. All calculations
and determinations made by the Determining Party shall be made in good faith and in a
commercially reasonable manner.
Following any determination or calculation by Determining Party hereunder, upon a written
request by Issuer, Determining Party will promptly (but in any event within five Scheduled
Trading Days) provide to Issuer in writing a report (in a commonly used file format for the
storage and manipulation of financial data) displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such
determination or calculation (including any assumptions used in the making of such
determination or calculation), it being understood that in no event will Determining Party be
obligated to share with Issuer any proprietary or confidential data or information or any
proprietary or confidential models used by it in making such determination or calculation or
any information that is subject to an obligation not to disclose such information.

Hedging Party:

For all applicable events, Dealer

Non-Reliance:

Applicable

Agreements and Acknowledgements Regarding Hedging
Activities:

Applicable

Additional Acknowledgments:

Applicable

3. Calculation Agent:

Dealer; provided that following the occurrence of an Event of Default of the type described
in Section 5(a)(vii) of the Agreement with respect to which Dealer is the sole Defaulting
Party, if the Calculation Agent fails to timely make any calculation, adjustment or
determination required to be made by the Calculation Agent hereunder or to perform any
obligation of the Calculation Agent hereunder and such failure continues for five (5)
Exchange Business Days following notice to the Calculation Agent by Issuer of such failure
the Issuer shall have the right to designate a nationally recognized third-party dealer in overthe-counter corporate equity derivatives to act, during the period commencing on the date
such Event of Default occurred and ending on the Early Termination Date with respect to
such Event of Default, as the Calculation Agent.
All calculations and determinations by the Calculation Agent shall be made in good faith and
in a commercially reasonable manner. Following any calculation made by the Calculation
Agent hereunder, upon a prior written request by the Issuer, the Calculation Agent will
provide to the Issuer by email to the email address provided by the Issuer in such prior
written request a report (in a commonly used file format for the storage and manipulation of
financial data) displaying in reasonable detail the basis for such calculation and specifying
the particular section of the Confirmation pursuant to which such calculation or
determination is being made (and in the event that more than one section of the Confirmation
would permit the Calculation Agent to make an adjustment upon the occurrence of a specific
event, then the Calculation Agent shall specify the particular section number pursuant to
which the Calculation Agent is making the adjustment hereunder); provided, however, that in
no event will the Calculation Agent be obligated to share with the Issuer any proprietary or
confidential data or information or any proprietary models used by it.

4. Account Details and Notices:
(a) Account for delivery of Shares to Issuer:
Shares to be delivered to:
Computershare 250 Royal Street
Canton, MA 02021
ATTN: Client Operations (Align Technology, Inc)
(b) Account for payments to Issuer:
Bank of America Acct: provided
ABA: provided
(c) Account for payments to Dealer:

Chase Manhattan Bank New York
For A/C Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
A/C #: provided
ABA: provided
For purposes of this Confirmation:
(i) Address for notices or communications to Issuer:
Align Technology, Inc.
410 N. Scottsdale Road, Suite 1300
Tempe, Arizona 85281
Attn: Legal Department
(ii) Address for notices or communications to Dealer:
Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC
200 West Street
New York, NY 10282-2198
Attention: Michael Voris, Equity Capital Markets
Telephone: provided
Facsimile: provided
Email: provided
With a copy to:
Attention: Blair Seideman, Equity Capital Markets
Telephone: provided
Facsimile: provided
Email: provided
And email notification to the following address:
provided
5. Amendments to the Equity Definitions and Agreement.
(a) Section 9.2(a)(iii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “the Excess Dividend Amount, if any, and”.
(b) Section 11.2(a) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “a diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical value
of the relevant Shares” and replacing them with the words “a material economic effect on the relevant Transaction”.
(c) The first sentence of Section 11.2(c) of the Equity Definitions, prior to clause (A) thereof, is hereby amended to read as follows: ‘(c) If
“Calculation Agent Adjustment” is specified as the Method of Adjustment in the related Confirmation of a Share Option Transaction or Share Forward
Transaction, then, following the announcement or occurrence of any Potential Adjustment Event, the Calculation Agent will determine in its commercially
reasonable judgment whether such Potential Adjustment Event has a material economic effect on the Transaction and, if so, will (i) make appropriate
adjustment(s), if any, to any one or more of:’ and the portion of such sentence immediately preceding clause (ii) thereof is hereby amended by replacing the
words “diluting or concentrative” with the words “material economic”.
(d) Section 11.2(e)(vii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the words “diluting or concentrative effect on the theoretical
value of the relevant Shares” and replacing them with the

words “any other corporate event involving the Issuer that in the commercially reasonable judgment of the Calculation Agent has a material economic
effect on the relevant Transaction”.
(e) Section 12.6(c)(ii) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by replacing the words “the Transaction will be cancelled,” in the first line
with the words “Dealer will have the right to cancel the Transaction,”.
(f) Section 12.9(b)(iv) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (A) deleting (1) subsection (A) in its entirety, (2) the phrase “or (B)”
following subsection (A) and (3) the phrase “in each case” in subsection (B); and (B) deleting the phrase “neither the Non-Hedging Party nor the Lending
Party lends Shares in the amount of the Hedging Shares or” in the penultimate sentence.
(g)
Section 12.9(b)(v) of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by (A) adding the word “or” immediately before subsection “(B)” and
deleting the comma at the end of subsection (A); and (B)(1) deleting subsection (C) in its entirety, (2) deleting the word “or” immediately preceding
subsection (C) and (3) replacing in the penultimate sentence the words “either party” with “the Hedging Party” and (4) deleting clause (X) in the final
sentence.
(h) Section 2(a)(iii) of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the words “or Potential Event of Default” in clause (1) of such Section and
deleting the word “and” immediately before subsection (3) and deleting clause “(3)” in its entirety.
6. Alternative Termination Settlement.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, or in the Equity Definitions, if at any time (i) an Early Termination Date occurs or (ii) the Transaction is
cancelled or terminated upon the occurrence of an Extraordinary Event (other than (i) an Insolvency, a Nationalization, a Merger Event or a Tender Offer,
in each case, in which the consideration or proceeds to be paid to holders of Shares consists solely of cash or (ii) an Event of Default in which Issuer is the
Defaulting Party or a Termination Event in which Issuer is an Affected Party, which Event of Default or Termination Event resulted from an event or events
within Issuer’s control), if either party would owe any amount to the other party pursuant to Section 6(d)(ii) of the Agreement or any Cancellation Amount
pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions (any such amount, a “Payment Amount”), then such payment shall be paid as set forth under the
Agreement or Equity Definitions, as the case may be, unless Issuer makes an election to the contrary no later than the Early Termination Date or the date on
which such Transaction is terminated or cancelled, in which case Issuer or Dealer, as the case may be, shall deliver to the other party a number of Shares
(or a number of units, each comprising the number or amount of the securities or property that a hypothetical holder of one Share would receive in the case
of a Nationalization, Insolvency or Merger Event, as the case may be (each such unit, an “Alternative Delivery Unit”)), with a value equal to the Payment
Amount, as determined by the Calculation Agent. In determining the number of Shares (or Alternative Delivery Units) required to be delivered under this
provision, the Calculation Agent may take into account a number of factors, including, without limitation, the market price of the Shares (or Alternative
Delivery Units) on the Early Termination Date or the date of early cancellation or termination, as the case may be. Additionally, if such delivery is made by
Dealer, the Calculation Agent shall take into account the prices at which Dealer purchases Shares (or Alternative Delivery Units) to fulfill its delivery
obligations under this Section 6; provided that in determining the composition of any Alternative Delivery Unit, if the relevant Merger Event involves a
choice of consideration to be received by holders, such holder shall be deemed to have elected to receive the maximum possible amount of cash. If delivery
of Shares or Alternative Delivery Units, as the case may be, pursuant to this Section 6 is to be made by Issuer, paragraphs 2 through 8 of Annex A hereto
shall apply as if (A) such delivery were a settlement of the Transaction to which Net Share Settlement applied, (B) the Buyer Cash Settlement Payment
Date were the Early Termination Date or the date of early cancellation or termination, as the case may be, and (C) the Forward Cash Settlement Amount
were equal to (x) zero minus (y) the Payment Amount owed by Issuer.

7. Special Provisions for Merger Transactions. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in the Equity Definitions:
(a) Issuer agrees that:
(i) Issuer will use its commercially reasonable efforts such that Issuer will not during the term of the Transaction make, or, to the extent
within its control, permit to be made, any public announcement (as defined in Rule 165(f) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities
Act”)) of any Merger Transaction or potential Merger Transaction unless such public announcement is made prior to the open or after the close of the
regular trading session on the Exchange for the Shares.
(ii) To the extent that an announcement of a potential Merger Transaction occurs during the term of the Transaction and Dealer has not
provided notice to Issuer as promptly as reasonably practicable following such announcement that Dealer will cause the Transaction to be cancelled or
terminated in whole pursuant to “Extraordinary Events” in Section 2 above, then as soon as practicable following such announcement (but in any event
prior to the next opening of the regular trading session on the Exchange), Issuer shall provide Dealer with written notice specifying (x) Issuer’s average
daily “Rule 10b-18 purchases” (as defined in Rule 10b-18) during the three full calendar months immediately preceding the Announcement Date that were
not effected through Dealer or its affiliates and (y) the number of Shares purchased pursuant to the block purchase proviso in Rule 10b-18(b)(4) under the
Exchange Act for the three full calendar months preceding the Announcement Date. Such written notice shall be deemed to be a certification by Issuer to
Dealer that such information is true and correct. Issuer understands that Dealer will use this information in calculating the trading volume for purposes of
Rule 10b-18. In addition, Issuer shall promptly notify Dealer of the earlier to occur of the completion of such transaction and the completion of the vote by
target shareholders. Issuer acknowledges that any such public announcement may trigger the provision set forth in Section 9 below.
Accordingly, Issuer acknowledges that its actions in relation to any such announcement or transaction must comply with the standards set forth in Section
11(b) below.
(b) Upon the occurrence of any public announcement of a Merger Transaction, Dealer may in a good faith and commercially reasonable manner
elect either to (i) apply the provisions of Section 9 below or (ii) treat the occurrence of such announcement as an Additional Termination Event with respect
to which the Transaction shall be the sole Affected Transaction, Issuer shall be the sole Affected Party and Dealer shall be the party entitled to designate an
Early Termination Date pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Agreement (a “Merger Termination Event”). In the event that the Dealer elects to treat the Merger
Transaction as a Merger Termination Event under this Section 7(b), then neither the provisions of “Extraordinary Events: Consequences of Merger Events”
set forth above in this Confirmation nor the provisions of Section 8 below shall apply.
“Merger Transaction” means any merger, acquisition or similar transaction involving a recapitalization of Issuer as contemplated by Rule 10b18(a)(13)(iv) under the Exchange Act.
8. Special Provisions for Acquisition Transaction Announcements.
(a) If an Acquisition Transaction Announcement occurs on or prior to the final Valuation Date, then the Forward Price shall be determined as if
the words “minus (ii) the Discount” were deleted from the definition thereof. If an Acquisition Transaction Announcement occurs after the Trade Date but
prior to the Lock-Out Date, the Lock-Out Date shall be deemed to be the date of such Acquisition Transaction Announcement.
(b) “Acquisition Transaction Announcement” means (i) the announcement of an Acquisition Transaction, (ii) an announcement that Issuer or
any of its subsidiaries has entered into an agreement, a letter of intent or an understanding designed to result in an Acquisition Transaction, (iii) the

announcement of the intention to solicit or enter into, or to explore strategic alternatives or other similar undertaking that may include, an Acquisition
Transaction, or (iv) any announcement subsequent to an Acquisition Transaction Announcement relating to a material amendment, a material extension,
withdrawal or other material change to the subject matter of the previous Acquisition Transaction Announcement. For the avoidance of doubt, the term
“announcement” as used in the definition of Acquisition Transaction Announcement refers to any public announcement whether made by Issuer or any
subsidiary or agent thereof or by a bona fide third party that is reasonably likely to be a party to the Acquisition Transaction.
(c) “Acquisition Transaction” means (i) any Merger Event (for purposes of this definition, the definition of Merger Event shall be read with the
references therein to “100%” being replaced by “25%” and to “50%” by “75%” and without reference to the clause beginning immediately following the
definition of Reverse Merger therein to the end of such definition), Tender Offer or Merger Transaction or any other transaction involving the merger of
Issuer with or into any third party, (ii) the sale or transfer of all or substantially all of the assets or liabilities of Issuer, (iii) a recapitalization,
reclassification, binding share exchange or other similar transaction or (iv) any acquisition, lease, exchange, transfer, disposition (including by way of spinoff or distribution) of assets or liabilities (including any capital stock or other ownership interests in subsidiaries) or other similar event by Issuer or any of
its subsidiaries where the aggregate consideration transferable or receivable by or to Issuer or its subsidiaries exceeds 25% of the market capitalization of
Issuer.
9. Dealer Adjustments.
In the event that Dealer determines, in a good faith and commercially reasonable manner that, based on advice of legal counsel, it is appropriate
with regard to any legal, regulatory or self-regulatory requirements or related policies and procedures (whether or not such requirements, policies or
procedures are imposed by law or have been voluntarily adopted by Dealer, and including, without limitation, Rule 10b-18, Rule 10b-5, Regulations 13D-G
and Regulations 14 D-E under the Exchange Act; provided that such requirements, policies and procedures relate to legal and regulatory issues and are
generally applicable in similar situations and applied in a consistent manner in similar transactions), for Dealer to refrain from purchasing Shares or
engaging in other market activity or to purchase fewer than the number of Shares or to engage in fewer or smaller other market transactions Dealer would
otherwise purchase or engage in on any Trading Day on or prior to the last day of the Potential Purchase Period, then Dealer may, in its reasonable
discretion, elect that a Market Disruption Event shall be deemed to have occurred on such Trading Day. Dealer shall notify Issuer upon the exercise of
Dealer’s rights pursuant to this Section 9 and the Trading Days affected by it and shall subsequently notify Issuer on the day Dealer believes that the
circumstances giving rise to such exercise have changed.
10. Covenants.
Issuer covenants and agrees that:
(a) Until the end of the Potential Purchase Period (as defined below), neither it nor any of its affiliated purchasers (as defined in Rule 10b-18
under the Exchange Act) shall directly or indirectly (which shall be deemed to include the writing or purchase of any cash-settled or other derivative or
structured Share repurchase transaction with a hedging period, calculation period or settlement valuation period or similar period that overlaps with the
Transaction) purchase, offer to purchase, place any bid or limit order relating to a purchase of or commence any tender offer relating to Shares (or any
security convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) without the prior written approval of Dealer or take any other action that would cause the purchase by
Dealer of any Shares in connection with this Confirmation not to qualify for the safe harbor provided in Rule 10b-18 under the Exchange Act (assuming for
the purposes of this paragraph that such safe harbor were otherwise available for such purchases); provided that this Section 10(a) shall not (i) limit the
Issuer’s ability, pursuant to its employee incentive plan or dividend reinvestment program to re-acquire Shares in connection with the related equity
transactions, (ii) limit the Issuer’s ability to withhold shares to cover tax liabilities associated with such equity transactions, (iii) limit the Issuer’s ability to
grant

stock and options to “affiliated purchasers” (as defined in Rule 10b-18) or the ability of such affiliated purchasers to acquire such stock or options, provided
that in connection with any such purchase Issuer will be deemed to represent to Dealer that such purchase does not constitute a “Rule 10b-18 Purchase” (as
defined in Rule 10b-18) (any such incentive or compensatory plan, program or policy of Issuer, a “Compensatory Plan”), (iv) limit any purchases by
affiliated purchasers (as defined in Rule 10b-18) of the Issuer in an amount, in aggregate, not to exceed 5% of ADTV (as defined in Rule 10b-18) for such
Exchange Business Day, which purchases shall be executed by Dealer (or its affiliate) and made pursuant to documentation and terms reasonably
acceptable to Dealer and Issuer or (v) limit the Issuer’s ability to fulfill its obligations to Dealer under the letter agreement entered into between Dealer and
the Issuer on April 30, 2021 (the “Existing Agreement”). “Potential Purchase Period” means the period from, and including, the Trade Date to, and
including, the latest of (i) the last day of any Buyer Settlement Valuation Period, (ii) the earlier of (A) the date ten Exchange Business Days immediately
following the last day of the Calculation Period and (B) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (iii) if an Early Termination Date occurs or the Transaction is
cancelled pursuant to Article 12 of the Equity Definitions, a date determined by Dealer in its commercially reasonable discretion and communicated to
Issuer no later than the Exchange Business Day immediately following such date.
(b) Without limiting the generality of Section 13.1 of the Equity Definitions, it is not relying, and has not relied, upon Dealer or any of its
representatives or advisors with respect to the legal, accounting, tax or other implications of this Agreement and that it has conducted its own analyses of
the legal, accounting, tax and other implications of this Agreement, and that Dealer and its affiliates may from time to time effect transactions for their own
account or the account of customers and hold positions in securities or options on securities of Issuer and that Dealer and its affiliates may continue to
conduct such transactions during the term of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Issuer acknowledges that Dealer is not
making any representations or warranties or taking any position or expressing any view with respect to the treatment of the Transaction under any
accounting standards including ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share, ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing
Liabilities from Equity and ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging - Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (or any successor issue statements) or under FASB’s
Liabilities & Equity Project.
(c) Neither it nor any affiliates shall take any action that would cause a restricted period (as defined in Regulation M under the Exchange Act
(“Regulation M”)) to be applicable to any purchases of Shares, or of any security for which Shares is a reference security (as defined in Regulation M), by
Issuer or any affiliated purchasers (as defined in Regulation M) of Issuer during the Potential Purchase Period.
(d) It will not make any election or take any other action in connection with the Transaction while aware of any material nonpublic information
regarding Issuer or the Shares.
(e) It shall not declare or pay any Extraordinary Dividend until the Exchange Business Day immediately following the last day of the Potential
Purchase Period.
(f) Counterparty represents and warrants that it and any of its subsidiaries has not applied, and shall not, until after the first date on which no
portion of the Transaction remains outstanding following any final exercise and settlement, cancellation or early termination of the Transaction, apply, for a
loan, loan guarantee, direct loan (as that term is defined in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”)) or other
investment, or to receive any financial assistance or relief under any program or facility (collectively “Financial Assistance”) that (a) is established under
applicable law (whether in existence as of the Trade Date or subsequently enacted, adopted or amended), including without limitation the CARES Act and
the Federal Reserve Act, as amended, and (b) (i) requires under applicable law (or any regulation, guidance, interpretation or other pronouncement of a
governmental authority with jurisdiction for such program or facility) as a condition of such Financial Assistance, that the Counterparty comply with any
requirement not to repurchase, or otherwise agree, attest, certify or warrant that it has not, as of the date specified in such condition, repurchased, or will not
repurchase, any equity security of Counterparty, and that Counterparty has not, as of the date specified in the condition, made a

capital distribution or will not make a capital distribution, or (ii) where the terms of the Transaction would cause Counterparty to fail to satisfy any
condition for application for or receipt or retention of the Financial Assistance (collectively “Restricted Financial Assistance”); provided, that
Counterparty or any of its subsidiaries may apply for Restricted Financial Assistance if Counterparty either (a) determines based on the advice of outside
counsel of national standing that the terms of the Transaction would not cause Counterparty or any of its subsidiaries to fail to satisfy any condition for
application for or receipt or retention of such Financial Assistance based on the terms of the program or facility as of the date of such advice or (b) delivers
to Dealer evidence or other guidance from a governmental authority with jurisdiction for such program or facility that the Transaction is permitted under
such program or facility (either by specific reference to the Transaction or by general reference to transactions with the attributes of the Transaction in all
relevant respects).
11. Representations, Warranties and Acknowledgments.
(a) Issuer hereby represents and warrants to Dealer on the date hereof and on and as of the Initial Share Delivery Date that:
(i) (A) None of Issuer and its officers and directors is aware of any material nonpublic information regarding Issuer or the Shares, and is
entering into the Transaction in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of federal securities laws, including, without
limitation, Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act and (B) Issuer agrees not to alter or deviate from the terms of this Confirmation or enter into or alter a
corresponding or hedging transaction or position with respect to the Shares (including, without limitation, with respect to any securities convertible or
exchangeable into the Shares) during the term of this Confirmation. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all reports and other documents filed
by Issuer with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act when considered as a whole (with the more recent such reports and
documents deemed to amend inconsistent statements contained in any earlier such reports and documents) do not contain any untrue statement of a material
fact or any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances in which
they were made, not misleading.
(ii)

The transactions contemplated by this Confirmation have been authorized under Issuer’s publicly announced program to repurchase

Shares.
(iii)
Issuer is not entering into this Confirmation to facilitate a distribution of the Shares (or any security convertible into or
exchangeable for Shares) or in connection with a future issuance of securities.
(iv) Issuer is not entering into this Confirmation to create actual or apparent trading activity in the Shares (or any security convertible
into or exchangeable for Shares) or to manipulate the price of the Shares (or any security convertible into or exchangeable for Shares) in violation of the
federal securities laws.
(v) There have been no purchases of Shares in Rule 10b-18 purchases of blocks pursuant to the once-a-week block exception contained
in Rule 10b-18(b)(4) by or for Issuer or any of its affiliated purchasers during each of the four calendar weeks preceding the Trade Date and during the
calendar week in which the Trade Date occurs (“Rule 10b-18 purchase”, “blocks” and “affiliated purchaser” each being used as defined in Rule 10b-18).
(vi) Issuer is as of the date hereof and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby will be, Solvent. As used in this
paragraph, the term “Solvent” means, with respect to a particular date, that on such date (A) the present fair market value (or present fair saleable value) of
the assets of Issuer is not less than the total amount required to pay the liabilities of Issuer on its total existing debts and liabilities (including contingent
liabilities) as they become absolute and matured, (B) Issuer is

able to realize upon its assets and pay its debts and other liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments as they mature and become due in the normal
course of business, (C) assuming consummation of the transactions as contemplated by this Confirmation, Issuer is not incurring debts or liabilities beyond
its ability to pay as such debts and liabilities mature, (D) Issuer is not engaged in any business or transaction, and does not propose to engage in any
business or transaction, for which its property would constitute unreasonably small capital after giving due consideration to the prevailing practice in the
industry in which Issuer is engaged, (E) Issuer is not a defendant in any civil action that could reasonably be expected to result in a judgment that Issuer is
or would become unable to satisfy, (F) Issuer is not “insolvent” (as such term is defined under Section 101(32) of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (Title 11 of the
United States Code) (the “Bankruptcy Code”)) and (G) Issuer would be able to purchase Shares with an aggregate purchase price equal to the Prepayment
Amount in compliance with the corporate laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation.
(vii) Issuer is not, and after giving effect to the transactions contemplated hereby will not be, required to register as an “investment
company” as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
(viii) No state or local (including non-U.S. jurisdictions) law, rule, regulation or regulatory order applicable to the Shares would give
rise to any reporting, consent, registration or other requirement (including without limitation a requirement to obtain prior approval from any person or
entity) as a result of Dealer or its affiliates owning or holding (however defined) Shares other than any such law, rule, regulation or regulatory order that
applies (A) to the beneficial ownership of Shares under the Exchange Act or (B) solely as a result of the business, identity, place of business or jurisdiction
of organization of Dealer or any such affiliate.
(b) Issuer acknowledges and agrees that the Initial Shares may be sold short to Issuer. Issuer further acknowledges and agrees that Dealer may
purchase Shares in connection with the Transaction, which Shares may be used to cover all or a portion of such short sale or may be delivered to Issuer.
Such purchases and any other market activity by Dealer will be conducted independently of Issuer by Dealer as principal for its own account. All of the
actions to be taken by Dealer in connection with the Transaction shall be taken by Dealer independently and without any advance or subsequent
consultation with Issuer. It is the intent of the parties that the Transaction comply with the requirements of Rule 10b5-1(c)(1)(i)(B) of the Exchange Act,
and the parties agree that this Confirmation shall be interpreted to comply with the requirements of such Rule, and Issuer shall not take any action that
results in the Transaction not so complying with such requirements. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, Issuer acknowledges and
agrees that (A) Issuer does not have, and shall not attempt to exercise, any influence over how, when or whether Dealer effects any market transactions in
connection with the Transaction and (B) neither Issuer nor its officers or employees shall, directly or indirectly, communicate any information regarding
Issuer or the Shares to any employee of Dealer or its Affiliates that have been identified by Dealer to Issuer in writing as employees responsible for
executing market transactions in connection with the Transaction. Issuer also acknowledges and agrees that any amendment, modification, waiver or
termination of this Confirmation must be effected in accordance with the requirements for the amendment or termination of a “plan” as defined in Rule
10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any such amendment, modification, waiver or termination shall be
made in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5 under the Exchange Act, and no such amendment,
modification or waiver shall be made at any time at which Issuer or any officer or director of Issuer is aware of any material nonpublic information
regarding Issuer or the Shares.
(c) Each of Issuer and Dealer represents and warrants to the other that it is an “eligible contract participant” as defined in Section 1a(12) of the
U.S. Commodity Exchange Act, as amended.
(d) Each of Issuer and Dealer acknowledges that the offer and sale of the Transaction to it is intended to be exempt from registration under the
Securities Act by virtue of Section 4(2) thereof. Accordingly, it represents and warrants to the other party that (i) it has the financial ability to bear the

economic risk of its investment in the Transaction and is able to bear a total loss of its investment, (ii) it is an “accredited investor” as that term is defined in
Regulation D as promulgated under the Securities Act, (iii) it is entering into the Transaction for its own account and without a view to the distribution or
resale thereof and (iv) the assignment, transfer or other disposition of the Transaction has not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and is
restricted under this Confirmation, the Securities Act and state securities laws.
(e) In addition to the representations, warranties and covenants in the Agreement, Dealer represents warrants and covenants to Issuer that:
(i)

In addition to the covenants in the Agreement and herein, Dealer agrees to use
commercially reasonable efforts, during the
Calculation Period and any Buyer Settlement Valuation Period for the Transaction, to make all purchases of Shares in connection with
such Transaction in a manner that would comply with the limitations set forth in clauses (b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(3) and (b)(4) and (c) of Rule
10b-18, as if such rule were applicable to such purchases and taking into account any applicable Securities and Exchange Commission
no-action letters as appropriate, and subject to any delays between the execution and reporting of a trade of the Shares on the Exchange
and other circumstances beyond Dealer’s control; provided that, during the Calculation Period, the foregoing agreement shall not apply to
purchases made to dynamically hedge for Dealer’s own account or the account of its affiliate(s) the optionality arising under the
Transaction or the Transaction (as defined in the Existing Agreement) (including, for the avoidance of doubt, timing optionality);
provided further that, without limiting the generality of this Section, Dealer shall not be responsible for any failure to comply with Rule
10b-18(b)(3) to the extent any transaction that was executed (or deemed to be executed) by or on behalf of Issuer or an “affiliated
purchaser” (as defined under Rule 10b-18) pursuant to a separate agreement is not deemed to be an “independent bid” or an “independent
transaction” for purposes of Rule 10b-18(b)(3).

(ii)

Dealer hereby represents and covenants to Issuer that it has implemented policies and procedures, taking into consideration the nature
of its business, reasonably designed to ensure that (A) individuals making investment decisions related to the Transaction do not have
access to material nonpublic information regarding Issuer or the Shares and (B) individuals of Dealer that are in possession of material
nonpublic information regarding the Issuer or the Shares have not, while in possession of such material nonpublic information,
participated in any offsetting transaction(s) in respect of such Transaction.

(iii)

Within one Exchange Business Day of purchasing any Shares on behalf of Issuer pursuant to the once-a-week block exception set forth
in paragraph (b)(4) of Rule 10b-18, Dealer shall notify Issuer of the total number of Shares so purchased.

(iv)

On the first Exchange Business Day of each week, Dealer shall provide weekly reports (the “Weekly Reports”) in connection with the
Transaction to the Issuer and to such other persons or agents of the Issuer as the Issuer shall reasonably designate in writing, by electronic
mail to the Issuer or its designee. Each Weekly Report shall include the ADTV (as defined in Rule 10b-18) in the Shares for each
Scheduled Trading Day during the immediately preceding week (as defined and determined in accordance with Rule 10b-18, as defined
herein), the 10b-18 VWAP for each such Scheduled Trading Day and the high and low price on each such Scheduled Trading Day. For
the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the two immediately preceding sentences, the 10b-18 VWAP for
purposes of this Master Confirmation shall be determined pursuant the language opposite the caption “10b-18 VWAP” in Section 1 of
this Confirmation and not on the basis of, or by reference to, the 10b-18 VWAP set forth in any Weekly Report.

12. Acknowledgements of Issuer.
(a) Issuer agrees, understands and acknowledges that:
(i) during the period from (and including) the Trade Date to (and including) the Settlement Date, Dealer and its Affiliates may buy or
sell Shares or other securities or buy or sell options or futures contracts or enter into swaps or other derivative transactions in order to adjust its Hedge
Position with respect to the Transaction;
(ii) Dealer and its Affiliates also may be active in the market for the Shares or options, futures contracts, swaps or other derivative
transactions relating to the Shares other than in connection with hedging activities in relation to the Transaction;
(iii) Dealer shall make its own determination as to whether, when and in what manner any hedging or market activities in Issuer’s
securities or other securities or transactions shall be conducted and shall do so in a manner that it deems appropriate to hedge its price and market risk with
respect to the Transaction; and
(iv) any such market activities of Dealer and its Affiliates may affect the market price and volatility of the Shares, including the 10b-18
VWAP and the Forward Price, each in a manner that may be adverse to Issuer.
(b) Issuer:
(i) is an “institutional account” as defined in FINRA Rule 4512(c);
(ii) is capable of evaluating investment risks independently, both in general and with regard to all transactions and investment strategies
involving a security or securities, and will exercise independent judgment in evaluating the recommendations of Dealer or its associated persons, unless it
has otherwise notified Dealer in writing; and
(iii) will notify Dealer if any of the statements contained in clause (i) or (ii) of this Section 12(b) ceases to be true.
13. Delivery of Cash.
For the avoidance of doubt, other than payment of the Prepayment Amount by Issuer, nothing in this Confirmation shall be interpreted as requiring
Issuer to cash settle the Transaction hereunder, except in circumstances where cash settlement is within Issuer’s control or in those circumstances in which
holders of the Shares would also receive cash.
14. Other Provisions.
(a) Issuer agrees and acknowledges that Dealer is a “financial institution” and “financial participant” within the meaning of Sections 101(22) and
101(22A) of the Bankruptcy Code. The parties hereto further agree and acknowledge that it is the intent of the parties that (A) this Confirmation is a
“securities contract,” as such term is defined in Section 741(7) of the Bankruptcy Code, with respect to which each payment and delivery hereunder or in
connection herewith is a “termination value,” “payment amount” or “other transfer obligation” within the meaning of Section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code
and a “settlement payment,” within the meaning of Section 546 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (B) Dealer is entitled to the protections afforded by, among
other sections, Sections 362(b)(6), 362(b)(17), 362(o), 546(e), 555 and 561 of the Bankruptcy Code.

(b) Dealer and Issuer hereby agree and acknowledge that Dealer has authorized Issuer to disclose the Transaction to any and all persons, and
there are no express or implied agreements, arrangements or understandings to the contrary, and authorizes Issuer to use any information that Issuer
receives or has received with respect to the Transaction in any manner.
(c) In the event Issuer becomes the subject of proceedings (“Bankruptcy Proceedings”) under the Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable
bankruptcy or insolvency statute, any rights or claims of Dealer hereunder in respect of the Transaction shall rank for all purposes no higher than, but on a
parity with, the rights or claims of holders of Shares, and Dealer hereby agrees that its rights and claims hereunder shall be subordinated to those of all
parties with claims or rights against Issuer (other than common stockholders) to the extent necessary to assure such ranking. Without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, after the commencement of Bankruptcy Proceedings, the claims of Dealer hereunder shall for all purposes have rights equivalent to the
rights of a holder of a percentage of the Shares equal to the aggregate amount of such claims (the “Claim Amount”) taken as a percentage of the sum of (i)
the Claim Amount and (ii) the aggregate fair market value of all outstanding Shares on the record date for distributions made to the holders of such Shares
in the related Bankruptcy Proceedings. Notwithstanding any right it might otherwise have to assert a higher priority claim in any such Bankruptcy
Proceedings, Dealer shall be entitled to receive a distribution solely to the extent and only in the form that a holder of such percentage of the Shares would
be entitled to receive in such Bankruptcy Proceedings, and, from and after the commencement of such Bankruptcy Proceedings, Dealer expressly waives (i)
any other rights or distributions to which it might otherwise be entitled in such Bankruptcy Proceedings in respect of its rights and claims hereunder and (ii)
any rights of setoff it might otherwise be entitled to assert in respect of such rights and claims.
(d) Notwithstanding any provision of this Confirmation or any other agreement between the parties to the contrary, neither the obligations of
Issuer nor the obligations of Dealer hereunder are secured by any collateral, security interest, pledge or lien.
(e)
Each party waives any and all rights it may have to set off obligations arising under the Agreement and the Transaction against other
obligations between the parties, whether arising under any other agreement, applicable law or otherwise.
(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Dealer may, by prior notice to Issuer, satisfy its obligation to deliver any Shares or other
securities on any date due (an “Original Delivery Date”) by making separate deliveries of Shares or such securities, as the case may be, at more than one
time on or prior to such Original Delivery Date, so long as the aggregate number of Shares and other securities so delivered on or prior to such Original
Delivery Date is equal to the number required to be delivered on such Original Delivery Date.
(g) It shall constitute an Additional Termination Event with respect to which the Transaction is the sole Affected Transaction and Issuer is the
sole Affected Party and Dealer shall be the party entitled to designate an Early Termination Date pursuant to Section 6(b) of the Agreement if, at any time
on or prior to the Valuation Date, the price per Share on the Exchange, as determined by the Calculation Agent, is at or below the Threshold Price (as
specified in Schedule I).
(h) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Confirmation to the contrary requiring or allowing Dealer to purchase, sell, receive or deliver
any Shares or other securities to or from Issuer, Dealer may designate any of its affiliates (a “Designated Affiliate”) to purchase, sell, receive or deliver
such Shares or other securities and otherwise to perform Dealer’s obligations in respect of the Transaction and any such designee may assume such
obligations. Dealer shall be discharged of its obligations to Issuer to the extent that such Designated Affiliate performs in full all of the obligations of
Dealer designated by Dealer to such Designated Affiliate under this Transaction.

(i)
The parties hereto agree that (i) this Confirmation shall serve as evidence of Dealer’s prior written agreement to permit entry into this
Transaction notwithstanding Section 10(a) of the Existing Agreement, (ii) section 10(a) of the Existing Agreement shall be amended by replacing the
reference to “3%” therein with “5%”, (iii) Section 11(e)(i) shall be amended by replacing the phrase (“optionality arising under the Transaction” with the
phrase “optionality arising under the Transaction or under the transaction pursuant to the letter agreement entered into between Dealer and the Issuer on
May 17, 2021 (the “New Agreement”)”, and (iv) the definition for Buyer Cash Settlement Payment Date shall add the following proviso, “; provided, if
Net Share Settlement is applicable Dealer may postpone the Buyer Cash Settlement Payment Date to a date following the end of the Calculation Period in
the New Agreement to extent advisable in light of any legal, regulatory, or self-regulatory issues and to avoid any interruption in the Calculation Period for
the New Agreement”. For the avoidance of doubt, the consent provided in this Section 14(i)(i) shall not be considered a waiver of any other rights the
Dealer may have under the Existing Agreement.
15. Transfer and Assignment.
Dealer may transfer or assign its rights and obligations hereunder and under the Agreement (“Transfer”), in whole or in part, to any of its
Affiliates that have a credit rating that is not lower than the credit rating of Dealer immediately prior to the proposed time of such Transfer (or whose
obligations are guaranteed by an entity of equivalent credit quality) without the consent of Issuer. Dealer will provide prompt written notice of any such
transfer to Issuer.
16. US Resolution Stay.
(a) Recognition of the U.S. Special Resolution Regimes.
(i) In the event that Dealer becomes subject to a proceeding under (i) the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and the regulations promulgated
thereunder or (ii) Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder (a “U.S. Special
Resolution Regime”) the transfer from Dealer of this Confirmation, and any interest and obligation in or under, and any property securing, this
Confirmation, will be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if this Confirmation, and any
interest and obligation in or under, and any property securing, this Confirmation were governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United
States.
(ii) In the event that Dealer or an Affiliate becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, any Default Rights (as
defined in 12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable (“Default Right”)) under this Confirmation that may be exercised against Dealer are permitted
to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if this Confirmation were
governed by the laws of the United States or a state of the United States.
(b) Limitation on Exercise of Certain Default Rights Related to an Affiliate’s Entry Into Insolvency Proceedings. Notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in this Confirmation, the parties expressly acknowledge and agree that:
(i) Counterparty shall not be permitted to exercise any Default Right with respect to this Confirmation or any Affiliate Credit Enhancement
that is related, directly or indirectly, to an Affiliate of Dealer becoming subject to receivership, insolvency, liquidation, resolution, or similar proceeding (an
“Insolvency Proceeding”), except to the extent that the exercise of such Default Right would be permitted under the provisions of 12 C.F.R. 252.84, 12
C.F.R. 47.5 or 12 C.F.R. 382.4, as applicable; and
(ii) Nothing in this Confirmation shall prohibit the transfer of any Affiliate Credit Enhancement, any interest or obligation in or under such
Affiliate Credit Enhancement, or any property

securing such Affiliate Credit Enhancement, to a transferee upon or following an Affiliate of Dealer becoming subject to an Insolvency Proceeding, unless
the transfer would result in the Counterparty being the beneficiary of such Affiliate Credit Enhancement in violation of any law applicable to the
Counterparty.
(iii) For the purpose of this paragraph:
(A) “Affiliate” is defined in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. § 1841(k).
(B)

“Credit Enhancement” means any credit enhancement or credit support arrangement in support of the obligations of Dealer under or
with respect to this Confirmation, including any guarantee, collateral arrangement (including any pledge, charge, mortgage or
other security interest in collateral or title transfer arrangement), trust or similar arrangement, letter of credit, transfer of margin
or any similar arrangement.

(c) U.S. Protocol. If Counterparty has previously adhered to, or subsequently adheres to, the ISDA 2018 U.S. Resolution Stay Protocol as
published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. as of July 31, 2018 (the “ISDA U.S. Protocol”), the terms of the ISDA U.S.
Protocol shall be incorporated into and form a part of this Confirmation and the terms of the ISDA U.S. Protocol shall supersede and replace the terms of
this section. For purposes of incorporating the ISDA U.S. Protocol, Dealer shall be deemed to be a Regulated Entity, Counterparty shall be deemed to be an
Adhering Party, and this Confirmation shall be deemed to be a Protocol Covered Agreement. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this paragraph shall
have the meanings given to them in the ISDA U.S. Protocol.
(d) Pre-existing In-Scope Agreements. Dealer and Counterparty agree that to the extent there are any outstanding “in-scope QFCs,” as defined
in 12 C.F.R. § 252.82(d), that are not excluded under 12 C.F.R. § 252.88, between Dealer and Counterparty that do not otherwise comply with the
requirements of 12 C.F.R. § 252.2, 252.81–8 (each such agreement, a “Preexisting In-Scope Agreement”), then each such Preexisting In-Scope
Agreement is hereby amended to include the foregoing provisions in this section, with references to “this Confirmation” being understood to be references
to the applicable Preexisting In-Scope Agreement.
17. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver.
THIS CONFIRMATION AND ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY OR DISPUTE ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS
CONFIRMATION SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY
SUBMIT TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK AND THE UNITED STATES COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK IN CONNECTION WITH ALL MATTERS RELATING HERETO AND WAIVE ANY
OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF VENUE IN, AND ANY CLAIM OF INCONVENIENT FORUM WITH RESPECT TO, THESE COURTS.
EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES (ON ITS OWN BEHALF AND, TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY
APPLICABLE LAW, ON BEHALF OF ITS STOCKHOLDERS) ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR
COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THE
TRANSACTION OR THE ACTIONS OF THE OTHER PARTY OR THE OTHER PARTY’S AFFILIATES IN THE NEGOTIATION,
PERFORMANCE OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF.
Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank

Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth the terms of our agreement by executing this Confirmation and returning an original or electronic
copy in accordance with the notice provisions set forth in Section 4.
Confirmed as of the date first written above:
ALIGN TECHNOLOGY, INC
By:

/s/ John Morici
Name:

John Morici

Title: CFO and SVP, Global Finance

GOLDMAN SACHS & CO. LLC
By:

/s/ Ashley Everett
Name: Ashley Everett
Title: Managing Director

ANNEX A
BUYER SETTLEMENT PROVISIONS
1. The following Buyer Settlement Provisions shall apply to the Transaction to the extent indicated under the Confirmation:
Settlement Currency: USD
Settlement Method Election: Applicable; provided that (i) Section 7.1 of the Equity Definitions is hereby amended by deleting the word
“Physical” in the sixth line thereof and replacing it with the words “Net Share” and (ii) the Electing Party
may make a settlement method election only if the Electing Party represents and warrants to Dealer in
writing on the date it notifies Dealer of its election that, as of such date, the Electing Party is not aware of
any material nonpublic information concerning Issuer or the Shares and is electing the settlement method
in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade compliance with the federal securities laws.
Electing Party: Buyer
Settlement Method
Election Date: In respect of any Valuation Date, the earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date and (ii) the third Exchange Business
Day immediately following the Valuation Date designated in an Acceleration (if any) (in which case the
election under Section 7.1 of the Equity Definitions shall be made no later than 10 minutes prior to the
open of trading on the Exchange on such second Exchange Business Day), as the case may be.
Default Settlement Method: Cash Settlement
Forward Cash Settlement
Amount: The Settlement Amount multiplied by the Buyer Settlement Price.
Buyer Settlement Price:

Buyer Settlement

The average of the 10b-18 VWAPs for the Observation Dates that are Trading Days in the Buyer Settlement
Valuation Period, subject to the provisions opposite the caption “Market Disruption Event” in the
Confirmation, plus USD 0.05 (in each case, plus interest on such amount during the Buyer Settlement
Valuation Period at the rate of interest for Issuer’s long term, unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness,
as determined in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner by the Calculation Agent).

Valuation Period:

A number of Scheduled Trading Days selected by Dealer in its commercially reasonable discretion, beginning on the
Scheduled Trading Day immediately following the earlier of (i) the Scheduled Valuation Date or (ii) the
Exchange Business Day immediately following the Valuation Date.

Cash Settlement:

If Cash Settlement is applicable, then Buyer shall pay to Seller the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement
Amount on the Buyer Cash Settlement Payment Date.

Buyer Cash Settlement
Payment Date: The date one Settlement Cycle following the last day of the Buyer Settlement Valuation Period.
Net Share Settlement
Procedures: If Net Share Settlement is applicable, Net Share Settlement shall be made in accordance with paragraphs 2 through 8
below.
2. Net Share Settlement shall be made by delivery on the Buyer Cash Settlement Payment Date of a number of Shares satisfying the
conditions set forth in paragraph 3 below (the “Registered Settlement Shares”), or a number of Shares not satisfying such conditions (the “Unregistered
Settlement Shares”), in either case with a value equal to the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount, with such Shares’ value based on the
value thereof to Dealer (which value shall, in the case of Unregistered Settlement Shares, take into account a commercially reasonable illiquidity discount),
in each case, as determined by the Calculation Agent in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner.
3. Buyer may deliver Registered Settlement Shares pursuant to paragraph 2 above only if:
(a) a registration statement covering public resale of the Registered Settlement Shares by Dealer (the “Registration Statement”) shall
have been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Act and been declared or otherwise become effective on or prior to the
date of delivery, and no stop order shall be in effect with respect to the Registration Statement; and a printed prospectus relating to the Registered
Settlement Shares (including any prospectus supplement thereto, the “Prospectus”) shall have been delivered to Dealer, in such quantities as Dealer shall
reasonably have requested, on or prior to the date of delivery;
(b) the form and content of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus (including, without limitation, any sections describing the
plan of distribution) shall be reasonably satisfactory to Dealer;
(c) as of or prior to the date of delivery, Dealer and its agents shall have been afforded a reasonable opportunity to conduct a due
diligence investigation with respect to Buyer customary in scope for underwritten offerings of equity securities for companies of a similar size and in a
similar industry and the results of such investigation are satisfactory to Dealer, in its discretion; and

25

(d) as of the date of delivery, an agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) shall have been entered into with Dealer in connection
with the public resale of the Registered Settlement Shares by Dealer substantially similar to underwriting agreements customary for underwritten offerings
of equity securities for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry, in form and substance commercially reasonably satisfactory to Dealer, which
Underwriting Agreement shall include, without limitation, provisions substantially similar to those contained in such underwriting agreements relating,
without limitation, to the indemnification of, and contribution in connection with the liability of, Dealer and its affiliates and the provision of customary
opinions, accountants’ comfort letters and lawyers’ negative assurance letters.
4. If Buyer delivers Unregistered Settlement Shares pursuant to paragraph 2 above:
(a) all Unregistered Settlement Shares shall be delivered to Dealer (or any affiliate of Dealer designated by Dealer) pursuant to the
exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Section 4(a)(2) thereof;
(b) as of or prior to the date of delivery, Dealer and any potential purchaser of any such shares from Dealer (or any affiliate of Dealer
designated by Dealer) identified by Dealer shall be afforded a commercially reasonable opportunity to conduct a due diligence investigation with respect to
Buyer customary in scope for private placements of equity securities for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry (including, without limitation,
the right to have made available to them for inspection all financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and other information reasonably
requested by them subject to customary confidentiality agreements);
(c) as of the date of delivery, Buyer shall enter into an agreement (a “Private Placement Agreement”) with Dealer (or any affiliate of
Dealer designated by Dealer) in connection with the private placement of such shares by Buyer to Dealer (or any such affiliate) and the private resale of
such shares by Dealer (or any such affiliate), substantially similar to private placement purchase agreements customary for private placements of equity
securities for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry, in form and substance commercially reasonably satisfactory to Dealer, which Private
Placement Agreement shall include, without limitation, provisions substantially similar to those contained in such private placement purchase agreements
for companies of a similar size and in a similar industry relating, without limitation, to the indemnification of, and contribution in connection with the
liability of, Dealer and its affiliates and the provision of customary opinions, accountants’ comfort letters and lawyers’ negative assurance letters, and shall
provide for the payment by Buyer of all reasonable fees and expenses in connection with such resale, including all reasonable fees and expenses of counsel
for Dealer, and shall contain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of Buyer reasonably necessary or advisable to establish and maintain
the availability of an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act for such resales; and
(d) in connection with the private placement of such shares by Buyer to Dealer (or any such affiliate) and the private resale of such
shares by Dealer (or any such affiliate), Buyer shall, if so requested by Dealer, prepare, in cooperation with Dealer, a private placement memorandum in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Dealer.
5.
Dealer, itself or through an affiliate (the “Selling Agent”) or any underwriter(s), will sell all, or such lesser portion as may be
required hereunder, of the Registered Settlement Shares or Unregistered Settlement Shares and any Makewhole Shares (as defined below) (together, the
“Settlement Shares”) delivered by Buyer to Dealer pursuant to paragraph 6 below commencing on the Buyer Cash
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Settlement Payment Date and continuing until the date on which the aggregate Net Proceeds (as such term is defined below) of such sales, as determined by
Dealer, is equal to the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount (such date, the “Final Resale Date”). If the proceeds of any sale(s) made by
Dealer, the Selling Agent or any underwriter(s), net of any fees and commissions (including, without limitation, underwriting or placement fees) customary
for similar transactions under the circumstances at the time of the offering, together with carrying charges and expenses incurred in connection with the
offer and sale of the Shares (including, but without limitation to, the covering of any over-allotment or short position (syndicate or otherwise)) (the “Net
Proceeds”) exceed the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount, Dealer will refund, in USD, such excess to Buyer on the date that is two (2)
Currency Business Days following the Final Resale Date, and, if any portion of the Settlement Shares remains unsold, Dealer shall return to Buyer on that
date such unsold Shares.
6.

If the Calculation Agent determines that the Net Proceeds received from the sale of the Registered Settlement Shares or Unregistered

Settlement Shares or any Makewhole Shares, if any, pursuant to this paragraph 6 are less than the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount
(the amount in USD by which the Net Proceeds are less than the absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount being the “Shortfall” and the date
on which such determination is made, the “Deficiency Determination Date”), Buyer shall, on the Exchange Business Day next succeeding the Deficiency
Determination Date (the “Makewhole Notice Date”), deliver to Dealer, through the Selling Agent, a notice of Buyer’s election that Buyer shall either (i)
pay an amount in cash equal to the Shortfall on the day that is one (1) Currency Business Day after the Makewhole Notice Date, or (ii) deliver additional
Shares. If Buyer elects to deliver to Dealer additional Shares, then Buyer shall deliver additional Shares in compliance with the terms and conditions of
paragraph 3 or paragraph 4 above, as the case may be (the “Makewhole Shares”), on the first Clearance System Business Day that is also an Exchange
Business Day following the Makewhole Notice Date in such number as the Calculation Agent reasonably believes would have a market value on that
Exchange Business Day equal to the Shortfall. Such Makewhole Shares shall be sold by Dealer in accordance with the provisions above; provided that if
the sum of the Net Proceeds from the sale of the originally delivered Shares and the Net Proceeds from the sale of any Makewhole Shares is less than the
absolute value of the Forward Cash Settlement Amount then Buyer shall, at its election, either make such cash payment or deliver to Dealer further
Makewhole Shares until such Shortfall has been reduced to zero.
7. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the aggregate number of Settlement Shares for the Transaction be greater than the
Share Cap (as specified in Schedule I). Buyer represents and warrants (which shall be deemed to be repeated on each day that the Transaction is
outstanding) that the Share Cap is equal to or less than the number of Shares determined according to the following formula:
A–B
Where A = the number of authorized but unissued shares of Buyer that are not reserved for future issuance on the date hereof; and
B = the maximum number of Shares required to be delivered to third parties if Buyer elected Net Share Settlement of all transactions in
the Shares (other than the Transaction) with all third parties that are then currently outstanding and unexercised.

27

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Joseph M. Hogan, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Align Technology, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2021

/s/ JOSEPH M. HOGAN
Joseph M. Hogan
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, John F. Morici, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Align Technology, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2021

/s/ JOHN F. MORICI
John F. Morici
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Global Finance

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Align Technology, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2021 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ JOSEPH M. HOGAN
Joseph M. Hogan
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 4, 2021

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Align Technology, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2021 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

By:
Name:
Title:
Date: August 4, 2021

/s/ JOHN F. MORICI
John F. Morici
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President, Global Finance

